Roland



OWNER'S MANUAL





The lightning flash with arrowhead symbol, within an equilateral triangle, is intended to alert the user to the presence of uninsulated "dangerous voltage" within the product's enclosure that may be of sufficient magnitude to constitute a risk of electric shock to persons.

The exclamation point within an equilateral triangle is intended to alert the user to the presence of important operating and maintenance (servicing) instructions in the literature accompanying the product.

INSTRUCTIONS PERTAINING TO A RISK OF FIRE, ELECTRIC SHOCK, OR INJURY TO PERSONS.

IMPORTANT SAFETY INSTRUCTIONS

WARNING --- When using electric products, basic precautions should always be followed, including the following:

- 1. Read all the instructions before using the product.
- 2. Do not use this product near water for example, near a bathtub, washbowi, kitchen sink, in a wet basement, or near a swimming pool, or the like.
- 3. This product should be used only with a cart or stand that is recommended by the manufacturer.
- 4. This product, either alone or in combination with an amplifier and headphones or speakers, may be capable of producing sound levels that could cause permanent hearing loss. Do not operate for a long period of time at a high volume level or at a level that is uncomfortable. If you experience any hearing loss or ringing in the ears, you should consult an audiologist.
- 5. The product should be located so that its location or position does not interfere with its proper ventilation.
- 6. The product should be located away from heat sources such as radiators, heat registers, or other products that produce heat.
- 7. Avoid using the product where it may be effected by dust.
- 8. The product should be connected to a power supply only of the type described in the operating instructions or as marked on the product.

. . . .

- 9. The power-supply cord of the product should be unplugged from the outlet when left unused for a long period of time.
- 10. Do not tread on the power-supply cord.
- 11. Do not pull the cord but hold the plug when unplugging.
- 12. When setting up with any other instruments, the procedure should be followed in accordance with instruction manual.
- 13. Care should be taken so that objects do not fall and liquids are not spilled into the enclosure through openings.
- 14. The product should be serviced by qualified service personnel when:
 - A. The power-supply cord or the plug has been damaged; or
 - B. Objects have fallen, or liquid has been spilled into the product; or The product has been exposed to rain; or

 - D. The product does not appear to operate normally or exhibits a marked change in performance; or
 - E. The product has been dropped, or the enclosure damaged.
- 15. Do not attempt to service the product beyond that described in the user-maintenance instructions. All other servicing should be referred to qualified service personnel.

SAVE THESE INSTRUCTIONS

WARNING: THIS APPARATUS MUST BE EARTHED

IMPORTANT: THE WIRES IN THIS MAINS LEAD ARE COLOURED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FOLLOWING CODE. GREEN-AND-YELLOW: EARTH, BLUE: NEUTRAL, BROWN: LIVE

As the colours of the wires in the mains lead of this apparatus may not correspond with the coloured markings identifying the terminals in your plug proceed as follows:

The wire which is coloured GREEN-AND-YELLOW must be connected to the terminal in the plug which is marked by the letter E or by the safety earth symbol (2) or coloured GREEN or GREEN-AND-YELLOW. The wire which is coloured BLUE must be connected to the terminal which is marked with the letter N or coloured BLACK.

The wire which is coloured BROWN must be connected to the terminal which is marked with the letter L or coloured RED.

The product which is equipped with a THREE WIRE GROUNDING TYPE AC PLUG must be grounded.

For the U.K. -

SUPER LA SYNTHESIZER D-70 Owner's Manual

INTRODUCTION

Thank you for purchasing the Roland D-70 Super LA Synthesizer. To take full advantage of the D-70's functions and enjoy long and trouble-free use, please read this owner's manual carefully.

Copyright © 1990 by ROLAND CORPORATION All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any from without the permission of ROLAND CORPORATION.

HOW TO USE THIS MANUAL

The modes of the D-70

The functions of the D - 70 are organized into four modes; PLAY, EDIT, PCM CARD, and ROM PLAY.

Play mode You will normally play the D - 70 in this mode. Data can be adjusted even while playing.

• Edit mode This mode allows you to edit and transfer data.

• PCM Card mode This mode allows you to check the sounds of a PCM Card (sold separately).

*PCM Card mode can be selected while in Play mode.

ROM Play mode This mode allows you to hear the demo song built into the D - 70.

How to select a mode

To select a mode, press a button on the front panel.



The indicator of the selected button will light.

* Do not switch the unit off when the ROM Play mode is being selected.



off at the perforated



How to read this manual

This manual is organized according to the modes of the D - 70, as follows. Read each chapter when necessary.

Chapter	1	Getting stat	rted
			This chapter explains how to get the D-70 ready to play, select Performances, connect the D-70
			with external devices, and try out the sounds.
Chapter	2	Play	This chapter explains basic knowledge you will need to use Play mode; how the D - 70 is organized,
			how to perform various operations, and the meaning of the display screens in Play mode.
Chapter	3	Edit	This chapter explains how to edit, how a Tone is organized, how memory is organized, editing
			procedures, and the meaning of the display screens in Edit mode. PCM Card mode is also covered in
			this chapter.
Chapter	4	Write / Com	mand
			This chapter explains how to save (Write) edited data, and other functions (Commands) useful for
	•		managing data.
Chapter	5	Appendix	This contains error messages, troubleshooting, a list of parameters, and other information.

Conventions used in this manual

D - 70 panel buttons you must press will be indicated in this manual as follows.

(Example) PLAY button → PLAY cursor buttons → ▲ / ▼ / ●

When you are required to hold one button and press another button, this will be indicated as follows.

(Example) while holding <u>TONE ZONE SELECT</u> press <u>TONE</u> → <u>TONE ZONE SELECT</u> + TONE

Controllers other than buttons are indicated as

(Example) value dial →

• About the display Various display screens are printed and referred to in this manual, but the displayed data (sound names, etc.) does not necessarily correspond to the factory set data.

CONTENTS

و MAIN FEATURES	
MPORTANT NOTES10	
FRONT AND REAR PANEL11	

Chapter 1 Getting started

PREPARATIONS BEFORE PLAYING ····14 1. Connections ······14 2. Turn the Power On ·····15
2 ROM PLAY16
③ PLAY THE D - 70 17 1. To Select a Performance 17 ■ Selecting a Performance from the User Set display 17
Selecting a Performance from the Performance List
2. Try Out the Playing Functions
Aftertouch ······20
Bender/Modulation Lever
4. Adjust the Tone ······22

Chapter 2 Play

1 GENERAL OVERVIEW
1. How the D - 70 is organized
2. Patches
How a Tone Palette is organized
Output Assign ······26
Patch parameters ······27
Key Mode ····································
-
Velocity Mode and Threshold Sensitivity ······27 Kay Applement 2010 Sensitivity ·····27
Key Assign and Solo Legato ·····28 Determined
Portamento ······28
3. Performance
How a MIDI Palette is organized
Performance parameters ······30
● Key Mode ······30
Velocity Mode and Threshold Sensitivity ······30
4. Key Mode and Zone ·····31
Each Part has a Zone ······31
Key Mode and Zone ·····32
5. Controllers ······33
Types of controller ······33
The Controller Map ······34
Internal Controller settings
Controller settings for MIDI OUT ···································
6. Signal Flow ······35
Keyboard data flow ·····35
MIDI data flow ······35
7. RAM Card Data ······36

2 BASIC OPERATION (PLAY MODE)37
1. How to View the Screen ······
The function buttons
2. How to Select Displays ······38
3. How to Modify Settings
Basic procedure to modify settings
To use the Tone Palette Sliders
● To edit Tone Palette parameters ······40
To edit MID! Palette parameters ······41
• To edit the Effect parameters ······42
To use TONE/ZONE SELECT
• To mute a Tone ·····43
To select a Tone ······43
Zone settings for a Tone43
Output Assign settings ······43
To mute a MIDI Channel
To output a Program Change message ······44
Zone settings for a MIDI Channel ······44
To select a Performance, Patch, or Tone44
● To select a Performance ······44
To select a Patch ······45
To select a Tone ······45
📕 To transmit a Program Change message ······46
How to use SOLO and PORTAMENTO47
4. RAM Card48
How to insert a RAM Card ······
The RAM Card protect switch ·······48
5. Using MIDI to Select Performances or Patches ·····49
To select Performances ······49
To select Patches
About Program Change Numbers ······50
6. The Panic Function ·····51
Transmitted data ······51

3FUNCTIONS OF EACH DISPLAY

(PLAY MODE)52
1. User Set52
To select a User Set Group ······52
To select a Performance ·····52
2. Tone Display ·····53
To set Key Assign ·····53
To set Output Assign ······53
To set Patch Level ······53
To set Key Mode ······54
To set the Split Point ·····54
To use the Tone Palette Silders to edit
3. L/U PRM56
To specify how sounds will be produced ·······56
To set the Key Mode ······57
To set the Split Point ······57

Chapter 1
Chapter 2
Chapter 3
Chapter 4
Chapter 5

4. Tone Display R ·····58
To check the settings of the Rhythm Setup ······58
To set the level of the Rhythm Part
5. Reverb
To make Reverb settings using
the Tone Palette Sliders ······
To make Output Assign settings
6. Chorus
To make Chorus settings using
the Tone Palette Sliders61
To make Chorus settings using the cursor ······62
To make Output Assign settings
7. Controller Map64
To set the Controller Map64
To select a Controller ·····64
To specify the functions of a Controller ······64
To specify the keyboard range to which
the effect will apply65
8. Part PRM 1/2
Part settings
To select the KB PART
9. MIDI OUT68
To set MIDI Channels
To set Velocity Mode/Threshold Sensitivity ······68
To check Program Change Numbers
To set the Key Mode
To set the Split Point ······69
To edit using the Tone Palette Sliders
10. MIDI CTRL Map71
To set the Controller Map
To select a Controller ······71
To specify the functions of a Controller ······71
To specify the keyboard range to which
the effect will apply72

Chapter 3 Edit

OVERVIEW OF EDITING
1. Tones
Maximum simultaneous notes ······
Keyboard range ······75
2. PCM and DLM
■ If the WG is set to PCM ······76
If the WG is set to DLM ······
3. How Memory is organized78
About data in the Temporary area ······80
When you Edit or Write ······80
When you change Modes or execute
the Panic function ·····81
When you execute a command ·····81
4. Rhythm Setup82

2 BASIC PROCEDURES (EDIT MODE)83
1. How to View the Display
About the Function buttons83
2. How to Select Displays ·····84
Use the Menu to select a display
Use the Direct Jump function to select a display ···85
Direct Jump85
How to set a Jump Destination
To return to the previous higher level press EXIT .86
To return to the Edit menu press EDIT
3. How to Modify Settings ····· 87
Basic procedure to modify settings
How to enter characters ·····87
Edit using the Tone Palette Sliders
● To assign a slider · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
To cancel a slider assignment ······88
Using TONE/ZONE SELECT
• To mute a Tone
To select a Tone
To change Sections · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · 89
To change Key Numbers · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
How to select Performances, Patches, and Tones90
To select Performances ····································
To select Patches
• To select Tones ······91
How to use SOLO and PORTAMENTO92
4. PCM Cards93
How to insert a PCM Card ······93
5. Selecting an Original Tone ······94
6. Points to Remember While Editing95
Editing a Part ······95
Editing a Tone ·····95
Using Write or Command

3FUNCTIONS OF EACH DISPLAY

(EDIT MODE) ·····	• • 96
Performance Edit ·····	• •96
1. KB PRM ·····	• • 96
2. Part Setting ·····	• •98
3. Int CTRL Map ·····	• •99
4. MIDI CTRL Map ·····	101
5. MIDI OUT ·····	102
6. MIDI Palette ·····	104
7. Effector ·····	105
Patch Edit ·····	107
8. Patch Common ·····	107
9. Patch L/U PRM ·····	108
10. Palette L-1 ·····	111
Tone Edit ·····	114
14. Tone PRM ·····	
15. Tone Pitch ·····	115

16. Tone TVF	118
17. Tone TVA	124
18. Tone LFO	127
Rhythm Setup ·····	129
19. Rhythm PRM······	129
20. Rhythm Pitch	132
21. Rhythm TVF ·····	133
22. Rhythm TVA ·····	134
23. Rhythm Common ·····	136
System Setup	137
24. System Setup	137
25. D.Xfer ↔ C · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	139
26. D.Xfer I → M ·····	141
27. D.Xfer C → M ·····	143
28. D.Xfer T ➡ M · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	144
29. Tx CH Name	146

4 PCM CARD MODE	147
To select an Original Tone	147

Chapter 4 Wite/Command

WRITE 150
1. Different Types of Write Operation 150
2. Caution When Writing Data 151
3. Procedures 152
E Select the Write display ····· 152
Select the Write destination ····· 152
When writing a Performance or Patch ······ 152
When writing a Tone · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Execute the Write operation •••••••• 153
4. How to Assign a Performance to a User Set · · · · · · 154
Specify the Performance to assign ······ 154
Select the Write display ····· 155
Select the writing destination · · · · · · · · · · · 155
Execute the Write operation 155
2 COMMAND
1. Types of Command ······ 156
1. Types of Command 156 2. Command Functions 157
1. Types of Command 156 2. Command Functions 157 • Copy 157
1. Types of Command 156 2. Command Functions 157 • Copy 157 • Initialize 157
1. Types of Command 156 2. Command Functions 157 • Copy 157 • Initialize 157 • Exchange 157
1. Types of Command 156 2. Command Functions 157 • Copy 157 • Initialize 157 • Exchange 157 Ispecial Commands 157
1. Types of Command 156 2. Command Functions 157 • Copy 157 • Initialize 157 • Exchange 157 • Special Commands 157 • CH Setting 157
1. Types of Command 156 2. Command Functions 157 • Copy 157 • Initialize 157 • Exchange 157 • Exchange 157 • Ch Setting 157 • Orig. Tone PRM 158
1. Types of Command 156 2. Command Functions 157 Copy 157 Initialize 157 Exchange 157 Exchange 157 Special Commands 157 CH Setting 157 Orig. Tone PRM 158 Store All 158
1. Types of Command 156 2. Command Functions 157 • Copy 157 • Initialize 157 • Exchange 157 • Exchange 157 • CH Setting 157 • Orig. Tone PRM 158 • Store All 158 • Name Delete 158
1. Types of Command 156 2. Command Functions 157 • Copy 157 • Initialize 157 • Exchange 157 • Exchange 157 • CH Setting 157 • Orig. Tone PRM 158 • Store All 158 • Name Delete 158
1. Types of Command 156 2. Command Functions 157 Copy 157 Initialize 157 Exchange 157 Special Commands 157 CH Setting 157 Orig. Tone PRM 158 Store All 158 Name Delete 158 3. Notes When Executing a Command 159

To modify the CH Setting ·····	162
To execute Orig. Tone PRM ·····	163
To execute Store Ali	164
To execute Name Delete ·····	166

Chapter 5 Appendix

1 ERROR MESSAGES	
2 TROUBLESHOOTING	
3 PARAMETER LIST	
5 ORIGINAL TONE	
6 DLM	
7 FACTORY PRESET	
BABOUT MIDI	195
Roland Exclusive Messages	
MIDI Implementation ·····	202
MIDI Implementation Chart ·····	211
SPECIFICATIONS	213
INDEX	215

MAIN FEATURES

The D-70 is a multi-timbral synthesizer using an Advanced LA Synthesis sound source which contains a large number of high-quality sounds and a TVF to modify these sounds. It also acts as a full-function MIDI keyboard controller, and is the perfect choice for use on stage or in the studio.

High - quality PCM Wave and DLM

The D - 70 contains PCM waves (fragments of sound) such as white noise, sawtooth wave, and short PCM loops. These can be be processed by the TVF to create a wide variety of sounds. In addition to these, a wide range of high quality PCM Waves are provided, ranging from realistic acoustic sounds to synthesizer sounds. These PCM Waves can also be processed by the TVF to create your own original sounds. In addition, DLM (Differential Loop Modulation) takes a section of this PCM Wave, and adds loop modulation to it, creating inharmonic partials which were not present in the original PCM Wave. This can be further processed through the TVF to create completely new sounds. In addition to the internal PCM Waves, separately sold PCM Cards (SN - SPLA series, SN - U110 series) can also be used, for even greater sound-creating possibilities.

Sound creation using PCM + TVF

The D - 70 is the first of the D-series to offer sound creation using PCM+TVF. The newly developed TVF (Time Variant Filter) provides three modes (low pass, high pass and band pass) and Resonance as well. This allows you to go beyond simple PCM Wave playback, and to create new and expressive sounds.

Digital effect unit

The D - 70 has a built-in reverb/chorus digital effects unit, creating a spacious stereo depth.

Performance keyboard

The D-70 is designed to be an especially powerful live performance instrument. For example, a function can be assigned to the four Tone Palette sliders, allowing you to operate the sliders to modify the sound in realtime while playing.

Easy to use

The big display provides you with a large amount of information at a glance. In addition, frequently used displays have their own dedicated button, allowing you to recall the display instantly. Also, the Direct Jump function lets you move quickly to a desired editing display.

Three key modes

The D - 70 has three Key modes; Layer, Split, and Zone. You can use the mode most suitable for your musical needs, and switch between Key modes at the press of a button.

User set

Any desired Performance (sound) can be assigned to one of the five function buttons (User Set). Ten groups of User Sets are provided, so a total of 50 Performances can be selected using the function buttons.

Flexible controllers

Each controller can be assigned two different functions, allowing a single controller operation to have two different effects.

• 76 - note keyboard

The velocity- and aftertouch-sensitivity keyboard of the D - 70 allows playing dynamics or key pressure to control the tone or volume. The 76-note keyboard allows you to take full advantage of the various Key modes.

Multi - timbral operation

The multi-timbral sound source of the D - 70 can simultaneously produce five parts and a rhythm part. When used in conjunction with a MIDI sequencer, a single D - 70 can produce the sound for an entire ensemble.

Panic function

The Panic function allows instant recovery from "stuck" or "hanging" notes on external sound sources or the D - 70 itself.

Memory Card

A separately sold RAM Card (M - 256E) can store all settings of the D - 70. While playing, you can instantly recall Performances etc. from a RAM Card.

IMPORTANT NOTES

In addition to the items listed under Safety Precautions on page 2, please read and adhere to the following:

Power Supply

- •When making any connections with other devices, always turn off the power to all equipment first; this will help prevent damage or malfunction.
- Do not use this unit on the same power circuit with any device that will generate line noise, such as a motor or variable lighting system.

Placement

- •This unit may interfere with radio and television reception. Do not use this unit in the vicinity of such receivers.
- Do not expose this unit to temperature extremes (eg. direct sunlight in an enclosed vehicle can deform or discolor the unit) or install it near devices that radiate heat.

Maintenance

- •For everyday cleaning wipe the unit with a soft, dry cloth (or one that has been slightly dampened with water). To remove stubborn dirt, use a mild neutral detergent. Afterwards, be sure to wipe the unit thoroughly with a soft, dry cloth.
- Never use benzine, thinners, alcohol or solvents of any kind, to avoid the risk of discoloration and/or deformation.

Additional Precautions

- Protect the unit from strong impact.
- Never strike or apply strong pressure to the display.
- A small amount of heat will radiate from the unit, and thus should be considered normal.
- Before using the unit in a foreign country, consult with qualified service personnel.

Memory Backup

•The unit contains a battery which maintains the contents of memory while the main power is off. The expected life of this battery is 5 years or more. However, to avoid the unexpected loss of memory data, it is strongly recommended that you change the battery every 5 years.

Please be aware that the actual life of the battery will depend on the physical environment (especially temperature) in which the unit is used. When it is time to change the battery, consult with qualified service personnel.

- •When the battery becomes weak the following message will appear in the display in turning the power on: Internal Battery Low! (EXIT). However, by that time the contents of memory may have already been lost.
- •Please be aware that the contents of memory may at times be lost; when the unit is sent for repairs or when by some chance a malfunction has occurred. Important data should be stored on a RAM Card, or written down on paper. During repairs, due care is taken to avoid the loss of data. However, in certain cases, (such as when circuitry related to memory itself is out of order) we regret that it may be impossible to restore the data.

FRONT AND REAR PANEL

[FRONT PANEL]







1 PREPARATIONS BEFORE PLAYING

1. Connections

The D-70 does not contain an amplifier/speaker system. You can either use headphones, or an external amplifier/speaker system.

Before you make connections, make sure that the power switches of the D - 70 and the amplifier are turned off. Making connections with the power turned on may damage the speakers.

By removing the plug adapter from the included cable, it can be connected directly to a stereo set.

In order to take full advantage of the D - 70, we recommend that you listen to it in stereo, but if you are listening in mono, connect the L (MONO) jack.

*With the factory settings, no sound will appear at the DIRECT OUT jacks.

* When connecting the D - 70 directly to a home audio system, be careful of the output level. High volumes may damage your speakers.



2. Turn the Power On

Before you turn the power on, check the following points.

Are the connections made correctly?

Are the volume controls of the amplifier turned down?

[Procedure]

1 Turn on the D - 70 power switch.

The following display will appear.

Ι	2	1	1	H١	⁄y		G	u	i	t	a	r			ן ב	*] 1]
	189 *]	Set		I- C	1 1	2 2	33	4 4	5 5	6 6	7 7	8 8	9 9	10 10	
			Ca	əril	lior	נו			Ξ.Ι	⊃i≀	3170	51				
E	1. Pul	Ŀ	auit:	ar:	G	jį	an:	3]		E	ndo	Jar	Jit.	ar

2 Turn on the amplifier and other external devices.

Play the keyboard and you will hear sound.

* The D - 70's protection circuit will insert a short wait after the power is turned on until operation begins.

* When turning the power off, first turn the amplifier off, and then turn the D - 70 off.

3 Use the master volume to adjust the volume.

* The master volume will not affect the volume of DIRECT OUT (L/R).

Any data preprogrammed from the manufacturer will be erased if the WRITE (see page 150) or STORE ALL (see page 158) is done. If you wish to retain the preprogrammed data, save it onto an optional RAM Card (M - 256E) using "RAM Card Formatting" function explained on page 140 before editing or executing WRITE/STORE ALL.

* Editing Rhythm Setup/System Setup changes its data directly.

2 ROM PLAY

The D-70 contains demo song that demonstrate its multi-timbral capabilities. **ROM play mode** automatically plays this song. When using the ROM play function, we suggest that you connect a stereo amplifier or listen through headphones in order to get the full benefit of the D-70's multi-timbral capabilities.

[Procedure]



Note: If you switch the unit off when the ROM Play screen is being selected, the Rhythm Setup data will be erased.

To avoid this, return to the Play mode first with the PLAY, then switch the unit off.

Song Title	Biographies of Composers
Schizoid	Eric Persing Eric Persing is one of the most in - demand session players and programmers in the Los Angeles area.
Music by Eric Persing	Eric began working for Roland as a product specialist, first doing clinics and support, then gradually became more involved in product and sound design. Eric has worked with such artists as Michael
Copyright © 1990, Eric Persing Music	Jackson, Deniece Williams, Lionel Richie, Larry Carlton, and REO Speedwagon. His music and sounds can also be heard on many TV shows and commercials. Actively involved in film music, he has worked with top composers including Michel Columbier, Danny Elfman, and Bill Conti.

③To return to Play mode, press PLAY while song is not being played.

- * It is often convenient to check connections and volume while using ROM play. Use the VOLUME slider to adjust the volume.
- * The keyboard and Bender will not function during ROM play.
- * The notes and other musical data being ROM played will not be transmitted from MIDI OUT.

To use the D - 70 to play songs as in ROM play, you will need separate MIDI sequencer.

3 PLAY THE D-70

When the D-70 is shipped, it contains 64 sounds (Performances). This section will explain how to play the preset sounds, select Performances, adjust the tuning, etc.

First, select the display that appeared immediately after the power was turned on. If a different display is shown, press PLAY.

Ι	1 2	1	1	Η	٧Ŀ	J	G	u	i	t	a	r			۲ ۲ ۲	K] 1]
C ;	30 *		Set		I I- C-	- 1	22	<u>उ</u>	4 4	55	б 6	77	8 8	9	10 10	
			C	ari	11i0	าก		[]	Ξ.,	⊇i∤	and	51				
H	ų.A	Ģ	Wit.	ar	[aj	an	9]		E	ndo	ງອເ	<i>iit</i> a	37

Play the keyboard. The first line of the display shows the sound (Performance) you are playing.

1. To Select a Performance

Now try selecting another Performance. There are two ways to select a Performance; you can assign (User Set) a desired Performance to a function key and then select it, or you can use the Performance List display.

Selecting a Performance from the User Set display

The User Set display (Play mode) will appear when the power is turned on.

The D - 70 allows you to assign any desired Performance to each function button. A Performance can be assigned to each function button $\boxed{F1}$ — $\boxed{F5}$, and this can be stored as a Group. Internal memory can store 10 Groups, for a total of 50 Performances. In addition, a separately sold RAM Card (M - 256E) can also store 10 Groups (= P.36).

*Page 154 explains how to assign a Performance to a function button.



In the display, the selected Performance will be displayed in inverse display, and will also be displayed in large characters in the first line.

- *To select a group in the internal memory, use BANK buttons (1-8), and to change groups on a RAM card, use NUMBER buttons (1 8). Group 9 or 10 cannot be selected.
- *When the power is turned on, the Performance assigned to F1 of internal Group 1 will be selected.
- *If a RAM Card is not inserted into the slot, RAM Card Groups or Performances cannot be selected.
- *When you select a Performance from the RAM card, the indicator of INT/CARD will be lit.

Selecting a Performance from the Performance List

The Performance List display will appear when you press PERFORMANCE .

Internal memory contains 64 Performances, organized into 8 banks of 8 numbers.

A separately sold RAM Card can also contain 64 Performances (\$\$\mathcal{\$\mathcal{\$P\$}\$}\$ P.36).





The display will show the selected Performance in inverse display.

* Press INT/CARD to select the Internal (I) or RAM card (C) Performance List.

- *If a RAM card is not connected to the slot, the D-70 will not show the RAM card Performance List screen.
- *When you select a Performance on a RAM card, the indicator of INT/CARD will be lit.

To return to the Play display after selecting a Performance, press PLAY or EXIT

2. Try Out the Playing Functions

Play the D - 70 to try out the following playing functions.

Velocity

Volume or tone will change according to your playing dynamics (velocity). The effect of playing dynamics will depend on the settings of each Performance and Patch. (\simeq P.27, 30)



Aftertouch

After playing a note, you can press down more strongly to modify pitch, tone, volume, or vibrato. This is called "Aftertouch". Settings for each Performance will determine the effect of aftertouch. Refer to "Controllers" in chapter 2 ($rac{-}P.33$).



Bender / Modulation Lever

While playing a note, you can move the Bender/Modulation Lever to the left to lower the pitch, or to the right to raise the pitch. This will change the pitch smoothly, and can be used to express the fine nuances of pitch change that characterize many instruments. This also allows you to simultaneously control the tone, volume, vibrato, etc. of a sound. The result of moving the Bender/Modulation Lever to left or right will depend on the settings of each Performance. Refer to "Controllers" in chapter 2 (r = P.33).

While playing a note, you can push the Bender/Modulation Lever forward to simultaneously control pitch, tone, volume, vibrato, etc. The result of pushing the Bender/Modulation Lever forward will depend on the settings of each Performance. Refer to "Controllers" in chapter 2 ($rac{r}$ P.33).

*You can push the Bender/Modulation Lever forward while moving it to left or right. This offers many expressive possibilities such as changing the pitch while adding another effect.



3. Master Tune

This adjusts the overall tuning of the D - 70 over a range of -64 - 0 - +63. A setting of 64 results in a pitch change of a half step (100 cents). (At a setting of 0, the A4 key will have a pitch of 440.0Hz.)

M Tusa	07440			oct put o
ns iune Controi	1 CHARAR		ldPedal•S dal SW••C	ost Mae
Exclus	ive Rx	On MI	DI Link.	On
Unit	Number	+ 1 Loc	cal 5W **	•••• On

[Procedure]



(Press PLAY) to return to the Play display.

4. Adjust the Tone

Use the Brightness slider to change the tone.



* The tone will be normal when the Brightness slider is at center position.

Tone Palette Sliders

The tone can also be edited using four Tone Palette sliders. For detailed explanation, see page 39.



1 GENERAL OVERVIEW

This section will give a general overview of the D - 70. Please read it before using Play mode.

1. How the D-70 is organized



● ione	A "Tone" is the basic unit from which a Patch is made. The 128 tones in internal memory are organized into Group (a/b), Bank $(1 - 8)$, and Number $(1 - 8)$.
Tone Palette	A "Tone Palette" is an assignment of four Tones with parameters to determine how each Tone will sound. The Tone Palette is contained inside of a "Patch".
Patch	A "Patch" is the unit of sound which you will play. It consists of a Tone Palette and parameters which determine how the Tone Palette will sound. Internal memory contains 128 Patches, organized into Group (A/B), Bank $(1 - 8)$, and Number $(1 - 8)$.
Rhythm Setup	A "Rhythm Setup" is a combination of rhythm sounds and parameters which determine how each drum will sound. A sound can be freely specified for each key (note number).
Part	The D-70 has five Synthe Parts $(1 - 5)$ and a Rhythm Part. Each Part can be used as an independent sound module. A Patch can be assigned to each Synthe Part $1 - 5$, and a Rhythm Setup can be assigned to the Rhythm Part. Parts are contained inside of a "Performance".
MIDI Palette	A "MIDI Palette" consists of four MIDI channel assignments to play external MIDI sound sources, and parameters which determine how each MIDI channel will be played. The MIDI Palette is contained inside the MIDI OUT settings of a Performance.

Performance	A Performance consists of settings which determine how the D - 70 will perform. These settings assign a Patch to each Part, determine how the Parts will sound, determine how the effect unit (chorus,/reverb) will be used, and how the MIDI Palette of the MIDI OUT will play external MIDI devices. The internal memory of the D - 70 holds 64 Performances, organized into Banks $(1 - 8)$ and Numbers $1 - 8$.
System Setup	This memory contains parameters such as Master Tune, which affect the entire D - 70.
● User Set	A "User Set" consists of settings which assign any desired one of the 128 Performances (Internal/ RAM Card) to a function key. Assignments for five Performances are stored as a Group, and internal memory can store 10 Groups of User Sets.

Maximum simultaneous notes

The D - 70 can produce up to 30 voices at once. (Notes in their release stage are included in the number of simultaneously playable notes.) If more than 30 voices are requested, the Priority settings will determine which voices will sound ($rac{p}{P.67}$).

2. Patches

This section explains how a Tone Palette is organized, and the parameters (Patch parameters) which determine how the Tone Palette will function.

How a Tone Palette is organized

A Tone Palette is organized as follows.

Lower		Upper	
Топе	L-1	Tone	U-3
Lovel Key Shift Fins Tune Cutoff Resonance Attack Time	●Release Yime ●Output Assign ●Pan ●Tone ●Zone	Lovel Key Shift Fine Tune Cutoff Resonance Attack Time	● Release Time ● Output Assign ● Pan ● Tone ● Zone
Tone	L-2	Tone	U-4
Level Key Shift Fina Tune Cutoff Resonance Attack Time	●Release Time ●Output Assign ●Pan ●Tone ●Zone	Lavel Key Shift Fine Tune Cutoff Resonance Attack Time	●Release Time ●Output Assign ●Pan ●Tone ●Zone

A Tone Palette is internally divided into four Sections.

L - 1: 1st Lower Tone

L - 2: 2nd Lower Tone

U - 3: 1st Upper Tone

U-4: 2nd Upper Tone

Each Section is assigned a Tone, and parameter settings for Level, Pan, etc. determine how the tone will sound (rarge P.53, 111).

• Output Assign This determines how the Tone of each Section will be output. Four types of output can be selected; Reverb, Chorus, Dry, and Direct (\$\varphi\$P.53, 60, 63).



26

Patch parameters

The following parameters determine how each Section of the Tone Palette will function when played.

Key Mode

This determines how the Tone of each Section is assigned to the keyboard. Three types of Key Mode are provided; Layer, Split, and Zone (rr P.54, 57).

Layer: Tones of all Sections will sound across the antire keyboard range. * The keyboard range is C-1-G9 (note numbers 0-127).



Split : The keyboard range will be split into Lower and Upper at the specified Split Point, and Tones will be assigned to each Section of Lower and Upper.



ZONE: The keyboard range will be divided according to the Zone specified for each Section, with a Tone assigned to each Section.



• Velocity Mode and Threshold Sensitivity

These settings determine how velocity (playing dynamics) will switch between the 1st Tone and the 2nd Tone for each section, (Lower and Upper). Three types of Velocity Mode are provided; Normal, Switch, and Mix. The point at which the 1st Tone and the 2nd Tone are switched is determined by the Threshold Sensitivity ($rac{P}$.56).



• Key Assign and Solo Legato

You can set Lower/Upper sections to Poly (chords) or Solo (single notes). When Solo is selected, you have the option of specifying Solo Legato ($rac{r}$ P.53, 56).

- Solo Legato: When you press another key before releasing the first, the new envelope will not attack, creating a seamless transition to the new note.
- * The PCM Wave will be read from the beginning.
- * Depending on the TVF and TVA settings (P.118, 124), the result may not sound legato.
- Normal (Solo): Regardless of how you play, each note will start its envelope from the beginning, so that each note will have the specified pattern of change in Volume and Tone over time.



*If two or more keys are pressed simultaneously while Solo is selected, the last-pressed key will sound (last note priority).

Portamento

When the Key Assign is Solo, you can use Portamento on Lower/Upper sections. When Portamento is used (turned On), the pitch will smoothly change from one note to the next. Two types of Portamento are provided; Auto and Normal.

Auto: Portamento will be applied if you press a key while holding the previous key. If you completely release the previous key before pressing the next key, Portamento will not be applied. This allows you to selectively use Portamento according to your keyboard playing.

Normal: Portamento will be applied regardless of how you play.

The Portamento Mode setting determines whether Auto or Normal Portamento is used. The speed of the Portamento effect is determined by the Portamento Time parameter (\simeq P.57).

* Portamento can be used only when Key Assign is set to Solo.

3. Performance

.

The general concept of a Performance has been explained on page 24. Here we will explain about the MIDI Palette, and the parameters (Performance parameters) which determine how the MIDI Palette will function.

How a MIDI Palette is organized

A MIDI Palette is organized as follows.

Lower	Upper
MID: Channel L-1	MIDI Channel U-3
MID: Volume	MIDI Volume
Program Change Number	Program Change Number
Transpose	Transpose
Zone	Zone
MIDI	MIDI
MIDI Channel L-2	MIDI Channei U-4
MIDI Volume L-2	MIDI Volume U-4
Program Change Number	Program Change Number
Transpose	Transpose
Zone	Zone
MIDI	MIDI

A MIDI Palette is internally divided into four Sections.

- L 1: 1st Lower Channel
- L 2: 2nd Lower Channel
- U-3: 1st Upper Channel
- U 4: 2nd Upper Channel

Each Section is assigned its own MIDI Channel, and parameter settings for Program Change Number, MIDI Volume, etc., to determine how external MIDI sound sources will be played. Each Section will transmit MIDI messages to external MIDI sound sources on its own MIDI Channel (rar P.68).

Performance parameters

The following MIDI OUT parameters determine how each Section of the MIDI Palette will function when you play the D - 70.

Key Mode

This determines how the MIDI Channel of each Section will be assigned to the keyboard. Three types of Key Mode are provided; Layer, Split, and Zone (\$\$\mathcal{\$\$\$\$ P.69).

Layer : MIDI Channel of all Sections will sound across the entire keyboard range. * The keyboard range is C=1-G9 (note numbers D=127).



Split : The keyboard range will be split into Lower and Upper at the specified Split Point, and MIDI Channels will be assigned to each Section of Lower and Upper.
Lower is C-1-Split Point (note number 0-Split Point)
Upper is next key of Split Point-G9 (next note number of Split Point-note number 127)



ZO(19: The keyboard range will be divided according to the Zone specified for each Section, with a MIDI Channel assigned to each Section.



Velocity Mode and Threshold Sensitivity

These settings determine how velocity (playing dynamics) will switch between the 1st Channel and the 2nd Channel for each section (Lower and Upper). Three types of Velocity Mode are provided; Normal, Switch, and Mix. The point at which the 1st Channel and the 2nd Channel are switched is determined by the Threshold Sensitivity (\$\$\approx P.68\$).





4. Key Mode and Zone

This section explains the function of Key Mode and Zone.

Each Part has a Zone

Each Synthe Part (1 - 5) to which a Patch is assigned can be given a Zone, which is independent of the Key Mode of the Patch ($rac{r}$ P.66). In this case, the Zone of the Part and the Key Mode of the Patch will be related as follows.



The keyboard area in which the specified Key Mode overlaps with the Zone of the Part will sound, and the keyboard area over which they do not overlap will not sound. By setting the Zone of a Part, you can mute an area for which you do not want sound to be produced.

The Rhythm Part also has a Zone setting, and will sound only within its specified Zone. Also, a Rhythm Setup has a Rhythm Shift (rar P.136) parameter which can be used together with the Zone to mute an area in which you do not want sound.

Key Mode and Zone

The area in which the keyboard will play the sounds of the D - 70 (internal) is determined by the combination of two settings; the Key Mode of the Patch and the Zone of the Part. At the same time, note messages will be transmitted from MIDI OUT as determined by the MIDI OUT Key Mode settings of the Performance.

The Key Mode and Zone can be used together in various ways. For example when playing the $D \cdot 70$ together with external MIDI sound sources, you can make different areas of the keyboard play different combinations of sounds; the $D \cdot 70$ alone, the MIDI sound source alone, or the D - 70 and the MIDI sound source.

Set the Key Mode of the Patch and MIDI OUT to Zone. Solid lines indicate Patch Zones Dashed lines indicate MIDI OUT Zones



By turning the KB PART (the Part played by the keyboard) Off and making appropriate Key Mode settings for the MIDI OUT of the Performance, you can use the D - 70 as a MIDI keyboard controller (r P.67).

5. Controllers

Using controllers will help your playing be more musically expressive. In this section we will explain controller settings.

Types of controller

The D - 70 is able to use the following controllers. Each can be set for the D - 70 itself (internal) and for MIDI OUT.

Bender	move the Bender/Modulation Lever to left or right		
Aftertouch	after playing a key, press harder		
Modulation	push the Bender/Modulation Lever forward		
C1 Slider / Expression Pedal	move the Cl Slider/press an EV-5 or EV-10 (sold separately)		
Pedal Switch	Press a separately sold FS-1 or FS-5L (latch-type) or DP-2, DP-6, FS-5U (unlatch-type)		
Hold Pedal	Press a separately sold DP-2, DP-6, FS-5U (unlatch-type)		

Latch-type switches will be On from the time you press and release the pedal, to when you press it again.

Unlatch-type switches will be On from the time you press the pedal to when you release it.



The Controller Map

For each controller, you can specify two Functions, the Value (range of effect), and the Destination (key area).

These settings are part of the Controller Map.

Function:	select the function to be controlled
Value:	specify the range of the effect (cannot be specified for Pedal SW, Hold Pedal,
	or MIDI OUT)
Destination:	select the key area to which the effect will apply

The Destination determines the range (Lower or Upper) of the Tone Palette and MIDI Palette.

Lower:	the controller will affect L - 1 and L - 2
Upper:	the controller will affect U - 3 and U - 4
Both:	the controller will affect L - 1 - U - 4
Off:	the controller will have no effect.

Example of Controller Map settings

Function	Value	Destination
Pitch Bend	+2 semi	Lower
TVF Cutoff	80	Upper

Aftertouch (key pressure) will take effect as specified by two Controller Maps; the Internal Aftertouch Controller Map and the MIDI OUT Aftertouch Controller Map.

Aftertouch Controlier Map of the KB PART (the Part played by the keyboard)



Internal Controller settings

The KB PRM and each Synthe Part (Parts 1 - 5) in a Performance has its own Controller Map. (The Rhythm Part does not have a Controller Map.)

For the KB PRM, you may specify the C1 Slider/Expression Pedal and Pedal Switch as controllers (rar P.64, 96).

For each Synthe Part (Parts 1 - 5), you may specify Bender, Aftertouch, Modulation, and Hold Pedal as controllers (rr P.64, 99).

Controller settings for MIDI OUT

The MIDI OUT of a Performance has its own Controller Map which allows you to specify Bender, Aftertouch, Modulation, Cl Slider/Expression Pedal, Pedal Switch, and Hold Pedal as controllers (σ P.71, 103).
6. Signal Flow

This section explains the signal flow from when you play the keyboard to when sound is produced, and the flow of MIDI data.





Keyboard data flow

The keyboard is directly connected either to a Synthe Part (1 - 5) or to the Rhythm Part, and will play the Patch assigned to that Part (or if connected to the Rhythm Part, will play the Rhythm Setup). The KB PART setting for KB PRM determines which Part will be played by the keyboard (\Rightarrow P.67).

Data from the keyboard is turned into MIDI messages by the MIDI Palette, and is transmitted from MIDI OUT. The Key Mode, Velocity Mode, and MIDI Palette settings will determine how messages are transmitted from MIDI OUT (= P.68, 104).

MIDI data flow

Each Part has its own MIDI Channel on which it will receive MIDI data. Out of the MIDI messages input at MIDI IN, each Part will receive the Note messages of its own Channel.

The KB PART (the Part played by the keyboard) will be played both by the keyboard and by MIDI messages.

In addition to the MIDI Channel of each Part, you can specify a Control Channel on which the entire Performance will be controlled (= P.137).

Incoming MIDI Program Change messages on the Control Channel can select Performances (\$\$\varphi\$P.49).

7. RAM Card Data

A separately sold RAM Card (M • 256E) can also store User Set, Performance, Patch, Tone, Rhythm Setup and System Setup data (\$\$\mathcal{D}\$P.139).



Performances both on a RAM card and in the Internal memory can be registered to a User Set Group. However, it is not possible to use a combination of RAM and Internal data for Performances, Patches and Tones. In other words, if a RAM card Performance is selected, only Patches and Tones on the RAM card can be used. If an Internal Performance is selected, only Patches and Tones in the Internal memory can be used.



* While playing, the Rhythm Setup and System Setup data from Internal memory are always used. The Rhythm Setup and System Setup data in a RAM Card are only for storage, not for immediate use.

When you select a RAM Card Performance, the <u>INT/CARD</u> indicator will light, indicating which data (Internal or RAM Card) is being used. The display will indicate as follows whether Internal or RAM Card data is being used.

(Example)	For Performance				
	Internal		1:11		
	RAM Card	⇒	C:11		

*For detailed explanation on Performance selection, see pages 17 and 44.

1

2 BASIC OPERATION (PLAY MODE)

The D - 70 allows you to modify settings (the way in which sounds are combined, sound editing, etc.) even while playing. This section explains the basic procedures in Play mode.

1. How to View the Screen



The function buttons

Each of the function buttons located below the display has more than one function. The lower line of the display will indicate the current function of each button.

Select Performances

In the User Set display, the function buttons will select Performances.

●Set a value using Laver□ , Split□ , Zone□ , etc.

The function buttons will set a value for the parameters shown in the display

●Select a List using Page ↑ , Page ↓ , etc.

The function buttons will switch the displayed list

●Select Parameters using Layer , K.Assgn, Output, etc.

The function buttons will switch the screen to other parameters

*Some of the functions of the function buttons will be displayed with a mark. This indicates that a different display or parameter will be selected each time you press the button.

2. How to Select Displays

Play mode contains several displays. To select a display, press the corresponding button, as explained below.

* If the PLAY indicator is not lit, press PLAY.

PLAY User Set

TONE DISPLAY D TONE DISPLAY TONE DISPLAY TONE DISPLAY TONE DISPLAY R Tone Display R (* when the KB PART is a Synthe Part) Tone Display R (* when the KB PART is the Rhythm Part)

* If the KB PART is Off, pressing TONE DISPLAY (1) will not open the window.

MIDI OUT D _____ MIDI OUT

EFFECT / CTRL DD Chorus Controller Map

* If the KB PART is Rhythm Part or Off, the "Controller Map" window cannot be opened.

PART	Part Part	PRM	1	
	-Part	PRM	2	

Each time you press TONE DISPLAY (D), MIDI OUT (D), EFFECT / CTRL (D), or PART (D), the display will change. The (D) and (D) marks indicate the number of the display.

3. How to Modify Settings

Here's how to modify the settings of the parameters (functions) shown in the display.

Basic procedure to modify settings

Use [NC]/[V]/[V]/[V]/[V]/[V]] to place the cursor on the parameter you wish to modify, and use [NC]/[DEC] or [VAUVE] to modify the value. The cursor selection is indicated in inverse display.

* There will be no cursor in the Tone Display R display.

Some displays contain items which cannot be selected by the cursor (to which the cursor cannot be moved).

- Items to be set using the Function buttons. (Refer to P.52, "3 FUNCTIONS OF EACH DISPLAY (PLAY MODE)".)
- Items to be set using the Tone Palette Sliders.
- Selecting a Performance, Patch, or Tone.
- Transmitting a Program Change Number.

To modify settings for these items, refer to the following explanations.

To use the Tone Palette Sliders

Here's how to make parameter settings for the Tone Palette, MIDI Palette, and Effects unit. The parameters to be edited will be different for each display.

Display	Parameters to edit					
User SetTone Palette parametersTone Display* Use the Tone Palette buttons to select a parameter. (Level, PaL/U PRMKey Shift, Fine Tune, Cutoff, Resonance, Attack Time, ReleaController MapTime)Part PRM 1* If the KB PART is the Rhythm Part, edit the Output LevelPart PRM 2the Rhythm Part,						
Tone Display R	Display R Output Level of the Rhythm Part					
MIDI OUT MIDI Palette parameters MIDI CTRL Map * Use the Tone Palette buttons [LEVEL] (MIDI Volume) TUNING Ø (Transpose) to select a parameter.						
Reverb	Reverb parameters (Level, Type, Time, Feedback)					
Chorus	Chorus parameters (Level. Rate, Depth, Feedback) * Only parameters in the left side of the display.					

• To edit Tone Palette parameters

Press TONE DISPLAY D to get the Tone Display screen.

	Cutoff	-20 -10	-30 -40
<u>*R11(1)Edit</u>	Sound		
L-1 a11(1) L-2 a25(12)		5010	
U-3 *661(104)	Nails	POTy .	l⇔⇔ ·
U-4 a72< 49>	Buzz 5		I ! T ┿ !
[SPlit][C 4]	Patch Lev	el 127	₽ :::[::::
Layer 🗗 Split	🗆 Zone🗗	K.Assen	Output

Tone Palette Sliders 1 - 4 correspond to each Section (L-1 - U-4).

Cutoff	-20 1	-10 _1	-30	-40 _ 1
	Ш		Ш	
	Ų	Ц	Ų	Q

The upper right of the display shows the parameter which you will be editing using the Tone Palette Sliders, and the value of each Section.

Use the Tone Palette Buttons to select the parameter to be edited by the Tone Palette Sliders. The indicator of the selected button will light.



*Each time you press TUNING D, the parameter will alternate between K.Shift (Key Shift) and F.Tune (Fine Tune).

*If the KB PART has been set to Rhythm, the Tone Palette Sliders will be able to edit only the Level parameter (Output Level of the Rhythm Part). Tone Palette Slider 1 will be used.

* If the KB PART is set Off, the Tone Palette Sliders cannot be used for editing.

★ Notes concerning slider operation



The screen will graphically indicate the Tone Palette Slider position (A) and the parameter value (B). To change the parameter value, you must first move (A) to the position of (B), and then move the Tone Palette Slider.

A dotted bar graph line indicates that the sound of that Section has been muted. (r P.43, 113)

* The Tone Palette Sliders will have the same function even in screens where there is no graphic display.

• To edit MIDI Palette parameters

Press MIDI OUT () to get the MIDI OUT display.

MIDI OUT		ume 10	0 100	127 80
*I:11(1)	Hvy Guit	ar	#	
L-1 CH 1	D-70II	Vel k	lor m	▝⊥▝ͳ▝╤ᢪ
111-2 CH 2	5-770A	Thr	100 T	ILi
10-3 CH 3	MKS-80	Ve1	Mix	
U-4 CH 4	D-550	Thr	126	
[SPlit][C	4]		•	* ; * [* ; *
Layer 🗇 SR	lito Zon	eD L/	U PRM	PG#

Ţŀ

* In this display, internal Tones cannot be controlled.

Tone Palette Sliders I - 4 correspond to each Section (L-1 - U-4).

Volume	100 1	Ť	t	1
	Ē			

The upper right of the display shows the parameter which you will be editing using the Tone Palette	
Sliders, and the value of each Section.	

Use the Tone Palette Buttons to select the parameters to be edited by the Tone Palette Sliders. In the MIDI Palette, you can select the <u>LEVEL</u> (MIDI Volume) and <u>TUNING</u> (Transpose) parameters. The indicator of the selected button will light.

parameters selectable for the MIDI Palette

A CARD HOL

* Note concerning slider operation



The screen will graphically indicate the Tone Palette Slider position (A) and the parameter value (B). To change the parameter value, you must first move (A) to the position of (B), and then move the Tone Palette Slider.

A dotted bar graph line indicates that the MIDI Channel of that Section has been muted. (rr P.44, 104)

★ Tone Palette Sliders can be used to edit MIDI Palette parameters in the "MIDI CTRL Map" display as well. (The Tone Palette Sliders will have the same function.)

To edit the Effect parameters

In the Reverb and Chorus display selected by pressing EFFECT / CTRL DD, the Tone Palette Sliders will edit Effect Unit parameters. For details refer to P.59 and P.63.



To use TONE	ZONE SELECT
	TONE/ZONE SELECT can be used as follows.
	For each Section of the Tone Palette: mute a Tone, select a Tone, set a Zone, make settings for Output Assign.
	For each Section of the MIDI Palette: mute a MIDI Channel, output a Program Change Number, set a Zone.
	TONE/ZONE SELECT $1 - 4$ correspond to each Section $(L - 1 - U - 4)$ of the Tone Palette and MIDI Palette.
	* Do not simultaneously press two or more TONE ZONE SELECT s.
● To mute a Tone	In Play mode displays other than MIDI OUT or MIDI CTRL Map, you can mute the Tone of each Section. Press the <u>TONE/ZONE_SELECT</u> for the Section whose Tone you wish to mute. When muted, the indicator of the button will go out.
	* If the KB PART setting is Rhythm or Off, Tones cannot be muted.
● To select a Tone	In Play mode displays other than MIDI OUT or MIDI CTRL Map, you can select a Tone for each Section (r P.45).
● Zone settings for a	Tone In Play mode displays other than MIDI OUT or MIDI CTRL Map, you can set the Zone for the Tone of each Section. While pressing the desired <u>TONE/ZONE SELECT</u> , press two keys to specify the Zone of that Section. After specifying the Zone for each Tone, release the button. The Zone will be determined by the last two keys pressed.
	 * If you press two keys at the same time, the Zone may not be set. * If the KB PART setting is Rhythm or Off, it is not possible to make Zone settings. * The Zone you specify for each Section is effective only when the Patch parameter Key Mode is set to Zone.
●Output Assign setti	
	In the Reverb and Chorus displays, you can make Output Assign settings for each Section. While pressing the desired TONE ZONE SELECT, press F1 F4 to specify the Output

Assign for that Section.

Output Assign: $F1 \rightarrow Reverb, F2 \rightarrow Chorus, F3 \rightarrow Dry, F4 \rightarrow Direct$

To mute a MIDI Channel In the MIDI OUT or MIDI CTRL Map display, you can mute the MIDI Channel of each Section. Press the <u>TONE/ZONE SELECT</u> for the Section whose MIDI Channel you wish to mute. When muted, the indicator of the button will go out.

*When the MIDI Channel is muted, no MIDI messages will be transmitted.

To output a Program Change message

In the MIDI OUT or MIDI CTRL Map displays, you can transmit a MIDI Program Change message ($rar{P.46}$).

Zone settings for a MIDI Channel

In the MIDI OUT or MIDI CTRL Map display, you can set the Zone for the MIDI Channel of each Section.

While pressing the desired TONE/ZONE SELECT, press two keys to specify the Zone of that Section. After specifying the Zone for the MIDI channel, release the button. The Zone will be determined by the last two keys pressed.

* If you press two keys at the same time, the Zone may not be set.

* The Zone you specify for each Section is effective only when the Performance parameter MIDI OUT Key Mode is set to Zone.

To select a Performance, Patch, or Tone

To select a Performance, Patch, or Tone, use the List display for each type of data.

To select a Performance

Press PERFORMANCE to get the Performance list display. Press INT/CARD, BANK and NUMBER to select the Bank and Number. Be sure to press NUMBER last. To return to the previous display, press EXIT.

 Ι	: 1	1	Ηv	′y	Gu	1	tar	*******	2 2	*] 1]
Pe	rfo 1		ance (Tvy Gi		. Ban	k 5.		stBass		
	$\frac{2}{3}$. 1	ingna	351ar	<u>, </u>	ē.	Synth	nBassi nBass2		
	4		rties			8.		Bass3		

* If you are in the Jump, Write or Command display, pressing PERFORMANCE will not enter the List display.

You must first press EXIT, and then press PERFORMANCE.

*When you select a Performance on a RAM card, the indicator of INT/CARD will be lit.

«The meaning of the [] display»

- [*]: The currently selected Performance has been edited, but not written.
- [1]: The decimal number of the currently selected Performance (this corresponds to the Program Change Number)

● To select a Patch Press PATCH to get the Patch List display. Press A/B, BANK, and NUMBER to select the Group, Bank, and Number. Be sure to press NUMBER last. To return to the previous display, press EXIT.



* If you are in the Jump, Write or Command display, pressing PATCH will not enter the List display. You must first press EXIT, and then press PATCH.

«The meaning of the [] display»

r

- [*] : The currently selected Patch has been edited, but not written.
 - 1]: The decimal number of the currently selected Patch (this corresponds to the Program Change Number)
- *If the KB PART is set to Rhythm or Off, this List display cannot be opened, and it will not be possible to select Patches.

• To select a Tone

TONE/ZONE SELECT 1 - 4 correspond to each Section (L-1 - U-4) of the Tone Palette. From Play displays other than MIDI OUT and MIDI CTRL Map, press TONE while pressing the desired TONE/ZONE SELECT, and the Tone List display for the selected Section will appear. Press A/B, BANK, and NUMBER to select a Tone. Be sure to press NUMBER last. To return to the previous display, press EXIT.

* Do not press two or more TONE/ZONE SELECT s simultaneously.

I:al	1 A	. P	ian	<u>o 1</u>	
Tone	A.Piano		Bank : 5,	l A.Piano	5
2.	A.Piano A.Piano A.Piano	23	6.	A.Piano A.Piano A.Piano	6

* If you are in the Jump, Write or Command display, pressing <u>TONE</u> while holding TONE/ZONE SELECT will not enter the List display.

You must first press **EXIT** to return to the previous display, and then press **TONE** while holding **TONE**/ZONE SELECT.

(The meaning of the [] display)

- [*]: The currently selected Tone has been edited, but not written.
 - 1]: The decimal number of the currently selected Tone.
- [L 1]: The selected Section.

ſ

- *If the KB PART is set to Rhythm or Off, this List display cannot be opened, and it will not be possible to select Tones.
- * From the MIDI OUT or MIDI CTRL Map displays, the Tone List display will not be opened. Instead, the Program Change Number List display will appear.

To transmit a Program Change message

TONE ZONE SELECT 1 - 4 correspond to each Section of the MIDI Palette (L - 1 - U - 4). From the MIDI OUT or MIDI CTRL Map displays, you can press TONE while holding TONE ZONE SELECT to get the Program Change Number List display for the specified Section. This function allows you to immediately transmit any desired MIDI Program Change message on the channel of the selected Section.

* Do not press two or more TONE/ZONE SELECT is simultaneously.

P.Chg #	21	{	a	3	5	}		1 11	[1]
D Decimal		Ð	G	В	N				
21_	Group Bank Number	111	622	E J	4	50	6 6	777	8
Decimal GBN									

* If you are in the Jump, Write or Command display, pressing <u>TONE</u> while holding TONE/ZONE SELECT will not enter the List display.

You must press <u>EXIT</u> to return to the previous display, and then press <u>TONE</u> while holding <u>TONE/ZONE SELECT</u>.

«The meaning of the [] display»

- [1]: The MIDI Channel of the currently selected Section.
- [L 1]: The selected Section.

There are two methods of specifying a Program Change Number; using the numeric keypad to directly specify the Program Change Number, or using the $\boxed{A / B}$, \boxed{BANK} , \boxed{NUMBER} (Group/Bank/Number) (the GBN method).

To use the numeric keypad to directly specify the Program Change Number, press F1 Decimal . Be sure to press ENTER after you enter the number.

To use A/B, BANK, and NUMBER (the GBN method) to specify the Program Change Number, press F2 GBN. Be sure to press NUMBER last.



The I mark indicates the method by which Program Change Numbers can be entered.

4. RAM Card

Data can be written to and read from a RAM Card (M - 256E, sold separately). Data stored in a RAM Card can be modified as many times as you wish. This allows you to store edited Performances, Patches, and Tones etc.

- *When using a new RAM Card (M 256E) for the first time, you must Format the card before it can be used. When you execute the Format command, all D 70 data will be copied onto the card (\$\sigma\$ P.140).
- Formatting is also necessary when you wish to use a card that has been used by other devices to store D 70 data.
- *RAM Card for other D-series devices (D 5/10/20/50/110/550) cannot be used, nor can sound library ROM Cards (PN - D10 series, PN - D50 series) be used.
- *RAM Cards contains a battery to back up the memory data. Before using a RAM Card, be sure to install the battery as explained in the manual for the RAM Card.
- *Before transporting the D 70, be sure to remove the RAM Card.

How to insert a RAM Card

RAM Cards must be inserted into the RAM Card slot on the rear panel. Make sure that the correct side is facing up, and that the card is pointing in the correct direction. Then insert it all the way into the slot.



- *Never insert a RAM Card into the PCM Card slot. Leaving it inserted for a long period of time will cause malfunctions.
- *If you insert or remove a RAM Card while playing, the sound may stop for a short time, but this is not a malfunction.

The RAM Card protect switch

RAM Cards have a protect switch to prevent RAM Card data from accidentally being erased. Normally you should leave this on. When storing data, turn it on or off (leaving the RAM Card inserted in the slot).



5. Using MIDI to Select Performances or Patches

MIDI Program Change messages can select Performances or Patches.

To select Performances

Program Change messages received on the System Setup Control Channel will select the corresponding Performance (rarge P.137).

* If the Control Channel Is Off, Performances will not be selected. Page 157, 162 explains how to set the Control Channel.

*Control Channel can be used only in the Play Mode.

	Number Benk	1	2	3	4	Б	6	7	8
	1	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
	2	8	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
Ξ	3	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24
Ł I	4	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32
Internal	5	33	34	35	36	37	38	39	40
Ē	6	41	42	43	44	45	46	47	48
	7	49	50	51	52	53	54	5 5	56
	8	57	58	59	60	61	62	63	84
	1	65	68	67	68	69	70	71	72
	2	73	74	75	76	77	78	79	80
18	3	81	82	83	84	85	85	87	88
Pa Pa	4	89	90	91	92	83	84	95	86
8	5	97	98	99	100	101	102	103	104
RAM card (C)	6	105	105	107	108	109	110	111	112
l œ	7	113	114	115	116	117	118	119	120
	8	121	122	123	124	125	126	127	128

*When a RAM card is not connected to the D - 70, incoming Program Change messages 65 --- 128 will not select Performances.

.

To select Patches Program Change messages received on the channel of each Part will select the corresponding Patch.

*Even if the Rhythm Part receives a Program Change message, the Rhythm Setup will not change.

- *If the Part channel is Off, Patches will not be selected. Page 157, 162 explains how to set Part channels.
- *Turn On the P.Change Rx of the Part. (~P.67, 99)

									
Group	Number Bank	1	2	3	4	5	8	7	6
	1	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
	2	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
	3	17	16	19	20	21	22	23	24
A	4	25	26	27	28	29	30	31	32
~	5	33	34	35	36	37	38	39	40
	6	41	42	43	44	45	46	47	48
	7	49	50	13	52	53	54	55	56
	8	57	58	59	60	61	62	83	64
	1	65	66	67	68	69	70	71	72
	2	73	74	75	76	77	78	79	80
	Э	81	82	83	84	85	86	87	88
в	4	8 9	90	81	92	93	94	95	96
5	5	97	98	99	100	101	102	103	104
	6	105	106	107	108	109	110	111	112
	7	113	114	115	116	117	118	119	120
	8	121	122	123	124	125	126	127	128

Incoming Program Change messages will select Patches as follows.

About Program Change Numbers

The Program Change Number corresponding to each Performance or Patch will be displayed in parentheses ().

(Example)	Performance	1:35(21)
	Patch	l:A88(64)

The Program Change Number of the actual MIDI message covers a range of 0 - 127, but the numbers displayed here in parentheses cover the range of 1 - 128. Thus, a Program Change Number of 0 will select the Performance or Patch for which (1) is displayed.

6. The Panic Function

If notes or pitch bender or modulation controllers "stick" (fail to turn off or return to the normal setting) for D - 70 internal sounds or external MIDI sound sources, this Panic function will help you resume normal operation.

*When you use the Panic function, data will be re-read from the memory area of the same Performance number. If you have edited the data, all the data in the Temporary area will be lost. (☞ P.81)

100 A

ກຸ່ມີຄະ

[Procedure]

	ि ह ट नि ते ति ते ह ति ते ति ते ति ते ति ते ते ति ते	<u>n</u> <u>n</u>	n k	Tid.



The internal and external MIDI sound sources will be reset.

*While the Panic function is executing, there will be no sound for approximately four seconds.

Transmitted data The following data will be transmitted on all MIDI Channels (1 - 16).

1. Note Off for all notes

(Note Off velocity 127, not Note On velocity 0.)

- 2. Pitch Bend center
- 3. Channel Aftertouch 0
- 4. Modulation 0
- 5. Hold1 0
- 6. Volume 127

3 FUNCTIONS OF EACH DISPLAY (PLAY MODE)

Since D-70 allows you to select and operate a wide variety of functions in realtime while playing, it is especially suitable for live performance.

This section will explain the functions available from the Play mode displays (the displays selected when you press PLAY). TONE DISPLAY (), EFFECT/CTRL(), PART (), or MIDI OUT ()).

1. User Set

I:11 H	٧y	GL	li	ta	ar			к]]	×] 1]
User Set [*]	I I- I C- 1		5 4 5 4	5 5	67 67	8	99	10 10	
Car i	llion		E .	Pia	no1				
Hvy Guitar	Gas	iang			E	ndo	990	lita	ar

[To get this display] Press PLAY].

To select a User Set Group

You can select either internal (I) or RAM Card (C) Groups.

[Setting range]	-1 — 10, C-1 — 10		
[Procedure]	Select internal/RAM Card	-	\ / \
	Select a Group	-+	

*To select a group in the internal memory, use BANK buttons (1 - 8), and to change groups on a RAM card, use NUMBER buttons (1 - 8). Group 9 or 10 cannot be selected.

*If a RAM Card is not inserted, RAM Card Groups cannot be selected.

To select a Performance

You can select Performances which have been assigned to the selected Group. The selected Performance will be displayed in inverse display.

[Procedure] Select a Performance	-+	F1	—	F5	
----------------------------------	----	----	---	----	--

*When a RAM card is not connected to the D - 70, Performances on the RAM card cannot be used.

2. Tone Display

	Tone Displ *811(1) L-1 a11(L-2 a25(U-3 *b61(1 U-4 a72(ISP111][C Layer[]][Sp	35 Cutoff dit Sound 1>A.Piano 2 12>E.Organ 3 04>Nails 49>Buzz 5 4] Patch Leve 1itc) Zongco	-20 -10 -30 -40 SOIG Poly 1 127 K. ASSEN DUICFUL
【To get this display】	Press TONE DISP	LAY []]. (The display wi	I change each time you press the button.)
	· ·		KB PART is set to a Synthe Part (Part 1 — 5). to Rhythm Part or Off (\simeq P.67).
To set Key Assign	You can set Key Assig	gn for Lower and Upper. (🗢	°P.28)
	[Setting range]	Poly/Solo	
	[Procedure]	Display	→ F4 K.Assgn
		Move the cursor	
		Select Poly/Solo	→ INC / DEC J. WALVE

* If either Lower or Upper is set to Solo, the SOLO indicator will light.

To set Output Assign

You can set Output Assign for each Tone. (P.26)

	Cutoff	-20 -10 -	-30 -40
*Aii< 1>Edit S	sound		
L-1 a11(1)A.	Piano 2	Chol	
L-2 a25(12)E.	Organ 3	Rev	
U-3 *661(104)N	ails	Dir	çç i:
U-4 a72 49 B	JZZ 5	Dry	∃ T + [
[Split][C 4] F	Patch Leve	127 9	
Layer D Selito	Zoner	K.Assan C	uteut
		ر البر الذاكرة بالأسمال فعقدًا الأستاط . (19) 1977 - يول الكري الأستان في المركز الأستان الأربار .	

[Setting range]	Rev/Cho/Dry/Dir	
[Procedure]	Display	→ F5 Output
	Move the cursor	$\rightarrow \blacktriangle / \bigtriangledown / \checkmark / \checkmark / \blacktriangleright$
	Select the Output Assign	

To set Patch Level You can adjust the volume of the entire Patch.

[Setting range]	0 127	
[Procedure]	Move the cursor	$\rightarrow \blacktriangle / \blacktriangledown / \blacktriangledown / \blacktriangleright$
	Set the value	→ INC / DEC , WARUE

To set Key Mode You can change the Key Mode. (\$\$\mathcal{P}\$.27) Tone Diselay Cutoff -30 .3 ayer 🗗 (Sel ito Zoneo K.Assen [Setting range] Layer/Split/Zone Press any one of F1 Laver 🖘 , F2 Split 🗢 [Procedure] or F3 Zone= ★ For buttons F1 - F3, you can press the button once again to get a graphic display of the settings for the selected mode. (To return to the previous display, press the button once again, or press EXIT .) To set the Split Point If Split mode has been selected, you can set the Split Point which divides the keyboard into Lower and Upper. (- P.27) [Procedure] While pressing F2, press the key to be the new Split Point. The new Split Point will be displayed. * The key of the Split Point belongs to the Lower section. To use the Tone Palette Sliders to edit You can move the sliders to edit parameters which have been assigned to the Tone Palette. The Tone Palette Buttons select the parameters which will be controlled. (P.39) LEVEL Level: 0 - 127 Adjust the volume of each Section. (
P.111) PAN Pan: 7> --- >< --- <7 Set the Pan (stereo position) of each Section. (CP.113) TUNING Ø K.Shift: -24 semi-tone -+24 semi-tone, F.Tune: -64 --+63 Adjust the tuning of each Section. Each time this button is pressed, it will alternate between K.Shift (Key Shift: half step units) and F.Tune (Fine Tune: fine adjustment). (CP.111) CUTOFF Cutoff: -64 --- +63 Make relative adjustments to the Cutoff Frequency of the Tone of each Section. (
P.112) RESONANCE Reso: - 64 -- +63 Make relative adjustments to the Resonance of the Tone of each Section. (\$\$\varphi\$P.112\$)

 ATTACK
 (Attack Time) Attack: -64 - +63

 Make relative adjustments to the Attack Time (TVF and TVA) of the Tone of each Section. (\$\vec{re}\$ P.112)

 RELEASE
 (Release Time) Release: -64 - +63

 Make relative adjustments to the Release Time (TVF and TVA) of the Tone of each Section. (\$\vec{re}\$ P.112)

 (\$\vec{re}\$ P.112)

 [Procedure]

 ① Select the function you wish to edit.

 (\$\vec{re}\$ Use the Tone Palette Sliders to modify the value.

 \$\vec{re}\$ wide.



★ Note concerning slider operation



The screen will graphically indicate the Tone Palette Slider position (A) and the parameter value (B). To change the parameter value, you must first move (A) to the position of (B), and then move the Tone Palette Slider.

A dotted bar graph line indicates that the sound of that Section has been muted, and will not sound. (rp.43, 113)

* The Tone Palette Sliders will function in the same way even in screens which have no graphic display.

55

3. L/U PRM

	Velo Mode Norm Mix Porta Off On Threshold 100 100 P.Mode Auto Norm
	Key Assign Poly Solo P. Time 100 100
	[SPIII][C 4]
	Layer 🗇 Selito Zone 🗇 🛛 ——
[To get this display]	Press TONE DISPLAY (1). (The display will change each time you press the button.)
	*This display can be selected only when the KB PART is set to a Synthe Part (Part 1 — 5).
	It cannot be selected if the KB PART is set to the Rhythm Part or Off ($rac{rac}{P.67}$).
	* The value at left is for Lower, and the value at right is for Upper.
To openify how on	unds will be produced
I to specify now sol	
	These settings determine how the KB PART will be sounded in the Lower and Upper sections.
	*Portamento, Portamento Mode, and Portamento Time are effective only when Key Assign
	is set to Solo.
Velo Mode (Velocity M	Mode) Norm/SW/Mix
	Specify how changes in key velocity will play the 1st Tone and 2nd Tone (P.27).
Threshold (Threshold	Sensitivity) 0—127
	When the Velocity Mode is set to SW or Mix, this parameter specifies the velocity value at which the
	1st Tone and 2nd Tone will switch (57 P.27).
Key Assign	Poly/Solo
	Select either Poly or Solo mode (P.28).
	* If either Lower or Upper is set to Solo, the SOLO indicator will light.
Solo Legato	On/Off
	Solo allows you two choices; Solo Legato and Solo (normal). When this is turned On, Solo Legato
	can be used ($rac{P.28}$).

.

Porta (Portamento)	On/Off		
Porta (Portamento)			
	Turn Portamento On/Off (7 P.28).		
		ctive only when Key Assign is Solo.	
		been On for either Upper or Lower, the PORTAMENTO indicator will	
	light.		
P.Mode (Portamento M	-	the second state of William Autor is estanded your playing	
		mento are provided; Auto and Normal. When Auto is selected, your playing	
	technique will determi	ine whether or not Portamento is applied ($rar P.28$).	
P.Time (Portamento Ti			
	Specify the time over	which Portamento will change the pitch (57 P.28).	
	[Procedure]	Move the cursor $\rightarrow A/V/A/P$	
	Thiocennie	Modify the value → INC // DEC . WALUE	
■To set the Key Mo	de		
TO SEL THE KEY MOR	You can select the Ke	w Mode (rr P 27)	
	I ou can select me Ke	y 1930dec. (~ 1	
	[Setting range]	Layer/Split/Zone	
	[Procedure]	Press either F1 Layer , F2 Split , or F3 Zone .	
	K		
To set the Split Poi	nt		
	If Split mode has been selected, you can set the Split Point which divides the keyboard into Upper and		
	Lower. (\$\sigma P.27)		
	[Procedure]	While pressing F2, press the key you wish to set as the new Split	
		Point. The new Split Point will be shown in the display.	
		•	
		the man to a first of the state of the second s	

* The key of the Split Point belongs to the Lower section.

4. Tone Display R

	Tone 1	Display		_eve1 127	
1	Key #	Media	INUM	IName	Source Keyl
	C#2 C#2 D#2 E	NNNNN 1 1	1 19 2 10 12	SNAREDRUM1 CLAPS SNAREDRUM2 TOM 1 HI-HAT	C 2 C#2 D 2 D#2 F 2
Ľ	Page 1	Page	4 (Octaven Oct	avel

[To get this display] Press TONE DISPLAY D].

*This display can be selected only if the KB PART has been set to Rhythm Part. If the KB PART has been set to a Synthe Part (Part 1 -5) or Off, this display cannot be selected (-P.67).

To check the settings of the Rhythm Setup

You can check the Rhythm tone settings for each key of the Rhythm Setup (\$\$\mathcal{D}\$P.129).



To set the level of the Rhythm Part

You can use the Tone Palette slider 1 to set the Output Level of the Rhythm Part. (CP P.39)

[Setting range] 0 - 127 [Procedure] use Tone Palette Slider 1

5. Reverb

Reverb]
	1) Hvy Guitar	1
ITYPe · · · ·	Cross Delay	
Time		
IFeedback		I.
	Charus Dry Direct	Í
Reverb	Chorus Dry Direct	I,

[To get this display] Press EFFECT/CTRLOD. (The display will change each time you press the button.)

To make Reverb settings using the Tone Palette Sliders

The Tone Palette Sliders correspond to Reverb parameters as follows. You can adjust Reverb parameters by moving the sliders. In this display, the Tone Palette Buttons will not function.



* The number of dots (1 - 4) to the left of the parameter name corresponds to the number of the Tone Palette Slider (1 - 4).

Level	0 — 31	0 — 31		
	Set the level of the reverb (delay) sound.			
Туре	Room 1 — 3, Ha	Room 1 — 3, Hall 1 — 2, Gate, Delay, Cross Delay		
	Set the Type of Reverb/Delay effect.			
	Room 1—3 Well-defined and spacious reverb			
	Hall 1, 2	Slower reverb, with greater depth than Room		
	Gate Gated (sharply muted) reverb Delay Conventional delay			
	Cross Delay Delayed repeats are panned to left and right			
Time	0 — 31			

Set the reverb time. If the Type is Delay or Cross Delay, this will set the delay time.

Feedback

0 — 31

Set the number of repeats for the delayed sound. This parameter is effective only for Types of Delay or Cross Delay.

.

 \star Reverb settings can also be changed by moving the cursor.

[Procedure]	Move the cursor	$\rightarrow \mathbf{A}/\mathbf{V}/\mathbf{A}/\mathbf{F}$
	Modify the setting	

To make Output Assign settings

You can specify how each Tone is output. (\$\$\mathcal{P}\$.26)

[Procedure]	set to Reverb	→ the TONE/ZONE SELECT of each Section
		+ F1 Reverb
	set to Chorus	➡ the TONE/ZONE SELECT of each Section
		+ F2 Chorus
	set to Dry	→ the TONE/ZONE SELECT of each Section
		+ F3 Dry
	set to Direct	→ the TONE/ZONE SELECT of each Section
		+ F4 Direct

6. Chorus

Chorus		
*I:11(Guitar
Dot.o.	5 27	TypeShort Delay Out ModePost Reverb Delay Time20
Reverb	Chorus	Dry Direct

[To get this display] Press EFFECT / CTRL (1). (The display will change each time you press the button.)

To make Chorus settings using the Tone Palette Sliders

The Tone Palette Sliders correspond to Chorus parameters as follows. You can adjust Chorus parameters by moving the sliders. In this display, the Tone Palette Buttons will not function.



* The number of dots (1 - 4) to the left of the parameter name corresponds to the number of the Tone Palette Slider (1 - 4).

Level	0 31
	Set the level of the effect processed sound.
Rate	0 — 31
	Set the modulation frequency of the Chorus/Flanger effect.
	*When the Type is set to Short Delay, this Rate parameter has no effect.
Depth	0 — 31
	Set the depth of the Chorus or Flanger effect.
	*When the Type is set to Short Delay, this Depth parameter has no effect.

Feedback

```
-31 --- +31
```

Set the amount of feedback for the flanger or delay.

*When the Type is Flanger or FB-Chorus, this will change the character of the processed sound.

*When the Type is Short Delay, this will change the number of repeats.

*When the Type is Chorus 1 or 2, this Feedback parameter has no effect.

 \star The above parameters can also be set using the cursor.

To make Chorus settings using the cursor

Parameters displayed at the right of the screen can be selected by the cursor.

Type

Chorus 1 - 2, FB-Chorus, Flanger, Short Delay

Specify the type of Chorus effect.

Chorus1	A spacious and rich effect	
Chorus2	A deep ensemble effect, especially good for making strings richer	
FB-Chorus	An effect mid-way between chorus and flanger	
Flanger	A unique effect in which overtones change dramatically, especially effective for Tones containing many upper partials, such as HEAVY.EG	
Short Delay	Short delayed repeats	

Out Mode (Output Mode) Pre Reverb, Post Reverb

Specify how Chorus and Reverb will be connected.

Pre Reverb:	Reverb will be added after the sound is processed through Chorus.
Post Reverb:	Reverb will not be applied to the Chorused sound.



Delay Time 0-31

Specify the delay time used internally by the Chorus/Flanger.

- *When the Type is Chorus 1, 2, or FB-Chorus, higher settings will result in a more spacious effect.
- *When the Type is Flanger, lower settings will result in a stronger flanging effect, and higher settings will result in a more chorus-like setting.

*When the Type is Short Delay, this will determine the spacing of repeats.

[Procedure]	Move the cursor	$\rightarrow \mathbf{A}/\mathbf{V}/\mathbf{A}/\mathbf{E}$
	Modify the value	→ INC / DEC , AVALUES

To make Output Assign settings

You can specify how each Tone is output. (\$\$\mathcal{\$\$\$\$\$ P.26}\$)

[Procedure]	set to Reverb	the <u>TONE ZONE</u> <u>SELECT</u> of each Section
	set to Chorus	+ F1 Reverb → the TONE ZONE SELECT of each Section
		+ F2 Chorus
	set to Dry	the TONE ZONE SELECT of each Section + F3 Dry
	set to Direct	→ the TONE ZONE SELECT of each Section + F4 Direct

7. Controller Map

	Controller *I:11(1) EBender Function (Pitch) LFO Pitch Bender IA	Nap Hvy Guitar 1 Value -364++12 127 Touch Mod Ci	Destination Both Lower /Exp Pedalco
[⊺o get this display]	Press EFFECT/CT	RL01. (The display will cha	nge each time you press the button.)
			PART is set to a Synthe Part (Part 1 5). to Rhythm Part or Off. (& P.67)
To set the Controlle	r Map		
	Ũ	,	the function of each controller. This display KB PRM and the KB PART ($rarphi$ P.33).
●To select a Controlle			
	[Procedure]	Bender Lever	→ F1 Bender
		Aftertouch	→ F2 A.Touch
		Modulation	F3 Mod
		C1 Slider/Expression Pedal Pedal	→ F4 C1 / Exp → F5 Pedal =
		roual	

* Each time you press F5, the selection will alternate between Pedal SW and Hold Pedal.

• To specify the functions of a Controller

	Function	Vaiue	
Pitch Bend :	change the pitch	Set in half-note steps. Positive settings $(+)$ will raise the pitch. Negative settings $(-)$ will lower the pitch. When the Controller is the Pitch Bender, the amount of change for left and right movement can be set independently.	
TVF Cutoff :	change the Cutoff Frequency		
TVA Level:	change the Volume		
LFO Pitch :	change the Pitch Modulation (vibrato)	Set over a range of $0-127$. 127 produces the maximum effect.	
LFT TVF:	change the Cutoff Modulation (growl)		
LFO TVA :	change the Volume Modulation (tremolo)		
Portamento Time :	change the Portamento Time		
Octave Up : raise the pitch 1 octave			
Octave Down:	lower the pitch 1 octave		
Hold :	hold the sound	no value setting	
Sostenuto :	only the notes sounding when the pedal was pressed will be held, and notes played later will not be held		

*The functions which can be selected will depend on the Controller.

- *It is not possible to make the same selection for both functions.
- * If the Bender Lever has been selected as the controller, function 1 will always be Pitch. The values can be set independently for Bend Up and Bend Down.
- * The C1 Slider and the Expression Pedal use the same Controller Map.
- *The function (Hold or Sostenuto) of the Hold Pedal is determined by the System Setup parameter Hold Pedal (\$\$\varphi\$ P.138).
- * If a function name is indicated by (), it cannot be selected.

[Procedure] Move the cursor Modify the setting



*Depending on the sound data (Patch or Tone), controllers may have no effect. Check the parameters of the sound data (\$\sigma P.107, 114).

To specify the keyboard range to which the effect will apply Specify the Destination.

Lower: The controller will apply to L - 1 and L - 2.

- Upper: The controller will apply to U 3 and U 4.
- Both: The controller will apply to L 1 U 4.

Off: The controller will have no effect.

[Procedure] Move the cursor Modify the value

8. Part PRM 1/2

I	Part	- PRI	1 1	KB	PART	1		1	
Π	Prt	CH	Patch				Zone	2	
	1	10	*A11(1>A.	Piano		C#-1	l++G	9
	2	11	A12<	22AC	oustB	ass	C#-1	[++G	9
	23	Off	A88<	64>50	undtr	ack	C#-1	ĺ++G	Θļ
	4	Off	*B11<	65>St	rings	1	C#-1	ί++G	9
	5	Off	*B11<	65>St	rings	1	C#-1	(++G	9
	KBPs	ar t-t-	KEPart	:↓ 0n/	Off	sunt	he	Rhut	hm

Fart	PRM 1	S. I	KB PART	r 1		F (de 1834 d'éc às à de ser et se ser en
Prt	Level	Prior	Effect	A Feel	PG#	Vo1
1	127	0n	Off	20	Ōn	Off
2	127	Off	On	11	Off	On
3	127	Off	On	Ø	On	Off
4	127	On	0ff	3	Off	0n
5	127	On	Off	Ø	Off	On
K B P =	arth KI	S⊳art.↓	On/Off	Synthe	e Ri	sythm

[To get this display] Press PART []. (The display will change each time you press the button.)

The settings of each Part (multi-timbre) in the Performance will be displayed.

 \pm To switch the display between the Synthe Parts (Parts 1 — 5) and the Rhythm Part, press F4 Synthe or F5 Rhythm .

Part	settings	These parameters can be set for each Part.
------	----------	--

CH (Receive Channel)	1 — 16/Off Specify the channel on which MIDI messages will be received.
	* If you turn Off Parts which you are not using, MIDI response will be faster. *Page 157, 162 explains channel editing.
Patch (Patch Select)	A11 — B88 Specify the Patch which the Part will play.

* This cannot be set for the Rhythm Part.

C-1 — G9

Specify the Zone of the Part.

* In addition to this Part Zone, a Patch Key Mode can also be set. For details on how Key Mode is related to Zone or to MIDI OUT Key Mode, refer to P.31, "Key Mode and Zone".

Level (Output Level) 0 - 127 Specify the Output Level of the Part.

Zone

Prior (Priority)	On/Off When the maximum 30 voices are exceeded, this determines whether or not to turn off the sound currently playing in the part. "On" will retain the sound, while "Off" will turn off the sound. Even
	when the Priority is set to On, the sound which takes on Release or Hold will be turned off.
Effect	
	Specify whether or not the Part will use the effects unit. If this is set On, the Part will be processed
	through the effects unit as specified by the Output Assign settings of the Tone Palette (\simeq P.53). The Rhythm Part will use the effects unit as specified by the Rhythm Tone Output Assign settings for
	each key (
	*If the System Setup parameter Pedal SW has been set to Effector, the effector will be
	applied only while the pedal is pressed, and only to those Parts whose Effect parameter is turned On (\Rightarrow P.138).
A.Feel (Analog Feel)	0 127
	This parameter simulates the feeling of an analog synthesizer (slight deviations in pitch, etc.) for the
	Patch being played by the Part. A setting of 127 results in the maximum effect.
	* This cannot be set for the Rhythm Part.
PG # (Program Chang	e message receive switch) On/Off
	Specify whether the Part will receive Program Change messages (On) or ignore them (Off).
	* The Rhythm Part does not receive Program Change messages.
Vol (Volume message	receive switch) On/Off
	Specify whether the Part will receive Volume messages (On) or ignore them (Off).
	(Procedure) Move the cursor $\rightarrow ///$
	Modify the value → INC / DEC , KVAINE
To select the KB P	ART
	You can select the KB PART. The selected KB PART will be shown in the upper line of the display.
	(Procedure) Select the KB PART → F1 KBpart 1 , F2 KBpart J
	*To turn the KB PART Off, press F3 On Off . When Off, the keyboard will not play any of the parts, but will only transmit note messages from MIDI OUT. Press the button once again, and KB PART will be set to 1.

9. MIDI OUT

MIDI OUT	Volume	100 100 127 80
<u>*I:11(</u>	> Hvy Guitar	
L-1 CH :	D-70II Vel	
L-2 CH 3	5-770A Thr	100 1 1
U-3 CH 3		
U-4 CH	D-550 Thr	
[SPlit][(4]	
Layer	Flit Zoner	LZU PRM PG#
L-2 CH U-3 CH U-4 CH [Split][(5-770A Thr MK5-80 Ve1	Mix 99

[To get this display] Press MIDI OUT D. (The display will change each time you press the button.)

To set MIDI Channels

You can set the MIDI Channel for each Section of the MIDI Palette. For details of channel settings, refer to P.157, 162.

[Setting range]	1 16	
[Procedure]	Move the cursor	$\rightarrow \mathbf{A}/\mathbf{V}/\mathbf{A}/\mathbf{F}$
	Set the channel	

To set Velocity Mode / Threshold Sensitivity

You can set the Velocity Mode and Threshold Sensitivity of the Lower and Upper sections. (#P.30)

[Setting range]	Vel (Velocity Mode): Norm/SW/Mix		
	Thr (Threshold Sensitivil	ty): 0 — 127	
[Procedure]	Display	→ F4 L/U PRM	
	Move the cursor	$\rightarrow \texttt{A}/\texttt{V}/\texttt{A}/\texttt{E}$	
	Modify the value	→ INC / DEC , WALUE	

To check Program Change Numbers

You can check the Program Change number of each Section.

MIDI OUT	Volume	100 100	127 80
	<u>lvy Guitar</u> 70II	1(a11)	·:•+•
U-3 CH 3 MH	(5-80 9)	0(654) 3(645)	
[Layer][-]	لے الذققطنة	»
Layer 🗗 SPli	to Zone 🗇	L/U PRM	PG#

[Procedure] Display →

F5 PG #

* For details on Program Change Number transmission, see P.46.

To set the Key Mode

You can se	t the MIDI OUT Key Mode of the Performance. (\$\approx P.30)
MIDI OUT Volume 100 127 80 L-1	
[Setting	range] Layer/Split/Zone
[Proced	ure) Press either F1 Laver , F2 Split , or F3 Zone .
the set	ected mode. (To return to the previous display, press that button once again, or EXIT.)
To set the Split Point	
If Split M	ode has been selected, you can set the Split Point which divides the Keyboard into Upper
and Lower	sections. ($rac{P.30}$)
(Proced	While pressing , press the key you wish to set as the new Split Point. The new Split Point will be shown in the display.
* The ke	y of the Split Point belongs to the Lower section.
To edit using the Tone Palette Sliders	
	use the sliders to edit some of the parameters in the MIDI Palette. Use the Tone Palette select the parameter to control. ($rrP.39$)
LEVEL (MIDI Volume) 0 - 127 Adjust the	MIDI Volume of each Section. (& P.104)
	mi-tone — +24 semi-tone transposition of each Section. (PP.104)

[Procedure]



* Note concerning slider operation



The screen will graphically indicate the Tone Palette Slider position (A) and the parameter value (B). To change the parameter value, you must first move (A) to the position of (B), and then move the Tone Palette Slider.

A bar graph displayed as a dashed line indicates that the MIDI Channel of that Section has been muted and will not sound (rr P.44, 104).

★It is also possible to use the Tone Palette Sliders to edit MIDI Palette parameters in the MIDI CTRL Map display. (The Tone Palette Sliders will function in the same way.)
10. MIDI CTRL Map

MIDI CTRL Map			
*I:11(1) HV9 G	uitar		
[Bender]			
Function	Value	Destin	ation
(Bender)		Upper	
C.Chs 2/Breath		Both	
Bender A.Touch	Mod C.	L/EXP	Pedal 🗗

[To get this display] Press MIDI OUT (). (The display will change each time you press the button.)

To set the Controller Map

These settings determine controller selections (Bender Lever, Pedal, etc.), and the function of each controller. (rr P.33)

To select a Controller



★ Each time you press F5, the selection will alternate between Pedal SW and Hold Pedal.

To specify the functions of a Controller

Function				
Bender :	transmit Pitch Bender messages			
C.Chg 0-C.Chg 95:	transmit Control Change messages			
After Touch :	transmit Aftertouch messages			
Bender Up :	transmit Pitch Bender messages to raise the pitch			
Bender Down :	transmit Pitch Bender messages to lower the pitch			
C.Chg 64/Hold-1:	transmit Hold messages			

* The functions which can be selected will depend on the Controller.

* It is not possible to make the same selection for both functions.

- * If the Bender Lever has been selected as the controller, function 1 will always be Bender.
- * The C1 Slider and the Expression Pedal use the same Controller Map.
- *When the System Setup parameter Pedal SW has been set to Controller Map, the Pedal SW will function as determined by the Controller Map settings in this display (\$\$\mathcal{D}\$P.138).

[Procedu		
* When the	function name is indicated by (), it cann	ot be selected.
To specify the keyboard range Specify the)	to which the effect will apply Destination.	
Lower: Th	e controller will apply to L - 1 and L - 2.	
	e controller will apply to U - 3 and U - 4.	
Both: Th	a controller will apply to L - 1 - U - 4.	
Off: Th	e controller will have no effect.	
[Procedu		



1 OVERVIEW OF EDITING

The D - 70 has a large number of parameters in order to give you freedom in creating your own sounds. Before you begin editing, be sure that you understand how the parameters are organized.

1. Tones

The Tones of the D - 70 are organized as follows,



*Some PCM Cards cannot be used. For details, see P.93.

Maximum simultaneous notes

The D - 70 can produce up to 30 voices at once (including voices in their release stage). If this 30-voice limit is exceeded, the Priority settings will determine which voices keep sounding (\approx P.98).

Keyboard range

The highest note that can be sounded will differ depending on the Original Tone. If settings of the Tone parameter Pitch Coarse, or the Patch parameter Key Shift, etc. exceed this limit, there will be no sound. This is to be expected, since all acoustic instruments have natural limits to the pitch they can produce.

* The page 186 lists the keyboard ranges of the Original Tones.



2. PCM and DLM

One of the elements making up an Original Tone is the "WG" (Wave Generator). The WG can use either PCM (Pulse Code Modulation) or DLM (Differential Loop Modulation). This section will explain the differences between PCM and DLM.

If the WG is set to PCM

The PCM Wave data of the Original Tone is stored in the Original Tone area as follows. When a sound is played back in PCM, the data is read in order beginning from address 1, and the PCM wave is used just as it is.



If the WG is set to DLM

DLM uses only the PCM Wave data that is specified by the Tone parameters Start and Length.



DLM does not simply loop the specified area of data, but calculates the difference between each point of the data, and creates a loop using data that corresponds to this difference. When the data reaches a certain level, it loops in the opposite direction.



Waves read using DLM will contain a large number of inharmonic partials, allowing you to create sounds that were not possible with previous methods of generating sounds.

DLM has the following parameters (= P.115).

DLM (On, Off)	When this is turned On, DLM will be used. When Off, PCM will be
	used.
Mode (A/B)	Set this as you like.
Start (0 — 127)	Specify the Start Point from which to read the PCM Wave.
Length (1 — 128)	Specify the length (Loop Length) to be read from the PCM Wave.

These parameters provide 2 (Mode) \times 128 (Start) \times 128 (Length) = 32768 different combinations. By modifying these parameters, you can make the sound change dynamically, and create very complex waveforms. In addition, you can use the TVF and TVA to create completely new sounds.

- *Some Tones created using DLM may not sound over the entire keyboard range. For some DLM settings, there may be no sound.
- *A Tone created by using the DLM may cause unstable pitch around the Upper Limit (the highest pitch to be played) of the Original Tone. For details about the Upper Limit, see page 186.

3. How Memory is organized

The parameters of the D - 70 are stored in locations called "Memories". Memories are organized into the following areas, according to their use or by parameter function.

• System Setup area The System Setup area contains parameters which affect the entire D - 70, such as Master Tune and MIDI data handling. Settings in the System Setup area are preserved even when the power is turned off.

Memory area
 The Memory area contains 10 User Sets, 64 Performances, 128 Patches, and 128 Tones. Settings in
 the Memory area are preserved even when the power is turned off. You can select either RAM Card or
 Internal memory.

Temporary area
The Temporary area is where you modify the settings of the User Sets, Performances, Patches, or Tones. When you select a Performance, etc., the settings from the selected Memory area are called into the Temporary area. Settings in the Temporary area are temporary, and will be lost when you select another Performance etc., or when the power is turned off.

Rhythm Setup area The Rhythm Setup area contains Rhythm Setup data that determines how drum sounds are combined, and how each drum will sound. Settings in the Rhythm Setup area are preserved even when the power is turned off.

• Original Tone area The Original Tone area contains the Original Tones which make up Tones. It is not possible to modify the settings of an Original Tone. You can select either PCM Card or Internal memory.

When you play the D - 70, the sound will be determined by the settings in the System Setup, Rhythm Setup, and the current Temporary area.

When you select a Performance, the settings of that Performance and the Patches used by that Performance are read into the Temporary area. At the same time, the Tones used by those Patches are also read into the Temporary area.

* When we say that data is read from the Memory area into the Temporary area, this is essentially the same as saying that the Memory area data is "copied" into the Temporary area.

The important thing to remember is that when you modify the settings of a Performance, or Patch, etc., you are modifying not the data in the Memory area but the data in the Temporary area. Settings in the Temporary area are temporary, and when you select a Performance or Patch, those settings will be lost. If you wish to keep the new settings you have made in the Temporary area, you must use the Write operation (ϖ P.150) and Store All function (ϖ P.158) to write the data into the Memory area. When editing parameters, always keep this in mind.



Data inside the D - 70 is transferred between areas as follows.

About data in the Temporary area

When you Edit or Write

When data is read from the Memory area into the Temporary area, all data of lower levels is automatically read into the Temporary area as well. (For example when a Performance is read into the Temporary area, the Patches and Tones used in that Performance will also be read into the Temporary area.) However, once data has been read into the Temporary area, all the Temporary area data will function independently. For this reason, please be aware of the following points when editing or writing data.

(Example 1) When editing a Patch

When the Synthe Parts 1 - 5 in a Performance are all set to Patch A11, suppose that you edited the Patch of Part 1, and used the Write operation to write it into A11.

At this time, only the Patch of Part 1 will use the edited data, and the Patches of Synthe Parts 2 - 5 will still have their previous (unedited A11) settings. If you re-select the Performance or Patch, or turn the power off (thus reading A11 into the Temporary area once again), the Patches of all Parts 1 --- 5 will use the new A11.





These maintain their previous settings, and the data in the Temporary area is not changed.

(Example 2) When editing a Tone

When all Sections of the Tone Palette (Patch) have be set to Tone a11, suppose that you edited the Tone of Section L-1, and used the Write operation to write it into a11.

At this time, only the Tone of Section L-1 will use the edited data, and Sections L-2 — U-4 will still have their previous (unedited a11) settings. If you re-select the Performance, Patch, or Tone, or turn the power off (thus reading a11 into the Temporary area once again), Sections L-1 — U-4 will all use the new Tone a11.



When you change Modes or execute the Panic function

When you return from PCM Card mode or ROM Play mode back to Play mode, or when you execute the Panic function, the data of the currently selected Performance will be read into the Temporary area once again. This means that you will lose the data that was in the Temporary area before you returned from PCM Card mode or ROM Play mode, or before you executed the Panic function.

When you execute a command

When you execute a Copy/Initialize/Exchange command, the data for levels below the executed data will be read from the memory area into the temporary area. (For example, when you execute the Copy operation for a Performance, the Patch and Tone data will also be read into the temporary area.) This means that the data that was previously in the temporary area will be lost.

*Data will be read into the temporary area as specified by the Performance parameter Patch Select, and the Patch parameter Tone Select (\sim P.98, 111).

If, when you execute Copy/initialize/Exchange, the Patch Select or 'Tone Select parameters are not affected by the command you execute, then the data of lower levels will not be read into the temporary area. (rr P.161)

4. Rhythm Setup

The Rhythm Setup area contains Rhythm Setup data which determines how drum sounds are combined, and how each drum will sound. A Rhythm Setup allows you to assign a sound to each of the seventy-six keys E1(28) - G7(103) to create a Rhythm Tone.

A Rhythm Setup will be played by the Rhythm Part of the currently selected Performance.



* Editing of a Rhythm Setup is not done in the Temporary area, so the Write operation is not needed.

The Rhythm Tone for each key is organized as follows.



*Some PCM Cards cannot be used. For details, see P.93.

2 BASIC PROCEDURES (EDIT MODE)

The screen displays and buttons used in Edit mode follow some simple and consistent principles. Each display shows at a glance the available operations, so there is no need to remember complicated procedures. Follow the steps given below to learn the basic procedures for Edit mode.

1. How to View the Display



* About the [*] mark in the display

If you have not yet written the edited data, this will be indicated by an " * " displayed before the number in the User Set, Performance, Patch, or Tone displays, or between the [] marks in a List display.

About the Function buttons

In Edit mode, the Function buttons are assigned the following functions.

Select displays

The Function buttons can be used to select other displays. The display will change each time you press a button marked by \blacksquare .

Execute a command (Trnsfer, Select, End, INIT, etc.)

The Function buttons can execute commands related to the screen.

* You will use "Commands" to make the D - 70 do some desired action such as transferring data or initializing data.

2. How to Select Displays



The displays in Edit mode are organized into the following tree-like structure.

*Data Transfer functions are accessed via the 24. System Setup display.

Use the Menu to select a display

When you press the **EDIT** button, the Edit Menu display will appear. Press a Function button to get the desired editing display.



In Edit mode, you can use the Function buttons to select displays.

Use the Direct Jump function to select a display

In each Edit screen, a Screen Number is displayed at the left of the screen name. By assigning the screen numbers of frequently-used displays to the Function buttons, you can jump directly to any desired display.

* Displays in the Edit menu do not have a screen number.

Direct Jump

JUMP	to	scree	en	2	3.Rh	Jthm	Com	mon
			i.KB					
		•		t Set CTRL				
		F4:	4.MI	DICTR	L Mar	>		
ŧŧ	1	F5:	5. 11	TUO IO # 3	#	4	#	5

1 Press USER .



To cancel without jumping, press EXIT

- *In the Orig.Tone (PCM) Play or ROM Play displays, pressing USER will not access the Jump display.
- *It is not possible to Jump to a display which has no screen number.

How to set a Jump Destination

	JUMP S	etting	23.R	hythm Co	ommon	
	Select # 1	F1: 1.KI F2: 2.P2 F3: 3.If F4: 4.MI F5: 5.MI		P	# 5	
	Display the de	sired screen.	n An an Anna Anna Anna An Anna Anna Anna			
:	∗lt is not poss	sible to assign a dis	splay which has no) screen numt	ber.	
]. (The Upper rig e about to assign.)	ht of the display	will show the	e number a	nd name of the
3	Press WRITE	. (The Jump Set	ling display will ap	pear.)		
	Press the Fun	ction button (F1]— [F5]) you wi	sh to assign.	To cancel wi	ithout assigning,
,	After the assign	ment has been made,	you will return to t	he display whic	ch was assigne	ed.

To return to the previous higher level press EXIT

Edit mode is organized in a tree-like structure, and pressing EXIT will return you to the previous higher level.

To return to the Edit menu press EDIT When you press EDIT, you will return to the Edit menu display.

3. How to Modify Settings

This section will explain how to modify parameter settings in the selected editing display.

Basic procedure to modify settings

Use $\land / \checkmark / \checkmark / \checkmark / \checkmark$ to move the cursor to the location of the parameter you wish to modify, and use $\boxed{\text{INC}} / \boxed{\text{DEC}}$ or $\boxed{\text{MALUE}}$ to modify the value.

How to enter characters

When entering a name for a Performance, Patch, Tone, or Tx Channel (MIDI Channel), you can select characters using the following buttons. (The characters are printed in grey below each button.)

CAPS	PATCH SPACE	TONE A B	λ/B C D	E F	COMMAND G H		ENTER K L
			8AN	iк			
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
<u>۲</u>	0 P 2	0 R 3	\$T	U ¥	- W	9 X	С Р 8 0 Y
 1 Z	2 /	3+	4 # NUM	5 ±	6.	7,	8!

Use $[\Lambda]/[V]/[]/[]$ to move the cursor to the location where you wish to input the character, and press a button to select a character. The characters will change each time you press the button.

CAPS:	Switch between upper case and lower case characters. Upper case
	characters are selected when the indicator is lit.
SPACE:	Enter a space.
INS:	Insert a space and push the following characters back.
DEL:	Delete a character and pull the following characters forward.

You can also select characters using WALUS.

(space) A − Z a − z 0 − 9 − / + * # . , !

Edit using the Tone Palette Sliders

While you are in an editing display, up to four parameters of each display can be assigned to sliders, allowing you to edit by moving the sliders.

Parameters can be edited even when the cursor is located at a different parameter. It is also possible to to cancel the parameter assignments.

* In Edit mode, the Tone Palette Buttons will not function.

To assign a slider

*Only parameters can be assigned. It is not possible to assign the following parameters.

- · Zone, Split Point, Source Key, Mute
- Name
- · Orig.Media, Orlg.Number
- Controller Map





As shown below, dots will appear in the display at the left of the parameter or value. The number (1 - 4) of these dots indicates the number of the Tone Palette Slider (1 - 4). This indicates which parameter has been assigned to each Tone Palette Slider.

(Example)

To cancel a slider assignment

While pressing the TONE ZONE SELECT of the slider you wish to cancel, press EXIT.

Using TONE	ZONE SELECT
	You can use TONE ZONE SELECT to do the following.
	●For each Section of the Tone Palette; mute the Tone
	The TONE/ZONE SELECT buttons $1 - 4$ correspond respectively to each Section (L-1 - U-4) of the Tone Palette.
	* Do not press two or more TONE ZONE SELECT buttons at the same time.
●To mute a Tone	In an editing display, you can mute the Tone of the Patch (each Section of the Tone Palette) of the Part selected in the display.
	Press the <u>TONE/ZONE SELECT</u> that corresponds to the Tone you wish to mute. When a Tone is muted, the button indicator will go out.
	[Performance Edit display]
	Mute the Tone of the Patch of the Part selected in the 2.Part Setting display.
	* Muting is not possible if the Rhythm Part is selected.
	[Patch Edit display]
	Mute the Tone of the Patch of the Part selected in the 8.Patch Common display.
	[Tone Edit display]
	Mute the Tone of the Patch of the Part selected in the 14.Tone PRM display.
	[System Setup display]
	Mute the Tone of the Patch of the Part selected in the 8.Patch Common display.
	* You cannot mute a Tone in the Rhythm Setup display.
●To select a Tone	A Tone can be selected for each Section of the Patch of the Part selected in the editing display $(\square P.91)$.
● To change Sections	In the Tone Edit display, you can move to editing another Section. While pressing the <u>TONE/ZONE SELECT</u> for the Section you wish to edit, press <u>EDIT</u> .
● To change Key Num	nbers
	In the Rhythm Setup display, you can move to editing another Key Number.
	While pressing a certain TONE ZONE SELECT, press the key you wish to edit.

How to select Performances, Patches, and Tones

In Edit mode, the display shows the Performances, Patches, and Tones that were selected in Play mode and are now in the Temporary area.

You can also select these from inside Edit mode, but if you do so, remember that the Performance, Patch, and Tone data in the Temporary area will be lost ($rac{p.78}$).

Performances, Patches, or Tones can be selected while viewing the respective List display.

To select Performances

Press PERFORMANCE to get the Performance List display.

Use the INT/CARD, BANK and NUMBER to select, being sure to press NUMBER last. To return to the display from which you opened the List display, press EXIT.

- *If you are already in Jump, Write or Command display, pressing <u>PERFORMANCE</u> will not take you to the List display. You must first press <u>EXIT</u> to return to the previous display, and then press <u>PERFORMANCE</u>.
- *When you select a Performance on a RAM card, the indicator of INT/CARD will be lit.

To select Patches Press PATCH to get the Patch List display.

Use the A/B, BANK, and NUMBER to select, being sure to press NUMBER last. To return to the display from which you opened the List display, press EXIT.

[Performance Edit display]

Patch List of the Part selected in the 2.Part Setting display.

* The List display cannot be accessed if the Rhythm Part is selected.

[Patch Edit display]

Patch List of the Part selected in the 8.Patch Common display.

[Tone Edit display]

Patch List of the Part selected in the 14.Tone PRM display.

[System Setup display]

Patch List of the Part selected in the 8.Patch Common display.

* You cannot change Patches in the Rhythm Setup display.

*If you are already in Jump, Write or Command display, pressing PATCH will not take you to the List display. You must first press EXIT to return to the previous display, and then press PATCH.

• To select Tones While pressing the desired TONE/ZONE SELECT, press TONE to get the Tone List display

for the specified Section. Use the A/B, BANK, and NUMBER to select, being sure to press NUMBER last. To return to the display from which you opened the List display, press EXIT.

[Performance Edit display]

Tone List of the Section pressed in the Patch of the Part selected in the 2.Part Setting display.

* The List display cannot be accessed If the Rhythm Part is selected.

[Patch Edit display]

Tone List of the Section pressed in the Patch of the Part selected in the 8.Patch Common display.

[Tone Edit display]

Tone List of the Section pressed in the Patch of the Part selected in the 14.Tone PRM display.

[System Setup display]

Tone List of the Section pressed in the Patch of the Part selected in the 8.Patch Common display.

* You cannot change Tones in the Rhythm Setup display.

* If you are in the Jump, Write or Command display, pressing <u>TONE</u> while holding <u>TONE ZONE SELECT</u> will not enter the List display. You must first press <u>EXIT</u> to return to the previous display, and then press <u>TONE</u> while holding <u>TONEZONE SELECT</u>.

How to use SOLO and PORTAMENTO

Solo or Portamento settings for the Patch selected by the KB PART can be simultaneously switched for both Lower and Upper (rar P.109).

SOLO You can press SOLO to make Key Assign settings (Poly, Solo) for both Lower and Upper simultaneously. Each time you press the button, the setting will alternate between Poly and Solo. When Solo is selected, the SOLO indicator will light.

- * This will always determine the Key Assign setting of the KB PART, and will not affect the Patch of the Part selected in the Edit display.
- * If the KB PART is Rhythm or Off, it is not possible to switch between Solo and Poly.

PORTAMENTO You can press PORTAMENTO to make Portamento settings (On, Off) for both Lower and Upper simultaneously. Each time you press the button, the setting will alternate between On and Off. When the Key Assign is Solo, and Portamento is On, the PORTAMENTO indicator will light.

- * This will always determine the Portamento setting of the KB PART, and will not affect the Patch of the Part selected in the Edit display.
- * If the KB PART is Rhythm or Off, it is not possible to switch Portamento On/Off.

4. PCM Cards

PCM Cards (SN - SPLA series, SN - U110 series; sold separately) are for reading only. It is not possible to rewrite the data of a PCM Card.

- *The D 70 cannot use sound library ROM Cards for other D series models (D 5/10/20/ 50/110/550) (PN - D10 series or PN - D50 series).
- * The D 70 cannot use the following data of the SN U110 series.
 - · LATIN SETUP and F.X. SETUP from Card SN U110-02 (Latin & F.X. Percussion)
 - 28.N.DANCE from Card SN U110-08 (Synthesizer)
 - The Card SN U110-10 (Rock Drums)

How to insert a PCM Card

Each separately sold PCM Card of the SN - SPLAscries or SN - U110 series has a unique number. After checking the Card number, and making sure that the Card is oriented correctly, insert it all the way into the slot. You can insert the Card into either slot A or B, and use two types of Card at once.



- *While playing, leave the Cards inserted. Removing or inserting a Card while playing can cause malfunctions.
- * Never insert a PCM Card into the RAM Card slot. Doing so can cause malfunctions.

5. Selecting an Original Tone

To select an Original Tone, specify the Original Tone Media (bank), and specify the Original Tone Number (\$\$\varphi\$P.114, 129).

Internal memory contains three Original Tone media. In addition to those provided in Internal memory, you can also use Original Tones from SN - SPLA series Cards for the D - series and sound library Cards for the U - series (SN - U110 series). (The Card number will be the Original Tone Media.)

The Original Tone Number you specify must not exceed the number of Original Tones contained in the Original Tone Media.

* If the specified Card is not inserted, there will be no sound.

* If you select a different Original Tone, only the PCM wave of the Original Tone will change. If you wish to read the Original Tone's parameters as well, use the Tone Command Orig.Tone PRM (P.158, 163). However this Command cannot be used for the Rhythm Tone.

6. Points to Remember While Editing

When editing, please be aware of the following points.

Editing a Part The keyboard will always play the KB PART settings. Since you can select Parts while in the edit display, the part being edited may not necessarily be the same as the part played by the keyboard. To check the sound of the Part you are editing, set the KB PART to that Part, or play the Part via MIDI (\$\sigma\$ P.66, 67, 96, 98).

The currently edited Part and the KB PART will be shown in the display as follows.



- •You can select Parts in the Performance Edit, Patch Edit, and Tone Edit displays. However if you select a Part in a certain display, the other displays will switch to the selected Part. Also, if the Rhythm Part is selected in the Performance Edit display, this will switch to Part 1 when you move to either a Patch Edit or Tone Edit display.
- Controllers (Pitch Bender Lever, etc.) and SOLO and PORTAMENTO affect the KB PART, not the Part selected in the display. (If the KB PART is set to Rhythm or Off, controllers will have no effect.)
- Editing a Tone Patch parameters have an effect on how Tones will sound; i.e., the four Tones will sound as determined by the Patch parameters for Key Mode, Velocity Mode, Zone, Cutoff, etc. They will also be affected by the position of the Brightness slider and the condition of other controllers (Controller map settings, the position of the controllers, etc.).

You can edit only the Tone of the Section that is selected in the display. The other three Tones cannot be edited. To select the Section, either move the cursor, or hold the <u>TONE/ZONE SELECT</u> of the Section you wish to edit and then press <u>EDIT</u>. If you wish to mute the other Tones, press <u>TONE/ZONE SELECT</u> to turn Off the Tone of each Section.

Using Write or Command

If you wish to write the edited data into memory area, or execute an editing command, press WRITE or COMMAND to get a special display for that purpose. For details refer to chapter 4 (57 P.149).

3 FUNCTIONS OF EACH DISPLAY (EDIT MODE)

Performance Edit

1. KB PRM

1.KB FRM	*I:11(1)Hvy Guitar
	Name Guitar
[C1/Exp Pedal] [Function	Value Destination
LFO TVF Pitch	100 Lower -12semi Both
KB PRM PartSet	CTRLC MIDIC Effect

Make settings for Keyboard parameters (Performance Name, KB PART, Keyboard Parameter Controllers).

Name	(Performance Name) <	Performance parameter>
	Specify a ten-character n	ame for the Performance. (CP P.87)
KB PART	(Keyboard Part) <perform< th=""><th>nance parameter></th></perform<>	nance parameter>
	This determines the Part 1	hat the keyboard will play. If this is set Off, the keyboard will not play any Part.
[Settings]	[1] — [5], [R], [Off]	
Controller Map ····		
Controller Name	Select Controllers for whi	ch you wish to set the Controller Map.
	[C1/Exp Pedal], [Pedal	sw] .
	Channel (CP.137), When a MIDI Contro	t Change message Data Entry (control change number 6) is received on the Control it will have the effect specified by the Controller Map settings of C1/Exp Pedal. I Change message of General Purpose Controller no.5 (control change number 80) Control Channel (σ P.137), it will have the effect specified by the Controller Map
	-	and data (Patch or Tone), controllers may have no effect. Check the parameters of
Function	<performance parameter=""></performance>	
	Select the function of the	controller.
	* It is not possible to se	elect the same function twice.
	♦ When the Cont	roller is C1/Exp Pedal
(Settings)	(Pitch Bend)	Adjust the pitch.
	[TVF Cutoff]	Adjust the cutoff frequency.
	[TVA Level]	Adjust the volume.
	[LFO Pitch]	Adjust pitch modulation (vibrato).
	[LFO TVF]	Adjust cutoff frequency modulation (growl).
	[LFO TVA]	Adjust volume modulation (tremolo).
	[Portamento Time]	Adjust the Portamento time.

÷*		♦ When the	Controller is Pedal SW	· .
	**			
	[Settings]	[LFO Pitch]	Adjust pitch modulation (vibrato).	
		[LFO TVF]	Adjust cutoff frequency modulation (growi).	
		[LFO TVA]	Adjust volume modulation (tremolo).	
		[Octave Up]	Raise the pitch one octave.	
		[Octave Down]	Lower the pitch one octave.	·
Value		<performance param<="" td=""><td>sier></td><td></td></performance>	sier>	
		Specify the range	of the controller.	
		* If the controlle	er is the Pedal SW, there is no need to set the Value.	
		♦ When the	function is Pitch	
		Make settings in s	semi-tones (half steps). Positive (+) settings allow the controller to raise the pitch,	and negative (-)
		settings allow the	controller to lower the pitch.	
	[Settings]	[- 12 semi-tones	s] — [+12 semi-tones]	
		♦ When the	function is other than Pitch	
		Specify how great	ly the controller will control the effect. A setting of 127 allows maximum control.	
	[Settings]	[0] — [127]		
		*When the fun	action is of Portamento Time, you do not need to set the value for it.	
Destination		<periormance param<="" td=""><td>eters</td><td></td></periormance>	eters	
		Specify which See	ctions of the Tone Palette (Lower/Upper) will be affected by the controller.	
	[Settings]	[Lower]	The controller will affect L-1 and L-2.	
		[Upper]	The controller will affect U-3 and U-4.	
		[Both]	The controller will affect all L-1 U-4.	
		[Off]	The controller will affect neither Section.	

•

~

2. Part Setting

2.Part Setting Extend	1)HVY Guitar
[Part []/1]	
RX CHOff Ef	fect·····off
*811(1)8.Piano An	alog Feel127
Output Level++++127 P.;	Change Rx On
Zone••••C#−1↔F#7 Vo	lume RxOff
Priority******* On	1
KB PRM PartSet CTRLC	MIDIO Effect

Specify how the Patch/Rhythm Setup of a Part/Rhythm Part will be played.

Part Number	Select the Part you wish to edit. The KB PART is displayed as the denominator, and will be shown as "-" when turned Off.			
	[1] — [5], [R]			
Rx CH	(Receive Channel) <performance parameter=""></performance>			
	Specify the channel on which to receive MIDI messages.			
[Settings]				
	* if you turn Off unused Parts, MIDI response will be faster.			
	*It is more efficient to make channel settings in the CH Setting display (CPP.157, 162).			
Patch Select	<performance parameter=""></performance>			
	Select the Patch to be played by the Part.			
[Settings]				
	*For Internal Performances, select Internal Patches. For RAM Card Performances, select RAM Card Patches (CP.36).			
	*This can also be selected via MIDI Program Change messages (σ P.50). Turn On the P.Change Rx of the Part.			
	* This cannot be set for the Rhythm Part.			
Output Level	<performance parameters<="" td=""></performance>			
	Specify the volume of the Part.			
[Settings]	[0] [127]			
	* This can be changed via MIDI Volume messages. Turn On the Volume Rx of the Part.			
Zone	<performance parameter=""></performance>			
	Specify the Zone of the Part.			
[Settings]	[C-1] — [G9]			
Priority	<performance parameter=""></performance>			
	When the maximum 30 voices are exceeded, this determines whether or not to turn off the sound currently playing in			
	the part. "On" will retain the sound, while "Off" will turn off the sound. Even when the Priority is set to On, the sound			
	which takes on Release or Hold will be turned off.			
[Settings]	(On), (Off)			

Effect	<performance parameter=""></performance>		
	Specify whether or not the Effector will be applied to the four Tones of the Part. When this is turned On, the effector		
	will be applied as specified in Output Assign (\$7.112). For the Rhythm Part, this setting determines whether or not the effector will be applied to the Rhythm Tone of each		
	key. When this is turned On, the effector will be applied as specified by the Output Assign settings for the Rhythm		
	Tone of each key (σ P.131).		
[Settings]	[On], [Off]		
	* If the System Setup parameter Pedal SW is set to Effector, the Effect will be applied to the Part only while the pedal is On (クP.138).		
Analog Feel	«Parformance parameter»		
	Specify how greatly the feel (pitch variation, etc.) of an analog synthesizer will be simulated. A setting of 127 produces		
	the maximum effect.		
[Settings]	[0] — [127]		
	* This cannot be set for the Rhythm Part.		
P.Change Rx	(Program Change receive switch) <performance parameter=""></performance>		
-	Specify whether or not the Part will receive MIDI Program Change messages. When this is set On, they will be received.		
[Settings]	[On], [Off]		
	* This cannot be set for the Rhythm Part.		
Volume Rx	(Volume receive switch) <performance parameter=""></performance>		
	Specify whether or not the Part will receive MIDI Volume messages. When this is set On, they will be received.		
[Settings]	[On], [Off]		

3. Int CTRL Map

٠

3.Int CTRL Map 2 [Part 1/1]	*I:11(1)	Hvy Guitar
[Part []/1]		
<u>[Bender]</u>		
Function	Value	Destination
(Pitch)	-36+++12	Both
KE PRM PartSet		AIDIO Effect
RD FRM Far Coec	└┉╴┇┠ <u>╎</u> ┟┉┟┉┠╝╏ <mark>┇</mark>	

Specify Controller Map settings for a Synthe Part.

Part Number	Select the Part you wish to edit. The KB PART is displayed as the denominator, and will be shown as "-" when turned Off. [1] [5]
Controller Name	Select the controller for which you wish to set the Controller Map. [Bender], [A.Touch], [Modulation], [Hold Pedal]
	 When MIDI messages of Bender, Channel Aftertouch, Modulation, or Hold are received on the MIDI Channel of a Synthe Part, the result will depend on the Controller Map settings. Depending on the sound data (Patch or Tone), controllers may have no effect. Check the parameters of the sound data (\$\sigma P.107, 114).

Function <Performance parameter> Specify the functions for the controller *It is not possible to select the same function twice. *The Hold Pedal has one function. When the Controller is Bender [Settings] [(Pitch Bend)] Adjust the pitch. The function is fixed at pitch. [TVF Cutoff] Adjust the cutoff frequency. [TVA Level] Adjust the volume. [LFO Pitch] Adjust pitch modulation (vibrato). [LFO TVF] Adjust cutoff frequency modulation (growi). [LFO TVA] Adjust volume modulation (tremolo). When the Controller is A.Touch or Modulation [Settings] [Pitch Bend] Adjust the pitch. [TVF Cutoff] Adjust the cutoff frequency. [TVA Level] Adjust the volume. [LFO Pitch] Adjust pitch modulation (vibrato). [LFO TVF] Adjust cutoff frequency modulation (growi). [LFO TVA] Adjust volume modulation (tremolo). When the Controller is Hold Pedal [Settings] [(Hold)] Sustain the sound. [(Sostenuto)] The notes that were already pressed before the pedal was pressed will be sustained, but notes played later will not be sustained. * The System Setup parameter Hold Pedal determines whether Hold or Sostenuto is used (CP.138). Value <Performance parameter> Specify the range of the controller. * If the controller is the Hold Pedal, there is no need to set the Value. When the function is Pitch If the Controller is Bender, one of the functions will be fixed at Pitch. An arrow will be displayed at Value. The number at left indicates the pitch change when the Bender Lever is moved fully left. The number at right indicates the pitch change when the Bender Lever is moved fully right. These values are in semi-tone steps. Positive (+) settings allow the bender to raise the pitch, and negative settings (-) allow the bender to lower the pitch. [Settings] [-48 semi-tone] - [0 semi-tone] value for when the bender is moved left [0 semi-tone] --- [+12 semi-tone] value for when the bender is moved right Por other controllers, this can be specified in semi-tone steps. Positive (+) settings allow the controller to raise the pitch, and negative settings (-) allow the controller to lower the pitch. [Settings] [-12 semi-tone] - [+12 semi-tone]

When the function is other than Pitch

Specify how greatly the controller will control the effect. A setting of 127 allows maximum control. [Settings] [0] - [127]

Destination		<performance parameter=""> Specify which Sections of the Tone Palette (Lower/Upper) will be affected by the controller.</performance>		
	[Settings]	(Lower)	The controller will affect L-1 and L-2.	
		[Upper]	The controller will affect U-3 and U-4.	
		[Both]	The controller will affect all L-1 — U-4.	
		[Off] ·	The controller will have no effect.	

4. MIDI CTRL Map

.

4.MIDI	CTRL Map	*1:11(.1)	lvy Guitar	Specify the Control Map for MIDI OUT.
CMIDI C	LTU			
Bender]			
Functio			Destination	
C.Chg	7/Volume		-ower Both	
KB PRM	PartSet	CTRL M	DID Effect	
Controller	Name	Select the controller for	which you wish to set the Co	niroller Map.
		[Bender], [A.Touch], [Modulation], [C1/Exp Peda	al), [Pedal SW], [Hold Pedal]
Function		<performance parameter=""></performance>		
		Specify the functions fo	r the controller.	
		•	•	
		skilt is not possible to	select the same function t	wice -
		*The Hold Pedal has		
		The nois regards		
		When the Cor	ntroller is Bender	
	[Settings]	[(Bender)]	The controller will transformed to the second secon	ansmit Pitch Bend messages. The function is fixed at Pitch
		[C.Chg 0] (C.Chg 9	•	ransmit Control Change messages. The function name is the number. A display of " $$ " indicates that the control
			number has not yet l	been defined.
		[After Touch]	The controller will tra	nsmit Channel Aftertouch messages.
i.				
		When the Cor	ntroller is A.Touch, I	Modulation, or C1/Exp Pedal
	[Settings]	[C.Chg 0] [C.Chg 9	5) The controller will t	ransmit Control Change messages. The function name is
			shown at the right of	the number. A display of " " indicates that the control
			number has not yet t	
		[Bender Up]		Insmit Pitch Bender messages to raise the pitch.
		[Bender Down]		Insmit Pitch Bender messages to lower the pitch.
		[After Touch]	i ne controller will tra	insmit Channel Aftertouch messages.

		♦ When the Cont	roller is Pedal SW
	[Settings]	[C.Chg 0] — [C.Chg 85]	The controller will transmit Control Change messages. The function name is shown at the right of the number. A display of " $$ " indicates that the control number has not yet been defined.
		♦ When the Cont	roller is Hold Pedal
	[Settings]	[(C.Chg 84/Hold-1)]	The controller will transmit Hold messages. The function is fixed at Hold.
Value		In the case of a MIDI OUT	r controller, there is no need to set the value.
Destination		<performance parameter=""></performance>	
		Specify how the controller	will be assigned to the Sections of the MIDI Palette (Lower/Upper).
	[Settings]	[Upper] The co	ontroller will affect L-1 and L-2. ontroller will affect U-3 and U-4.
			ontroller will affect all L-1 — U-4. ontroller will affect none of the Sections.
5 MIDL		•	

 S.MIDI OUT
 *I:11
 1)Hvy Guitar

 Velo Curve····1
 L
 U

 Velo Sens··· 127
 Velo Mode
 Norm

 Key Mode··· Split
 Threshold
 100

 Split
 Point··C#2
 100

Make setting for MIDI OUT.

Velo Curve

KB PRM PartSet

(Velocity Curve) <Performance parameters

CTRLO | MIDIO Effect

Specify the way in which keyboard dynamics (velocity) will affect the volume. This setting applies to all four Sections of the MIDI Palette.

[Settings] [1]-[4]





6. MIDI Palette

6. MIDI Pelette *I:11(1>HU9 Guitar XPose CH +24 11 L-1 +24 13 U-3 Vol Zone 127 C#-1↔6 9 127 C#-1↔6 9 PG# MIDI 1(a11> 0ff 93(b45> 0n XPose CH +24 12 L-2 +24 14 U-4 VOl Zone 127 C#-1↔6 9 127 C#-1↔6 9 PG# MIDI 100(b54> 0ff 126(b86> 0ff KB PEN PartSet CTRLCD NINICO Effect

Make settings for each Section of the MIDI Palette.

Xpose		(Transpose) <performance parameter=""></performance>
		The pitch played on the external MIDI sound source can be transposed relative to the key number of the D-70
		keyboard. The MIDI Note message that is transmitted will be shifted by the number of semi-tones specified by this
		setting.
	[Settings]	(-24 semi-tone) — [+24 semi-tone]
Vol		(MIDI Volume) <performance parameter=""></performance>
		Specify the MIDI Volume message that will be transmitted when you select the Performance.
	[Settings]	[0] — [127]
		* If the System Setup parameter MIDI Link is turned Off, MIDI Volume messages will not be transmitted
		when you select Performances ($\bigcirc P.138$).
		* To transmit MIDI Volume in realtime, refer to P.39 and P.69.
PG #		(Program Change Number) <performance parameter=""></performance>
		Specify the Program Change Number that will be transmitted when you select the Performance.
	[Settings]	[1 (a11)] — [128 (b88)]
		* If the System Setup parameter MIDI Link is turned Off, MIDI Program Change messages will not be
		transmitted when you select Performances (CP.138).
		* To transmit MIDI Program Change messages in realtime, refer to P.46.
СН		(Transmission Channel) <pertomance parameter=""></pertomance>
		Specify the transmission channel of each Section.
	[Settings]	[1] [16]
		* It is more efficient to modily the channel in the CH Setting display (σ P.157, 162).
		A to more employed the mean of the on Searny display (D F.157, 102).
Zone		<performance parameter=""></performance>
		Specify the Zone that will be used when Key Mode is set to Zone (OP.30).
	[Settings]	[C-1][G9]
MIDI		<performance parameter=""></performance>
		Specify whether or not to transmit MIDI messages. If this is turned Off, no MIDI messages will be transmitted.
	[Settings]	[On], [Off]

7. Effector

7.Effect		<u>*I:11(1</u> horus	Huy Guitar Make settings for the effector (Reverb, Chorus).	
Type		Pe	Leve] 12	
Cross D		nort Delay t Mode	Delay 30 Rate 20	
Level		ost Reverb		
Feedback	31		Feedback -13	
KE PEN	Partoet			
Reverb	• • • • • • • • •		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	
Туре		(Reverb/Delay Ty	00) <performance parameter=""></performance>	
		Select the type of Reverb/Delay.		
	[Settings]	[Room 1] [Roon	n 3], [Hail 1], [Hall 2], [Gate], [Delay], [Cross Delay]	
		Room 1—3	Well-defined and spacious reverb	
		Hall 1, 2	Slower reverb, with greater depth than Room	
		Gate	Gated (sharply muted) reverb	
			Conventional delay	
		Delay Crean Delay	Delayed repeats are panned to left and right	
		Cross Delay	Delayed repeats are painted to reit and right	
Time		• •	08) <performance parameter=""></performance>	
		Specify the time length of the reverberation.		
	(Settings)	[0] — [31]		
		*When the Type	is Delay or Cross Delay, this setting determines the Delay Time.	
Level		(Reverb/Delay Level) <performance parameter=""></performance>		
			of the reverberant (delayed) sound.	
	[Settings]	[0] — [31]		
The set is a site				
Feedback		<performance paramet<="" td=""><td></td></performance>		
	TO-Mines]	Specify the number of delayed repeats.		
	[Settings]	[0] — [31]		
		* This softing is y	ralid only when the Type is Delay or Cross Delay.	
		- The second is a		
Chorus				
Туре		(Chorus/Flanger	Type) <performance parameter=""></performance>	
.,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		Select the type of C		
	[Settings]		us 2], [FB-Chorus], [Flanger], [Short Delay]	
		Chorus1	A spacious and rich effect	
		Chorus2	A deep ensemble effect, especially good for making strings richer	
		FB-Chorus	An effect mid-way between chorus and flanger	
		Flanger	A unique effect in which overtones change dramatically, especially effective for Tones containing many upper partials, such as HEAVY.EG	
		Short Delay	Short delayed repeats	
				

(3) THE FUNCTIONS OF EACH DISPLAY (EDIT MODE)


Patch Edit

8. Patch Common

Make settings for Patch Common data (parameters that affect the entire Patch).

Select the Part you wish to edit. The KB PART is displayed as the denominator, and will be displayed as "-" if turned
Off.
[1]—[5]
(Patch Name) <patch parameter=""></patch>
Specify a 10-character name for the Patch (σ P.87).
<patch parameter=""></patch>
Specify the level of the Patch. This setting will apply to all four Tones of the Tone Palette.
[0] — [127]
<patch parameters<="" td=""></patch>
Specify how volume will be affected by keyboard dynamics (velocity). This setting will apply to all four Tones of the
Tone Palette.
[1] [4]
1 2 3 4
Playing strength Playing strength Playing strength Playing strength
(Velocity Sensitivity) <patch parameter=""></patch>
Specify how greatly volume will be affected by keyboard dynamics (velocity). This setting will apply to all four Tones
of the Tone Palette. With a setting of 127, velocity will have the maximum effect on volume.
[0] — [127]
When Velo Sens is 0 When Velo Sens is 127
The Envelope is the same regardless of velocity Time Softly played (low velocity) Time

Key Mode	<patch parameter=""> Specify how the four Tones will be played (CPP.27). [Layer]. [Split]. [Zone]</patch>
Split Point [Setting	«Patch parameter» Specify the Split Point which will be used when the Key Mode is Split (\$\mathcal{O}\$ P.27). (C-1) [G9]
	* The key of the Split Point belongs to the Lower Section.
9. Patch L/I	J PRM
[Part 1/11[SP Velo Mode N Threshold Key Assign P	XALLA.Piano Make settings for Lower and Upper sections of the 1it] Porta Off On 0rm Mix Porta Off On 100 100 P. Mode Auto Norm 100 100 P. Mode Auto Norm 019 Solo P.Time 100 100 0ff On PortRx Off Off 0ff On Off Off Image: Constant of the test of the test of the test of test of the test of test
Part Number	Select the Part you wish to edit. The KB PART is displayed as the denominator, and will be displayed as "-" if turned Off. [1][5]
Key Mode	<patch parameters<br="">You can modify the Key Mode specified in the 8.Patch Common display.</patch>
Velo Mode [Settings	(Velocity Mode) «Patch parameter» Specify how keyboard dynamics (velocity) will play the 1st Tone and the 2nd Tone. [Normal], [SW], [Mix]
1st is indicated by 2nd is indicated by * These diagrams illust Normal	Switch Burgo
Threshold [Settings	(Threshold Sensitivity) «Patch parameter» Specify the velocity at which to switch from the 1st Tone to the 2nd Tone when the Velo Mode is SW or Mix. [0] — [127]

Key Assign	<patch parameter=""> Select Poly or Solo.</patch>
[Settings]	[Poly] play polyphonically [Solo] play monophonically
	*in Solo mode, when two or more keys are pressed simultaneously, the key pressed later will sound (last-note priority).
Solo Legato	<patch parameter=""> Select the Solo mode.</patch>
[Settings]	[On]Solo Legato (single triggering) will be used.[Off]Solo (normal, multiple triggering) will be used.
	Solo Legato: In this mode, if you play a note while the previous note is still pressed, the new note will continue the envelope of the previous note, allowing you to play smoothly without breaks in the sound.
	★The PCM Wave will be read from the beginning. ★Depending on the TVF and TVA settings, the result may not sound legato.
	Normal (Solo): In this mode, each note will re-trigger the envelope regardless of how you play, so that each note will have its own volume or tone envelope (pattern of change over time).
	* This setting has no effect unless Solo is selected.
	Solo Legato Key On the next Key On
	Normal (Solo) Key On the next Key On
Porta	
[Settings]	 When the Key Assign is Solo, you can use Portamento. [On] The pitch will change smoothly from one note to the next. [Off] There will be no Portamento effect.
	*Portamento is available only when the Key Assign is Solo. *MIDI messages can be used to switch Portamento on/off. Turn On the PortRx parameter for Lower or

* MIDI messages can be used to switch Portamento on/off. Turn On the PortRx parameter for Lower or Upper.

P.Mode		(Portamento Mode) <patch parameter=""></patch>
		Specify the Portamento Mode.
	[Settings]	[Auto] Portamento will be applied whenever you press a key while holding the previous key. When you
		press a key after releasing the previous key, Portamento will not be applied. This allows you to
		selectively use Portamento according to your playing style.
		[Norm] Portamento will be applied regardless of how you play.
		* If Portamento is not being used, the P.Mode setting has no effect.
P.Time		(Portamento Time) <patch parameter=""></patch>
		Specify the speed of pitch change caused by Portamento.
	[Settings]	[0] — [127]
		* If Portamento is not being used, the P.Time setting has no effect.
		* This can be changed via MIDI Portamento Time messages. Turn On the PortRx parameter for Lower or
		Upper.
PortRx		(Portamento, Portamento Time receive switch) <patch parameter=""></patch>
		Specify whether or not to receive MIDI Portamento and Portamento Time messages. If both Lower and Upper are
		turned On, they will be given the same Portamento settings.
	[Settings]	[On] Receive
		[Off] Ignore
		* Messages will be received on the channel of the Part which is playing the Patch.
Pan Rx		(Pan receive switch) <patch parameter=""></patch>
		Specify whether or not to receive MIDI Pan messages. If both Lower and Upper are turned On, they will be given the
		same pan settings.
	[Settings]	[On] Receive
,		[Off] Ignore
		*Pan settings can be made independently for each Section of the Tone Palette, but if a MIDI Pan message
		is received, the 1st Tone and the 2nd Tone will be given the same pan settings.
		* Messages will be received on the channel of the Part which is playing the Patch.

10. Palette L-1

10.Palette L-1 [Part 1/1][SPlit	*A11(JINOrMJ	DA.Piano)
*a11 8.Piano 1 Level127 K.Shift24semi F.Tune+50 P.BRMCPL-1	9t.t.ack••	-10 Tone -20 C#-	≥•••Off!

Make settings for each Section (L-1 — U-4) of the Tone Palette.

Make settings for 10.Palette L-1, 11.Palette L-2, 12.Palette U-3, and 13.Palette U-4 in each of their respective displays.

Part Number	Select the Part you wish to edit. The KB PART is displayed as the denominator, and will be displayed as "-" if turned Off. [1] [5]
Key Mode	<patch parameter=""></patch>
. •	You can modify the Key Mode setting of the 8. Patch Common display (σ P. 108).
Velocity Mode	<patch parameter=""></patch>
	You can modify the Key Mode specified in the 9.Patch L/U PRM display (🗢 P.108). The 10.Palette L-1 and 11.Palette
	L-2 displays will show the Velocity Mode for the Lower sections. The 12.Palette U-3 and 13.Palette U-4 displays will
	show the Velocity Mode for the Upper sections.
Tone Select	<patch parameter=""></patch>
	Select a Tone for each Section of the Tone Palette.
[Settings]	[a11] — [a88], [b11] — [b88]
	*Select Internal Patches and Tones for an Internal Performance, and select RAM Card Patches and Tones
	tor a RAM Card Performance (CPP.36).
Level	<patch parameter=""></patch>
	Specify the volume level of the Tone.
[Settings]	[0] [127]
K.Shift	(Key Shift) <patch parameter=""></patch>
	Specify a relative pitch adjustment for the Tone in steps of a semi-tone. When this parameter is set to 0, the pitch will
	be as specified by the Tone.
[Settings]	[-24 semi-tone] — [+24 semi-tone]
	*Tone parameters include Pitch Coarse (CP.116).
F.Tune	(Fine Tune) <pach parameter=""></pach>
	Specify a relative pitch adjustment for the Tone. A setting of 64 results in a change of a semi-tone. When this
	parameter is set to 0, the pitch will be as specified by the Tone.
(Settings)	[~64][+63]

*Tone parameters include Pitch Fine (OP.116).

-

Cutoff		<patch parameter=""></patch>	and a second	
			taff Branssoner of the Tone When i	
		Specify a relative adjustment to the TVF Cutoff Frequency of the Tone. When this parameter is set to 0, the cutoff frequency will be as specified by the Tone. Positive (+) settings result in a higher cutoff frequency.		
	[Settings]		siuve (+) settings result in a nigher ci	1011 Irequency.
	Toerrings]	[-64] — [+63]		
			· · · · ·	
		* There is also a Tone parameter Cutoff,	which specifies an absolute value	(CP.119).
Dees				
Reso		(Resonance) <patch parameter=""></patch>		
		Specify a relative adjustment to the TVF Reso		
		as specified by the Tone. Positive (+) setting	s will result in increased emphasis	of the frequency region around the
		Cutoff Frequency.		
	[Settings]	[-64] [+63]		
		* There is also a Tone parameter Resona	nce, which specifies an absolute	value (& P.120).
Attack		(Attack Time) <patch parameter=""></patch>		
		Specify a relative adjustment to the Attack Tin	e of the TVP and TVA of the Tone	When this parameter is set to 0, the
		Attack Time will be as specified by the Tone. F		
	[Settings]	[-64] — [+63]	undre (r) soungs an result in a su	a Auber Thire.
	10000000			
		* The Tone parameters for TVF and TVA	Envelopes specify absolute value	s (ଫP.123, 126).
Release		(Release Time) <patch parameter=""></patch>		
		Specify a relative adjustment to the Release T	ime of the TVF and TVA of the To	te. When this parameter is set to 0.
		the Release Time will be as specified by the To		
	[Settings]	[-64] — [+63]	·····	
		* The Tone parameters for TVF and TVA	Envelopes specify absolute value	s (CP .123, 128).
				······································
Out		(Output Assign) <patch parameter=""></patch>		
		Specify how effects will be applied to the Tone.		
	[Settings]	[Reverb], [Chorus], [Dry], [Direct]		
		francish farmanah farihit farani		
			MIX OUT	
			Reverb C L	output with Reverb
				effect
			MIX OUT	
			0 L	output with Chorus effect
				* Reverb can also be added (CP.106).
		Tone		
		~		
		Ŷ		output with no effect processing
			DIRECT OUT	
				output with no effect
				processing

Pan		<patch parameter=""></patch>		l) s	
	[Settings]	Specify the pan (stereo position) of the Tone. [7>] [><] [7<]	14. 14		
		*Pan can be specified by a MIDI Pan message. Turn On the Pan R sections (CP.110).	x paramet	er of the Lov	wer or Upp
		0 0 7>6>5>4>3>2>1>><<1<2<3<4<5<6<7 Left - Center - F		ti e t	
Tone		<patch parameters<br="">Specify whether or not to mute the Tone. If this parameter is set Off, the Tone v</patch>	vill be mute	d and will not	sound.
	[Settings]	[On] The Tone will sound. [Off] The Tone will be muted (will not sound):			
Zone		<patch parameters<br="">Specify the Zone that will be used when the Key Mode is Zone ($rac{P.27}$).</patch>			
	[Setting]	[C-1] [G9]			

Tone Edit

14. Tone PRM

14. Tone PRM Kais	(<u>1)A.Piano 1</u> J.Piano [L-1]
Tone Name Oris. Media Oris. Number Oris. Name (R.PI	ano 1 DLMOff I 1 ModeA i Start 2
T.PRM Pitch T	

Make settings for Tone parameters.

Part Number	Select the Part you wish to edit. The Patch of the selected Part will be displayed. The KB PART will be displayed as the denominator, and will be displayed as "-" if turned Off. [1] - [5]
Section	Select the Section you wish to edit. [L-1], [L-2], [U-3], [U-4]
	* You can also select a Section by holding <u>TONE/ZONE</u> SELECT for the Section you wish to edit and pressing EDIT.
Tone Name	-Tone parameter> A Tone can be given a 10-character name (\$\mathcal{TP.87}\$).
Orig. Media	(Original Tone Media) «Tone parameter» The Original Tone which is used will depend on two selections; the Original Tone Media and the Original Tone Number. This parameter specifies the Original Tone Media. Internal memory contains three Original Tone Media. In addition to this Internal data, you can use SN-SPLA series sound library Cards for the D-series, and U-series sound library Cards (SN-U110 series). (The Card number will be the Original Tone Media.)
[Settings]	 [I 1] [I 3] (Internal), [D 1] [D32] (SN-SPLA series), [U 1] [U32] (SN-U110 series) * The D - 70 cannot use the following data of the U-series sound library Cards. LATIN SETUP and F.X. SETUP from Card SN-U110-02 (Latin & F.X. Percussion) 28.N.DANCE from Card SN-U110-08 (Synthesizer) The Card SN-U110-10 (Rock Drums) * The D - 70 cannot use sound library ROM Cards for other D-series models (D-5/10/20/50/110/550) (PN-D10 series or PN-D50 series).
Orig. Number [Settings]	(Original Tone number) «Tone parameter» The Original Tone is determined by two parameters; the Original Tone Media and the Original Tone Number. Here you can select the Original Tone Number. [1] — [Number of Original Tones in the Media]
	 * The Original Tone Number must be within the range of the Original Tones actually contained in the selected Original Tone Media. * When you select the Original Tone from Tone Edit mode, only the PCM wave of the Original Tone will change. If you wish to change the Original Tone parameters as well, execute the Tone Command Orig.Tone PRM (CP.158, 163).

Orig. Name		(Original Tone Name)
		The name of the Original Tone is displayed, but cannot be edited.
DLM		(Differential Loop Modulation) <tons parameter=""></tons>
		This creates a change in the sound that is unlike PCM. Set this as desired. For normal sounds, you will leave this Off.
	[Settings]	[On] (DLM), [Off] (PCM)
		* If DLM is turned On, the pitch will be affected. Use the Pitch Coarse and Pitch Fine parameters to adjust the pitch (σP.116).
		*Some Tones which use DLM may not sound over the entire keyboard range. Also, for some DLM settings, there may be no sound.
		*A Tone created by using the DLM may cause unstable pitch around the Upper Limit (the highest pitch to
		be played) of the Original Tone. For details about the Upper Limit, see page 188.
Mode		(DLM Mode) <tone parameter=""></tone>
		Specify the DLM mode. Set this as desired.
	[Settings]	[A], [B]
Start		<tone parameter=""></tone>
		Specify the Start Point from which the PCM wave will be read.
	[Settings]	[0] [127]
Length		<tone parameter=""></tone>
-		Specify the length (Loop Length) to be read from the PCM Wave.
	[Settings]	[1] [128]

15. Tone Pitch

15.Tone P	litch	*a11(1>A.P;	ano	1
[Part 1/	<u>/1]*A11(</u>	<u>1>A.P</u>	ano		<u> [l – 1]</u>
P. Coarse	+12 DL	M	0ff	Tim	Depth
P.Fine · ·	+10 MO	derraa	- A A	0	0
P.KF····	⊦100% St	art	0 R	Ø	0
ENU KF	100% Le	ngth•••	127		
T.PRM	Pitch	TVF	ŤVF	4	LFO

Make parameter settings to determine the pitch.

Part Number

Select the Part you wish to edit. The Patch of the selected Part will be displayed. The KB PART will be displayed as the denominator, and will be displayed as "-" if turned Off.

[1]-[5]

Section

Select the Section you wish to edit. [L-1], [L-2], [U-3], [U-4]

*You can also select a Section by holding <u>TONE ZONE SELECT</u> for the Section you wish to edit and pressing <u>EDIT</u>.



ENV KF

(Envelope Time Key Follow) <Tone parameter> The Envelope Time (Attack and Release) can be made to change depending on key position.

[Settings] [-100%], [-50%], [0], [+10%], [+20%], [+30%], [+40%], [+50%], [+60%], [+70%], [+80%], [+80%], [+100%], [+110%], [+130%], [+150%]



* The adjustment is centered around the C4 key.

Pitch Envelope <Tone parameter> These parameters determine how the pitch will change over time. [Settings] Attack Time [0] - [127] Attack Depth $[-48], [-42], [-36], [-30], [-24], [-18], [-12] \rightarrow [-1], [-0.5], [-0.25], [0], [+0.25], [+0.5], [-0.5], [-0.25$ [+1] - [+12] semi-tone Release Time [0] -- [127] Release Depth [-48], [-42], [-36], [-30], [-24], [-18], [-12] - [-1], [-0.5], [-0.25], [0], [+0.25], [+0.5], [+1] --- [+12] semi-tone



16. Tone T

16.Tone T	TUF	×	kali(1>8.	Piar	<u>10 1</u>	
[Part 1.							[L-1]
Filter-	LFF	ENV	Depth	• +40		Tim	Lyl
Cutoff.	•• 20		Velo	• 127	Ĥ	12	127
Reso	• 40	TIME	E KF-		D/B		0
V.Curve	•• 1		Velo	• 30	D/S	50	127
KE	100%	F	<u>.Velo</u>	<u>- 20</u>		127	
T.PRM	Pitc	:h	TUF	1	rva	L	_FO

•

Make TVF settings.

Part Number	Select the Part you wish to edit. The Patch of the selected Part will be displayed. The KB PART will be displayed as the denominator, and will be displayed as "-" if Off. [1] [5]
Section	Select the Section you wish to edit.
	[L-1], [L-2], [U-3], [U-4]

* You can also select a Section by holding TONE/ZONE SELECT for the Section you wish to edit and pressing EDIT .



- * Remember that this is also affected by the position of the Brightness slider (σ P.22).
- * When the Filter is LPF, lower settings will result in a broader range of high frequencies being cut, and the sound will become similar to a sine wave. If this setting is too low, there will be no sound.
- * When the Filter is HPF, higher settings will result in a broader range of low frequencies being cut.
- * When the Filter is BPF, both the LPF and HPF filters will be applied.

Reso

(Resonance) <Tone parameters

Specify the Resonance as an absolute value. Higher settings will create a greater emphasis in the frequency area of the Cutoff Prequency (CP P.112).

[Setting] [0]-[127]

*When you play a chord with the Resonance set to a high value, the created sound may be distorted. If this happens, lower the level of the Tone Palette or level of the Tone. (see pages 111 and 124)





KF

The Cutoff Frequency can be made to change according to the key position. The display indicates the number of octaves of change per 12 notes.

[Settings] [-100%], [-75%], [-50%], [-25%], [0], [+10%], [+20%], [+30%], [+40%], [+50%], [+60%], [+70%], [+80%], [+80%], [+80%], [+100%], [+110%]

(Cutoff Frequency Key Follow) <Tone parameters







(Envelope Depth) <Tone parameter>

Specify the depth of the Envelope that controls Cutoff Frequency. Higher settings will result in deeper control. Positive (+) and negative (-) settings will invert the Envelope.

[Settings] [-64]-[+63]



(Envelope Depth Velocity Sensitivity) <Tons parameter>

Specify how greatly key velocity will affect Envelope Depth. Higher settings will allow velocity to have a greater effect.

[Settings] [0]-[127]









graphically. The solid line indicates the TVF Envelope, and the dashed line indicates the TVA Envelope. A vertical line is displayed at the key-off point, indicating the point at which the Release begins. When you move the cursor to a parameter other than an Envelope parameter, the graphic display will automatically disappear.

17. Tone TVA

II. IONE IVA	
17. Tone TVA	*a11(1)A. Piano 1 Make TVA settings
[Part 1/1]*A11	<u>(1)A. Piano</u> [L-1]
Level • • 127 T V. Curve • • 127 V. Sens • • • 127	IME KF• 0% Tim LU1 Velo• 0 R 80 127 R.Velo• 0 D/B 80 80 D/S 97 40 R 87
T.PRM Pitch	
Part Number	Select the Part you wish to edit. The Patch of the selected Part will be displayed. The KB PART will be displayed as
	the denominator, and will be displayed as "-" if turned Off.
	[1] — [5]
Section	Select the Section you wish to edit.
	[L-1], [L-2], [U-3], [U-4]
	*You can also select a Section by holding <u>TONE/ZONE</u> <u>SELECT</u> for the Section you wish to edit and pressing EDIT.
Level	<tone parameter=""></tone>
	Set the volume level of the voice.
[Settings]	
V. Curve	(Velocity Curve) <tons parameter=""></tons>
	Specify how volume will be affected by keyboard dynamics (velocity).
[Settings]	[1] — [4]
	1 2 3 4
	Playing strength Playing strength Playing strength A
V. Sens	(Velocity Sensitivity) <tone parameter=""></tone>
	Specify how greatly volume will be affected by keyboard dynamics (velocity). With a setting of 127, velocity will have
	maximum effect on volume.
[Settings]	[0] — [127]
	When V. Sens is 0 When V. Sens is 127
	The Envelope is the same regardless of velocity Strongly played (high velocity)
	Softiy played
	(low velocity)
	Time Time

•



[Settings] [-100%], [-50%], [0], [+10%], [+20%], [+30%], [+40%], [+50%], [+60%], [+70%], [+80%], [+80%], [+100%], [+100%], [+110%], [+110%], [+130%], [+150%]

* The adjustment is centered around the C4 key.



When TIME KF is +100%





(Envelope Time Velocity Sensitivity) <Tone parameter>

Envelope Time (Attack, Decay 1) can be made to change according to velocity. Higher settings will allow velocity to have a greater effect.

[Settings] [0





When you move the cursor to an Envelope parameter, the Envelope will automatically be displayed graphically. The solid line indicates the TVA Envelope, and the dashed line indicates the TVF Envelope. A vertical line is displayed at the key-off point, indicating the point at which the Release begins.

When you move the cursor to a parameter other than an Envelope parameter, the graphic display will automatically disappear.

18. Tone LFO

18.Tone LFO <u>IPart 1/17*All(</u> Waveform Tri.^ Rate Delay Time Rise Time Offset T.PRM Pitch	*a114 1>A.Piano 1 1>B.Piano EL-11 Make LFO settings. LFO settings allow you to apply modulation to the Pitch, TVF, and TVA. 80 TVF 12 TVF 13 Depth*** 14 Depth*** 15 TVF 16 TVF 17 TVF 17 TVF 17 TVF 17 TVF 17 TVF 17 TVF
Part Number	Select the Part you wish to edit. The Patch of the selected Part will be displayed. The KB PART will be displayed as the denominator, and will be displayed as "-" if turned Off. [1] [5]
Section	Select the Section you wish to edit. [L-1], [L-2], [U-3], [U-4] * You can also select a Section by holding <u>TONE/ZONE_SELECT</u> for the Section you wish to edit and pressing <u>EDIT</u> .
Waveform [Settings]	<tone parameter=""> Select the LFO waveform. [Triangle], [Sine], [Square], [Saw], [Random] Triangle Sine Square Saw Random $1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1$</tone>
Rate [Settings]	(LFO Rate) <tone parameter=""> Specify the speed of the LFO. Higher settings will result in faster modulation. [0] [127] Low Setting High</tone>
Delay Time [Settings]	<tone parameter=""> Specify the time from Key On (when you play the keyboard) to when modulation will begin to be applied. [0] [15]</tone>

[Settings] [0]-[15]



Rhythm Setup

19. Rhythm PRM

19.Rhythm PRM	***
CE11 Oris. Media Oris. Number 1	Mute····E#i Out···Reverb
Orig. Name (SNAREDRUM1)	Pan····›
R.PRN Pitch TVF	TVA Common

Make Rhythm parameter settings for the Rhythm Tone of each key.

Key Number	Select the Key Number you wish to edit.
[Settings]	[E1] — [G7]
	* You can also select a Key Number by holding a certain TONE ZONE SELECT and pressing a key.
Orig. Media	(Original Tone Media) <rhythm parameter="" setup=""></rhythm>
	This determines which Original Tone will be sounded by the key number you are editing. The Original Tone is selected
	by two parameters; the Original Tone Media and the Original Tone Number. Here you can select the Original Tone Media.
	Internal memory contains three Original Tone Media. In addition to this Internal data, you can use SN-SPLA series
	sound library Cards for the D-series, and U-series sound library Cards (SN-U110 series). (The Card number will be the
	Original Tone Media.)
[Settings]	[I 1] - [I 3] (Internal), [D 1] - [D32] (SN-SPLA series), [U 1] - [U32] (SN-U110 series)
	* The D - 70 cannot use the following data of the U-series sound library Cards.
	LATIN SETUP and F.X. SETUP from Card SN-U110-02 (Latin & F.X. Percussion)
	28.N.DANCE from Card SN-U110-08 (Synthesizer)
	The Card SN-U110-10 (Rock Drums)
	*The D-70 cannot use sound library ROM Cards for other D-series models (D-5/10/20/50/110/550)
	(PN-D10 series or PN-D50 series).
Orig. Number	(Original Tone Number) <rhythm parameter="" setup=""></rhythm>
	Select the Original Tone that will be played by the key number being edited. The Original Tone is determined by two
	parameters; the Original Tone Media and the Original Tone Number. Here you can select the Original Tone Number.
[Settings]	[1] [Number of Original Tones in the Media]
	*The Original Tone Number must be within the range of the Original Tones actually contained in the selected Original Tone Media.
	*When you select the Original Tone from Tone Edit mode, only the PCM wave of the Original Tone will change.
Orig. Name	(Original Tone Name)
	The name of the Original Tone is displayed, but cannot be edited.

Source	Key	<rhythm parameter="" selup=""></rhythm>
		Specify the Key at which the Original Tone selected for the Key Number of the currently edited Rhythm Setup will
	[Settings]	play. If this parameter is set to Off, the Rhythm Tone for that Key Number will be turned off, and will not sound. [Off], [C#-1] [G9]
		*Each Original Tone has an Upper limit to the pitches it can produce, and there will be no sound if this limit is exceeded. If you specify a Source Key that is beyond this limit, there will be no sound. For the pitch range of each Original Tone, refer to page 186.
		(Example) The Key Number of the currently edited Rhythm Setup is E2, and a Source Key of A2 has been specified.
		Key Number of the Rhythm Setup
		Key Number of the Original Tone (Source Key)
Mute		Rhythm Setup parameter>
		This function mutes the sound of the specified key.
	[Settings]	[E1] [G7] The sound of the specified key will be muted.
		[Off] Muting will not occur.
		(Example) An unnatural effect will be produced if both the Closed Hi-hat (F#2 key) and Open Hi-hat (A#2 key) sound together. In this case, set the F#2 key to mute the A#2 key, and set the A#2 key to
		mute F#2. With these settings, when one is played, the other will be turned off.
		The Open Hi-het sounds The Closed Hi-het sounds and the Open Hi-het is muted



20. Rhythm Pitch

	1
20 Rhythm Pitch	I 3/ 1/SNAREDRUM1/C 1
P.Coarse 0 P.Fine +13 R.PRM Pitch	Tim Depth Specify the Pltch for the Rhythm Tone of each key. R Ø Ø Ø TUF TUA
Key Number	Select the Key Number you wish to edit.
	[E1] — [G7]
	* You can also select a Key Number by holding a certain TONE/ZONE_SELECT and pressing a key.
P.Coarse	(Pitch Coarse) «Rhythm Setup parameter»
	Specify the pitch of the Rhythm Tone in semi-tone steps.
[Settings]	[-12 semi-tones] [+12 semi-tones]
P.Fine	(Pitch Fine) <rhythm persmets="" selup=""></rhythm>
	Specify the pitch of the Rhythm Tone in fine steps. A setting of 64 results in a semi-tone pitch change.
[Settings]	[-64][+63]
Pitch Envelope	<rhythm parameter="" setup=""></rhythm>
	The pitch can be made to change over time.
[Settings]	Attack Time [0] [127]
	Attack Depth [-48], [-42], [-36], [-30], [-24], [-18], [-12] — [-1], [-0.5], [-0.25], [0], [+0.25], [+0.5], [+1] [+12] semi-tone
-	Pitch + Attack (Depth) + Attack Depth 0 Attack Time

21. Rhythm TVF

.

21.Rhythm TVF	I 3/ 1/SNAREDRUM1/C 1 Set the TVF for the Rhythm Tone of each key. J Depth +40 Tim Lu1
Cutoff··· 20 Reso···· 50 V.Curve··1	Velo•• 0 A 82 127 D/B 50 127 D/S 50 127 R 127 TWF TWA Common
R.PRM Pitch	TUF TUA Common
Key Number	Select the Key Number you wish to edit. [E1] [G7]
	* You can also select a Key Number by holding a certain TONE/ZONE SELECT and pressing a key.
Filter	(Filter Mode) <rhythm parameter="" setup=""> Set the TVF Mode. The mode will determine the frequency range of the sound that will be heard (\square P.119).</rhythm>
[Settings]	[LPF] (Low Pass Filter)Begin cutting from the high frequency range.[HPF] (High Pass Filter)Begin cutting from the low frequency range.[BPF] (Band Pass Filter)Pass through only the specified frequency range.[Bypss] (Bypass)The filter will not be used.
Cutoff [Setting]	(Cutoff Frequency) <rhythm parameter="" salup=""> Specify the Cutoff Point for the entire TVF (\$\$\approx P.119). [0] - [127]</rhythm>
	 * Remember that this is also affected by the position of the Brightness slider (\$\sigma\$P.22). * When the Filter is LPF, lower settings will result in a broader range of high frequencies being cut, and the sound will become similar to a sine wave. If this setting is too low, there will be no sound. * When the Filter is HPF, higher settings will result in a broader range of low frequencies being cut. * When the Filter is BPF, both the LPF and HPF filters will be applied.
Reso [Setting]	(Resonance) «Rhythm Setup parameter» Specify the Resonance. Higher settings will create a greater emphasis in the frequency area of the Cutoff Frequency ($rac{P}$ P.120). [0] — [127]
	*When you play a chord with the Resonance set to a high value, the created sound may be distorted. If this happens, lower the level of the Rhythm Tone. (see pages 134)
V. Curve	(Velocity Curve) «Rhythm Setup parameter» Specify how keyboard dynamics (velocity) will affect the Envelope Depth (P.120). [1] — [4]
ENV Depth [Settings]	(Envelope Depth) «Rhythm Setup parameter» Specify the depth of the Envelope that controls Cutoff Frequency. Higher settings will result in deeper control. Positive (+) and negative (-) settings will invert the Envelope (CPP.121). [-64] — [+63]

ENV Depth Velo	(a) (1999) (a) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b	city Sensitivity) «Rhythm Setup parameter velocity will affect Envelope Depth. Hi		locity to have a greater effect
TVF Envelope	<rhythm parameter="" setup=""></rhythm>			
	The Culoir Fount can be i	nade to change over time (\$\$\mathcal{P}\$.123).		
[Settings]	Attack Time	[0] [127]		:
	Attack Level	[0] [127]		
	Decay 1 Time	[0] — [127]		
	Decay Break Point	[0] [127]		
	Decay 2 Time	[0] — [127]		
	Sustain Level	[0] [127]		
	Release Time	[0] — [127]		
	21.Rhythm T		REDRUM1/C 1 Tim LV1 A 82 127 D/B 50 127 D/S 50 127 R 127 VA Common	

When you move the cursor to an Envelope parameter, the Envelope will automatically be displayed graphically. The solid line indicates the TVF Envelope, and the dashed line indicates the TVA Envelope. A vertical line is displayed at the key-off point, indicating the point at which the Release begins. When you move the cursor to a parameter other than an Envelope parameter, the graphic display will automatically disappear.

22. Rhythm TVA

22.Rhythm TUA	I 3/ 1/SNREDRUM1/C 1 Make TVA settings for the Rhythm Tone of each key.
Level • 127 V. Curve 1.5	Tim LU1 A 0 127
V. Sens ••• 127	D/B 40 90 D/S 117 80
R.PRM Pitch	TVF TVA Common
	CONTROL -
Key Number	Select the Key Number you wish to edit.
	[E1] — [G7]
	* You can also select a Key Number by holding a certain TONE ZONE SELECT and pressing a key.
Level	<rhythm parameter="" setup=""></rhythm>
	Set the volume level.
(Settings)	[0] — [127]

V. Curve	(Velocity Curve) <rhythm parameter="" setup=""></rhythm>
	Specify how volume will be affected by keyboard dynamics (velocity) ($rac{r}P.124$).
[Settings]	[1] [4]
V. Sens	(Velocity Sensitivity) <8 hythm Setup perameter>
	Specify how greatly volume will be affected by keyboard dynamics (velocity). With a setting of 127, velocity will have
	maximum effect on volume (GP.124).
[Settings]	[0] — [127]
TVA Envelope	<rhythm parameter="" setup=""></rhythm>
	The volume can be made to change over time (CP .126).
Settings	Attack Time [0] — [127]
	Attack Level [0] [127]
	Decay 1 Time [0] [127]
	Decay Break Point [0] — [127]
	Decay 2 Time [0] [127]
	Sustain Level [0] [127]
	Release Time [0] [127]
	22. Rhythm TUA I 3/ 1/SNAREDRUM1/C 1
	<u> E E 1] Tim Lu1 B 2 127 </u>
	D/B 40 90 D/S 117 80
	R.PRM Pitch TVF TVA Common

When you move the cursor to an Envelope parameter, the Envelope will automatically be displayed graphically. The solid line indicates the TVA Envelope, and the dashed line indicates the TVF Envelope. A vertical line is displayed at the key-off point, indicating the point at which the Release begins.

When you move the cursor to a parameter other than an Envelope parameter, the graphic display will automatically disappear.

23. Rhythm Common

23.Shuthm Common Rhuthm Shift..... Make settings for Rhythm Common data (parameters which affect the entire Rhythm Setup).

Rhythm Shift

<Rhythm Satup parameter>

R.PRM Pitch TVF TVA Common

Shift all the Key Numbers of the Rhythm Setup.



* The Note Numbers specified for Mute will also be shifted.



System Setup

24. System Setup

24.System	Setup			
M. Tune	0(440.0)		Pedal·So	ostnuto
Control	CH	Off Pedal	5W - CO	ont Map
Unit Nu	e Rx Mber	1 Local		Ön
	T -∔M	C +M	T +M	CH Name

Make System Setup settings.

M.Tune [Settings]	(Master Tune) «System Setup parameter» Adjust the tuning of all Parts. The frequency of the note A4 can be adjusted over the range of 415.4 — 465.8 Hz. For a setting of 0, A4 will be 440 Hz. A value change of 64 for this parameter results in a semi-tone of pitch change. [-64] — [0] — [+63]
Control CH [Settings]	(Control Channel) «System Setup parameter» Specify the MIDI Channel on which Program Change messages will be received to select Performances, and on which Program Change messages will transmitted when you select a Performance (CP P.49). [1] — [16], [Off]
	* Control Channel can be used only in the Play Mode. * The Control Channel cannot be set to the same number as the Part channels or MIDI OUT channels. If it is set to the same number, it will be turned off and therefore cannot be used, while the display will continue to show the Control Channel number. It is convenient to edit the MIDI Channel settings in the CH Setting display (CP P.157, 162).
	 Here are some special ways in which the Control Channel can be used. For example, a sequencer recording of your playing on the D-70 using the internal sounds can be played back by the sequencer to use the very same sounds, if you use the following procedure. Set the sequencer in recording mode, press PLAY, and select a Performance on the D-70. Then begin playing. Playback the sequencer recording as usual. Or, you can begin recording with the D-70 in the condition immediately after its power was turned on. When playing back, turn the D-70 power off and on again before beginning playback. If the Control Channel is Off, recording or playback will not be possible.
Exclusive Rx [Settings]	(Exclusive Receive switch) <system parameter="" setup=""> Specify whether or not to receive System Exclusive messages (Roland ID only) that are sent to MIDI IN. [On] Receive [Off] Ignore * This will receive Exclusive messages regardless of the setting of the Protect Switch on the rear panel.</system>
Unit Number [Settings]	System Setup parameters Specify the unit number with which Exclusive messages (Roland ID only) will be transmitted and received. For Exclusive messages to be transmitted and received, the unit numbers must match. [1] — [32]
	* The MIDI Device ID is the Unit Number minus 1.

Hold Peda		<system parameter="" setup=""></system>	
		Specify how the Hold pedal will affe	ct the D - 70 itself (Internal).
		*Hold messages will be transmit	ted from MIDI OUT regardless of this setting.
	[Settings]	fileda The model with a	
	Toerniñ??		unction as a Hold pedal. unction as a Sostenuto pedal.
			nousin as a costentito pedal.
			ontroller Map of the KB PART and MID) OUT (CP.89, 101).
Pedal SW		(Pedal Switch) <system parameter<="" setup="" td=""><td>-06</td></system>	-06
		Specify the function of the Pedal SW.	The Pedal SW works only in the User set screen.
	[Settings]	[Perform 1] (Performance up)	The Defense and the state of th
	1001	fi evenu i 1/i evenuarioe abi	The Performance registered to the Function Button will switch from left to right within the User Set group currently selected.
		[Perform 1] (Performance down)	The Performance registered to the Function Button will switch from
			right to left within the User Set group currently selected.
		[Effector]	When the pedal is pressed On, the effector will be applied to each
			in the Performance whose Effect parameter is On (CP.99).
		[Cont Map] (Controller Map)	The pedal will function as specified by the Keyboard parameters MIDI OUT Controller Maps (CP.86, 101).
			100 001 001 001 00 maps (0 F.80, 101).
MIDI Link		(MID) OUT Link Mode) <system setup<="" td=""><td>parameter></td></system>	parameter>
		Specify how MIDI OUT data of a Peri	formance will be handled when a Performance is selected.
	ICatting N		
	[Settings]	[On] When a Performance is so be read into the Tempora	elected, the MIDI OUT parameters of the newly selected Performance
			e is selected, the MIDI OUT parameters of the previous Performance
			area, and the MIDI OUT settings will not change.
		Performance for Temporary	area Performance for Memory area
		Part 1	
		Part 2	Read into the Part 1 Temporary area
		KB PRM Part 3	MT KB Part 3
		Part 4	Ministry KB PRM Part 3 Part 4
		Part 5	Part 5
		Rhythm Part	Read in only if MIDI
		MIDI OUT	OUT Link Mode is On MID! OUT
		۱ <u>ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ</u>	* When turned Off, the data will not be read.

* If MIDI OUT Link Mode is Off, remember that if you select a Performance and edit and write it, the MIDI OUT parameters of the previously selected Performance will be written into the writing Destination.

Local	SW		•	Switch) «System Setup parameters» • Local Switch on/off.
		[Settings]	[On] [Off]	The keyboard is connected to the Part. The keyboard is not connected to the Part, but is connected only to MIDI OUT (the MIDI Palette). Even if you select a Performance, the keyboard and Part will always remain unconnected. Use this Off setting when using the D - 70 to record on a sequencer, etc.

25. D.Xfer I ←→ C

	C Int⇔RAM Card ternal⇔RAM Card	Transfer data between Internal memory and RAM Card memory.
Press F1/F2 Trnster Form	B Sound B Rhythm Setup B <u>System Setup</u> Please. at All Cancel Select	
Direction	Specify the direction of data transfer.	

1	eC.	101	1

[internal 并 RAM Card]	Transler data from Internal memory to RAM Card memory.
[Internal 🖛 RAM Card]	Transfer data from RAM Card memory to internal memory.
[Internal ++++ RAM Card]	Exchange data between Internal memory and RAM Card memory.

Select data ·····

Select the data to be transferred.

Internal

Sound -User Sets 10 64 Performances 128 Patches Tones 128 1 Rhythm Setup 1 System Setup

AM car	d	
Sound -		٦
ets	10	
ances	64	
	128	
:	128	J
setup	1	-
Setup	1	
	Sound - ets mances	ets 10 mances 64 : 128 128 128

* The Rhythm Setup and System Setup data in RAM Card is for storage purposes only, and cannot be played.

Sound, Rhythm Setup, System Setup



Place the cursor on the data you wish to transfer, and press F5. Each time you press the button, the data will alternately be selected (display) or un-selected (display).



Select all data.



Cancel all selections of data.

Executing data transfer

F1 Trnsfer

Press F1. The display will ask "Are you sure? Press ENTER please.". If you are sure you want to transfer the data, press ENTER. To cancel without transferring, press EXIT.

- *When transferring Internal → RAM Card, make sure that the Protect Switch of the RAM Card is Off. Return the switch to the On position after transferring the data.
- *When transferring Internal RAM Card, make sure that the Protect Switch on the D 70 rear panel is Off. Return the switch to the On position after transferring the data.
- *When transferring Internal + RAM Card, make sure that the Protect Switch on the D 70 rear panel and the Protect Switch of the RAM Card are Off. Return the switches to the On position after transferring the data.

Formatting a RAM Card ·····

This operation formats a RAM Card for use by the D - 70. Data cannot be transferred to a RAM Card which has never been used or has been used by another device. When you execute the Format operation, the Internal memory data for Sound, Rhythm Setup and System Setup will automatically be transferred into the RAM Card.

* When you execute the Format operation, all data that was previously in the RAM Card will be lost. * Use M-256E RAM Cards (sold separately).

F2 Format

Press F2. The display will ask "Are you sure? Press ENTER please.". If you are sure you want to format the RAM Card, press ENTER. To exit without formatting, press EXIT.

* Before formatting a RAM Card, make sure that the Protect Switch on the RAM Card is in the Off position.

26.	D.Xfer	÷	Μ	

Set D. Sfer I +M Int +MIDI Device(Bulk) Unit Number: 1 Mode: Dump Handshake
🗉 Sound 🛄 Rhythm Setur
System Setup Press F1 please.
Trnsfer All Cancel Select

Transfer Internal memory data to an external MIDI device.

Unit Number	<system parameter="" selup=""></system>		
	This allows you to edit the	Unit Number specified in the 24	System Setup display (\$\$\mathcal{\$\mathcal{\$P\$}}\$ P.137). When transmitting or
	receiving System Exclusive	data, make sure that both units an	e set to the same Unit Number.
[Settings]	[1] — [32]		
Mode	Specify the method of trans	ferring System Exclusive data.	
	[Dump One Way]	Data will be transmitted rega	ardless of the condition of the receiving device. This
	• • •	procedure is simpler, but tak	es a bit longer than the Dump Handshake method.
	[Dump Handshake]	Transmit the data after confi	ming that the receiving device is ready to receive.
	One Way connectio	ns	
			MIDI V IN
	D-'	70	D-70
	Transmitti	-	Receiving device
	Handshake connect	ions	
	D-	70	D-70
	Transmitti	ing device	Receiving device

Eselect data ·····

Select the data to be transmitted.

Internal

Sound	·
User Sets	10
Performances	64
Patches	128
Tones	128
Rhythm Setup	1
System Setup	1

Sound, Rhythm Setup, System Setup



Place the cursor on the data you wish to transfer, and press F5. Each time you press the button, the data will alternately be selected (display) or un-selected (display).

.



Cancel all selections of data.

Executing data transfer

F1 Trnsfer

Press F1. The display will ask "Are you sure? Press ENTER please.". If you are sure you want to transfer the data, press ENTER . To cancel without transferring, press EXIT.
27. D.Xfer C -	M
27.D.Xfer C →M Unit Number: 1	Card+MIDI Device(Bulk) Mode:Dump Handshake Sound Rhythm Setup
Press F1 please Trnsfer	
Unit Number	System Setup parameters This allows you to edit the Unit Number specified in the 24.System Setup display (\$\sigma\$ P.137\$). When transmitting o receiving System Exclusive data, make sure that both units are set to the same Unit Number.
[Settings]	[1] — [32]
Mode	Specify the method of transferring System Exclusive data.
-	[Dump One Way] Data will be transmitted regardless of the condition of the receiving device. This
	[Dump Handshake] Transmit the data after confirming that the receiving device is ready to receive.
	One Way connections
	D-70 D-70 Transmitting device D-70 D-70 D-70 D-70 D-70 D-70 D-70 D-70 D-70 D-70 D-70
	Handshake connections
	MIDI MIDI MIDI UT D-70 D-70 Transmitting device Receiving device

Select data

All data except System Setup in the RAM Card will be transferred.

	RAM card	1
C	Sound -	
	User Sets	10
	Performances	64
	Patches	128
	Tones	128
	Rhythm Setup	1

Executing data transfer ·····

F1 Trnsfer

Press F1. The display will ask "Are you sure? Press ENTER please.". If you are sure you want to transfer the data, press ENTER. To cancel without transferring, press EXIT.

28. D.Xfer T -	►M	
28.D.Xfer T +M Unit Number: 1	Temp+MIDI Device(Bulk) Mode:Dump Handshake	Transfer data from the Temporary area to an external MIDI device.
50	pund season of the states of t	
Press F1 Please		
Unit Number	<system parameter="" setup=""></system>	
· · ·	This allows you to edit the Unit Number specified i	in the 24.System Setup display (\$\$\mathcal{\$\$\$ P.137}\$). When transmitting or
	receiving System Exclusive data, make sure that both	
[Settings]	[1] — [32]	



All data in the temporary area will be transferred.

Temporary area

User Set group	Performance		Patch	Tone
		Part 1	Patch 1	L-1 U-3 Tone 1 Tone 3 L-2 U-4 Tone 2 Tone 4
		Part 2	Patch 2	L-1 U-3 Tone 5 Tone 7 L-2 U-4 Tone 6 Tone 8
		Part 3	Patch 3	L-1 U-3 Tone 9 Tone 11 L-2 U-4 Tone 10 Tone 12
		Part 4	Patch 4	L-1 Tone 13 L-2 L-2 U-4 Tone 15 Tone 15
		Part 5	Patch 5	L-1 Tone 17 L-2 Tone 18 Tone 20 t

Executing data transfer



Press F1. The display will ask "Are you sure? Press ENTER please.". If you are sure you want to transfer the data, press ENTER. To cancel without transferring, press EXIT.

29. Tx CH Name

29.TX CH	Nane	
1:D-70II 2:8-770A	6: 7:	11: 12:
3:MKS-80 4:D-550	8: 400 - 9: 9:	13: 14:
5:	10:R-8	15: 16:
End	INIT	

Specify a name for the channel of each Section of MIDIOUT.

Channel Name

(1 — 16) «System Setup parameter»

You may specify a 10-character name (- P.87).

F1 End

In the channel you are editing, fill all spaces following the cursor with blanks.



In the channel you are editing, set each space to a blank character and return the cursor to the first character.

4 PCM CARD MODE

When the PLAY indicator is lit, you can press PCM CARD to listen to the Original Tones of PCM Card or Internal memory.

Orig.Tone(PCM)Play	Internal (I 1)
1.A.Piano 1	6.A.Piano 6
2.A.Piano 2 3.A.Piano 3	7.A.Piano 7 8.A.Piano 8
4.A.Piano 4	9.A.Piano 9
5.A.Piano 5 Slot A Slot B 1	10,A.Piano 10 NTCI -10 +10

*To return to Play mode, press PLAY .

(Note) When you return to Play mode from this display, all previous data in the Temporary area will be lost. If you wish to keep the data in the Temporary area, use the Write operation before entering the Orig.Tone (PCM) Play display (\$\$\sigma\$P.81, 150).

To select an Original Tone

To select an Original Tone, you must specify the Original Tone Media and the Original Tone Number.

① Select the Original Tone Media.

F1	
F2	

Select the Card inserted into Card slot A.

- Select the Card inserted into Card slot B.
- F3 Select an Original Tone Media from Internal memory. Each time you press this button, the selection will alternate between Original Tone Media 1, 2, and 3.
- * You can also use SN-SPLA series Cards for the D-series and sound library Cards from the U-series (SN-U110 series).
- *The D 70 cannot use sound library ROM Cards for D-series models (D-5/10/20/50/110/ 550) (PN-D10 series or PN-D50 series).
- * The D 70 cannot use the following data of the U-series sound library Cards.
 - LATIN SETUP and F.X. SETUP from Card SN-U110-02 (Latin & F.X. Percussion)
- 28.N.DANCE from Card SN-U110-08 (Synthesizer)
- The Card SN-U110-10 (Rock Drums)

2 Select the Original Tone Number.

Use ///// to move the cursor, and select the number.

F4 will decrease the number by 10 and switch the List.

F5 will increase the number by 10 and switch the List.

* The displayed List of Original Tone Numbers will keep within the number of Original Tones actually contained in the selected Original Tone Media.

★ About Original Tones

The sound you hear when playing an Original Tone in this display is the actual sound of the Original Tone.

* Selecting an Original Tone In the 14.Tone PRM or 19.Rhythm PRM display will select only the PCM Wave of the Original Tone, and will apply the TVF. In these displays, you are not hearing the sound of the Original Tone, but rather the sound of the Tone (= P.74, 75). Chapter 4 Write/Command

Chapter 4

1 WRITE

User Set, Performance, Patch, and Tone settings in the Temporary area are temporary. This data will be lost when you select another User Set Group or Performance etc., or turn the power off. If you wish to keep the edited data, you must Write it into Internal memory or a RAM Card. (\$\$\sigma\$P.78, "How memory is organized")

1. Different Types of Write Operation

	The type of Write operation depends on the data that is being written.
● User Set Write	In the User Set display, press WRITE to write the User Set data. (This will assign Performances to a User Set group.)
• Performance Write	In the Play mode displays for MIDI OUT, MIDI CTRL Map, Reverb, Chorus, Controller Map, Part PRM 1, or Part PRM 2, or in the Performance Edit diaplays press WRITE to write the Performance data.
Patch Write	In the Play mode displays for Tone Display or L/U PRM, or in the Patch Edit displays, press WRITE to write the Patch data.
● Tone Write	In the Tone Edit displays, press WRITE to write the Tone data.
	* In the following displays, the Write operation is not possible. (Pressing WRITE will have no effect.)
	Tone Display R display in Play mode
	 Rhythm Setup and System Setup display in Edit mode
	Orig.Tone (PCM) Play display
	ROM Play display
	The Performance, Patch, and Tone List displays The lump display
	The Jump display The Command display
	The Gonandia diplay

Store All command

The Write command allows you to individually write each piece of data into the memory area one by one. However by executing the Store All command, you can write all data into the memory area. This command also allows you to write data between Internal and RAM Card memories. (r P.158, P.164)

2. Caution When Writing Data

- ●The Write operation applies to the data which is displayed in the screen, not the data which is being played from the keyboard (the KB PART). For example if the KB PART is Part 1, and the Patch Edit display is showing Part 2, the Patch for Part 2 will be written into memory area. ((⊂ P.95), "Editing a Part")
- When you write a Patch, the sound of each Performance which uses the newly written Patch will be affected.
- •When you write a Tone, the sound of each Patch which uses the newly written Tone will be affected.
- If you have written an internal Performance to RAM Card, all Patches used by that Performance, and all Tones used by those Patches will be selected from the RAM Card memories of the same number. This means that writing a Performance into RAM Card does not necessarily guarantee that it will sound the same as the original internal Performance. To store all data for a Performance, each Patch used by that Performance, and each Tone used by those Patches must be individually written into the RAM Card. The same applies when writing a RAM Card Performance to Internal memory.

* The Store All function allows you to store all settings in a single step (P.158, 164).

If you have written an internal Patch to RAM Card, all Tones used by that Patch will be selected from the RAM Card memories of the same number. This means that writing a Patch into a RAM Card does not necessarily guarantee that it will sound the same as the original internal Patch. To store all data for a Patch, each Tone used by that Patch must be individually written into the RAM Card.

The same applies when writing a RAM Card Patch to Internal memory.

* The Store All function allows you to store all settings in a single step (rr P.158, 164).

3. Procedures

Here's how to write Performance, Patch, and Tone data.

Select the Write display

When in Play mode or Edit mode, press the WRITE button to get the Write display. The Write display will depend on the mode when you pressed WRITE (CP.150).

(Example) If you press WRITE from the Performance Edit display

Performance	Write		
Performance		HVY Guitar	
Press WRITE	Please.		

Select the Write destination

When writing a Performance or Patch

The cursor will be fixed at the Number location.



* A/B is used when writing a Patch.

* The currently selected number will initially be displayed as the write destination.

★ If you have used the Name Delete command to delete the names of unneeded data, it will be easy to find appropriate writing Destinations (□ P.158, 166).

When writing a Tone

The Tone write display is as follows.

Tone	Write			
Tone	$\begin{array}{c} L-1 \rightarrow \\ L-2 \rightarrow \\ U-3 \rightarrow \\ U-4 \rightarrow \end{array}$	D 1:3110 D 1:3120 D 1:3130 D 1:3130 D 1:3140	12 A.Pian 2) A.Pian 3) A.Pian 4) A.Pian	02
Press	5 WRITE	Please.		
	-	A11	Cance1	Select

In addition to the Tone selected in the Tone Edit display, you can also write Tones from other Sections of the same Tone Palette.

To select a Tone, move the cursor to the Tone number, and press F5 Select. Each time you press the button, the display will alternate between Select (\square) and Cancel (\square).

*This can also be selected by changing the Tone number selected by the cursor.

To select all Tones, press F3 All .

To cancel the selection of all four Tones, press F4 Cancel .

Use $INT/CARD \rightarrow A/B \rightarrow BANK \rightarrow NUMBER$, or INC / DEC, where to select the number into which you wish to write the Tone.

* The currently selected number will initially be displayed as the write destination.

* If you have used the Name Delete command to delete the names of unneeded data, it will be easy to find appropriate writing Destinations. (P.158, 166)

Execute the Write operation

After specifying the writing destination, press WRITE. The display will ask "Are you sure? Press ENTER please.".

If you are sure you want to write the data, press ENTER. To cancel without writing press EXIT.

If the writing destination is Internal, the rear panel Protect Switch must be Off in order for data to be written. If you attempt to execute writing with the Protect Switch On, a message of "Internal Memory Protect On! (EXIT)" will appear. Press any button to return to the write display. Turn the Protect Switch Off, and try the operation again.

If the writing destination is RAM Card, the RAM Card Protect Switch must be Off in order for data to be written. If you attempt to execute writing with the Protect Switch On, a message of "RAM Card Memory Protect On! (EXIT)" will appear. Press any button to return to the write display. Turn the Protect Switch Off, and try the operation again.

After the Write operation has been executed, you will return to the display you were in before pressing WRITE. After writing data, be sure to turn the Protect Switch On.

In the Tone Write operation, if you have specified the same writing Destination for two or more Tones, the display will show "Check Destination Numbers!". If you are sure you want to write the data, press <u>ENTER</u>. To cancel without writing, press <u>EXIT</u>, and re-specify the writing Destinations. (If you write two or more different data of Temporary area into a single writing Destination, all but the last-written Tone will be lost.)

4. How to Assign a Performance to a User Set

To assign a Performance to a function button ($\boxed{F1}$ – $\boxed{F5}$) in the User Set display, use the following procedure.

Specify the Performance to assign

1:11 Hv	′y	G	u	i	t	a	r			ہ ۲ ۲	k] 1]
User Seti [*]	1- 1 C- 1	2 2	33	4 4	5 5	6 6	7 7	8 8	9	10 10	
Caril1	ion		E	E., 1	Pił	and	51				
Hvy Guitar	Gaj	ans	J				E)d()9(lita	ir]

DPress PLAY to get the User Set display.

2 Use / / / / to select the Group of User Sets you wish to assign.

- *To select a group in the internal memory, use BANK buttons (1 8), and to change groups on a RAM card, use NUMBER buttons (1 8). Group 9 or 10 cannot be selected.
- *When you select the Group, the current User Set temporary area will be lost (
 P.78).

Do not change the Group until the Write procedure is ended.

* If a RAM Card is not inserted, RAM Card Groups cannot be selected.

(3) Press the function button you wish to assign.

The Performance for the function button you pressed will be displayed in inverse display.

- Press PERFORMANCE (to get the Performance List display), and use INT/CARD, BANK and NUMBER to select the Performance you wish to assign. (Be sure to press NUMBER last.)
 - *When a RAM Card is not connected to the D 70, Performances on the RAM Card cannot be used.
- (5) Press EXIT or PLAY to return to the User Set display. The name of the selected Performance will be displayed for the function button you pressed.
- 6 Repeat steps 3 --- 5 to assign a Performance to each function button.

Select the Write display

When you have assigned a Performance to each function button, press WRITE to get the User Set Write display.

User Se	. Write	
user be	\rightarrow 1	
Press	RITE P19359,	

Select the writing destination

The cursor will be fixed at the Group.

Use INC / DEC or WALUER to select the Group into which you will write the User Set.

*When you write a User Set, you can choose the destination betweeen the Internal and RAM Card.

Execute the Write operation

After specifying the destination, press WRITE. The display will ask "Are you sure? Press ENTER please.". If you are sure you want to write the data, press ENTER. To cancel without writing press EXIT.

If the writing destination is Internal, the rear panel Protect Switch must be Off in order for data to be written. If you attempt to execute writing with the Protect Switch On, a message of "Internal Memory Protect On! (EXIT)" will appear. Press any button to return to the write display. Turn the Protect Switch Off, and try the operation again.

If the writing destination is RAM Card, the RAM Card Protect Switch must be Off in order for data to be written. If you attempt to execute writing with the Protect Switch On, a message of "RAM Card Memory Protect On! (EXIT)" will appear. Press any button to return to the write display. Turn the Protect Switch Off, and try the operation again.

After the Write operation has been executed, you will return to the User Set display. After writing data, be sure to turn the Protect Switch On.

2 COMMAND

Various useful commands are provided, allowing you to create multiple copies of similar data, to initialize data, or edit data.

100.5.5

1. Types of Command

	Commands can be classified depending on the data which they affect.
Channel Settings	In the Play Mode displays or 24. System Setup display, press COMMAND to edit MIDI Channel settings.
	This is the same as the Performance Command CH Setting.
Performance Comm	hand
	In the Performance Edit displays, press COMMAND to edit Performance data. The menu includes
	Copy, Initialize, Exchange, CH Setting and Store All.
Patch Command	In the Patch Edit displasys, press COMMAND to edit Patch data. The menu includes Copy,

• Tone Command In the Tone Edit displays, press COMMAND to edit Tone data. The menu includes Copy, Initialize, Exchange, Orig.Tone PRM and Store All.

Name Delete In the Performance, Patch, or Tone List displays, press COMMAND to delete a name.

Initialize, Exchange and Store All.

*Commands cannot be executed in the following displays. (Pressing the COMMAND will have no effect.)

.

- In the Rhythm Setup and Data Transfer/CH Name displays of Edit mode.
- In the Orig.Tone (PCM) Play display or ROM Play display.
- · The Jump display
- The Write display

2. Command Functions

41

Copy, Initialize, and Exchange are common to the Performance, Patch, and Tone commands.

* If Internal data has been read into the Temporary area, these commands will Copy/ Exchange data in the Internal Memory area. If RAM Card data has been read into the Temporary area, these commands will Copy/Exchange data in the RAM Card Memory area.

Copy Copy all data from the specified memory area to the Temporary area. This Copy command is useful when you wish to create multiple data with similar settings.

(Example) When Performance Copy is executed



Setup Control Channel cannot be set to the same number as a channel specified in one of these displays (i.e., the channel of each Part, and the channel of each MIDI Palette Section). If it is set to the same number, it will be turned off and therefore cannot be used, while the display will continue to show the Control Channel number.

To avoid problems, this display allows you to view all channels while you edit.

• Orig.	Tone F	'RM When you change the Original Tone in the 14.Tone PRM display, only the PCM Tone will be read. If you wish to read the Name and TVA parameters of the O use this command.	-
Store	All	When using the Write command, you must individually write each piece of data.	•

However this Store All command writes all data into the memory area with a single command. It is especially convenient when you have edited a large amount of data in Edit mode, and need to write all your edits into memory.

* The data in the temporary area is temporary, and will be lost if you select other data or turn the power off before writing it into the memory area.

If the temporary area contains data from Internal memory, the Write command always writes the data into Internal memory. If the temporary area contains data from RAM Card memory, the Write command always writes the data into RAM Card memory.

However this Store All command allows you to freely specify Internal or RAM Card memory, regardless of where the data in the temporary area came from.

This function is helpful when you need to write RAM Card data into the Internal memory area, etc.



Name Delete

This command deletes the names of unwanted Performances, Patches, or Tones in the memory area, in order to avoid confusing them with other data.

If you have used this command to delete the names of unneeded data, it will be easy to find appropriate writing Destinations for the Write or Store All commands.

*The Name Delete command does not affect the Temporary area, but directly deletes the name data in the Memory area. Data other than the name is not affected.

3. Notes When Executing a Command

- •When you execute a command, the data in the temporary area or in memory will be changed, so please be sure you understand the command before executing it.
- ●The data affected by a command is the data which is displayed in the screen, not the data which is being played from the keyboard (the KB PART). For example if the KB PART is Part 1, and the Patch Edit display is showing Part 2, the Patch settings for Part 2 will be affected ((*□* P.95), "Editing a Part")
- When you Exchange a Patch, the sound of each Performance which uses the newly written Patch will be affected.
- When you Exchange a Tone, the sound of each Patch which uses the newly written Tone will be affected.

4. Procedures

There are five different procedures used when executing a command; when executing Copy, Initialize, or Exchange, when executing CH Setting, when executing Orig.Tone PRM, when executing Store All, and when executing Name Delete.

To execute Copy, Initialize, or Exchange

To execute Copy, Initialize, or Exchange, use the following procedure.

Get the Command Menu display

Press COMMAND to get the Command Menu. The Command Menu will depend on the currently selected display (\$\$\mathcal{P}\$P.156).

(Example) If you press COMMAND from the Performance Edit displays.

Performance	Command Menu	
F1	COPY	
	Initialize	
	Exchanse	
	CH Setting	
	IT Exchnse CH Se	t Store

• Select a command Use the function buttons to select the command you wish to execute; Copy, Initialize, or Exchange. $[F1] \rightarrow Copy, [F2] \rightarrow Initialize, [F3] \rightarrow Exchange$

(Example) If you press F1 Copy to select the Copy display.

Performance Copy	 *****	(*) = = = = = = = = = = = = = = =	
COPY from Init(1) [Hvy Guitar]	(B PRM (B PAR 4ulti	т	bre
Press COMMAND please.	ÍÍDÍ Effect		
All	lancel		elect.

• Specify the data

Move the cursor to a number (either Performance, Patch, or Tone), and use $(\boxed{A/B}) \rightarrow \boxed{BANK}$ $\rightarrow \boxed{NUMBER}$, or \boxed{INC}/\boxed{DEC} , $\boxed{MZARUER}$ to select the memory number which the command will affect.

*Use A/B for Patch or Tone commands.

* In the Initialize display, you cannot specify the data to which the command will apply. The command will always apply to the currently selected data.

Select parameters The display will show the group of parameters to which the command will affect. Commands can be executed for specific group units.

Move the cursor to the group unit and press F5 Select . Each time you press the button, the display will alternate between Select (\square) and Cancel (\square).



Press F4 Cancel to cancel the selection of all groups.

	Group	Parameter
	KB PRM	Parameters in the 1. KB PRM screen.
Performance	KB PART	Parameters in the screen of the 2. Part Setting and 3. Int CTRL Map in KB PART. * When the KB PART is set to the Rhythm Part, parameters on the 3. Int CTRL Map are not relevant.
Command	Multi Timbre	Parameters in the screen of the 2. Part Setting and 3. Int CTRL Map in all Parts except for KB PART.
	MIDI	Parameters in the 4. MIDI CTRL Map and 5. MIDI OUT and 6. MIDI Palette screens.
	Effector	Parameters in the 7. Effector screen.
	Patch Common	Parameters in the 8. Patch Common screen.
Patch	Patch L/U PRM	Parameters in the 9. Patch L/U PRM screen.
Command	Palette Lower	Parameters in the 10. Palette L-1 and 11. Palette L-2 screens.
	Palette Upper	Parameters in the 12. Palette U-3 and 13. Palette U-4 screens.
	Tone PRM	Parameters in the 14. Tone PRM screen
Tone	Pitch	Parameters in the 15. Tone Pitch screen. * Parameters related with DLM are not included.
Command	TVF	Parameters in the 16. Tone TVF screen.
	TVA	Parameters in the 17. Tone TVA screen.
	LFO	Parameters in the 18. Tone LFO screen.

Execute the command

After selecting the group to which the command will apply, press <u>COMMAND</u>. The display will ask "Are you sure? Press ENTER please.". If you are sure you want to execute the command, press <u>ENTER</u>. To cancel without executing, press <u>EXIT</u>.

When using the Exchange command on Internal memory data, the rear panel Protect Switch must be Off. If you attempt to execute the Exchange command with the Protect Switch On, a message of "Internal Memory Protect On! (EXIT)" will appear. Press any button to return to the Exchange display. Turn the Protect Switch Off, and try the command again.

When using the Exchange command on RAM Card data, the RAM Card Protect Switch must be Off. If you attempt to execute the Exchange command with the Protect Switch On, a message of "RAM Card Memory Protect On! (EXIT)" will appear. Press any button to return to the Exchange display. Turn the Protect Switch Off, and try the command again.

After the command has been executed, you will return to the display you were in before pressing COMMAND.

*After executing the Exchange operation, be sure to return the Protect Switch to the On position.

To modify the CH Setting

To modify the CH Setting, use the following procedure.

Get the Command Menu display

From the Performance Edit displays, press COMMAND to get the Performance Command Menu.

ang talak

Performance	Command Menu
F1	COPY
	Initialize
	Exchanse
	CH Setting
COPY IN	IIT Exchnse CH Set Store
	and the second end of the processing of the second s

• Select the command Press F4 CH Set to get the following display.

MIDI Out	Cont CHROff
L-1:11 U-3:13 L-2:12 U-4:14	Part:CH Part:CH
F1:Off a Part. F2:Off all Parts.	2:4 5:6 7:2 Did
Off PartOff	

*If you press COMMAND in the Play Mode displays or 24. System Setup display, this screen will appear immediately.

Make channel settings

To make channel settings, move the cursor to the parameter you wish to modify, and use <u>INC</u> / <u>DEC</u> or **EVALUES** to enter the channel number.

Press F1 Off to turn off the channel selected by the cursor.

Press F2 PartOff to turn all parts off; Parts 1 - 5 and R (Rhythm Part).

* The MIDI OUT Section channels do not have an Off setting.

Return to the previous display

When you have finished making channel settings, press EXIT to return to the previous display.

To execute Orig. Tone PRM

To execute Orig. Tone PRM, use the following procedure.

Get the Command Menu display

From the Tone Edit displays, press COMMAND to get the Tone Command Menu.

Tone Co	ommand Menu
	F1:COPY F2:Initialize F3:Exchange F4:Orig. Tone PRM F5:Store All
COPY	INIT Exchnse Oris. Store

Select the command Press F4 Orig. to get the following display.

Orig.	Tone PR	Ą		
Orig.	Tone I <e.or< td=""><td>1: 30 GAN 2 ></td><td>o Name o TVR</td><td></td></e.or<>	1: 30 GAN 2 >	o Name o TVR	
Press	COMMAND	please.		
		A11	Cancel	Select
1. A.		e de la deserve	1.	

Select parameters

The screen will display the group of Original Tone parameters to which the command will apply. The command can be executed on specific groups.

Move the cursor to the group position and press F5 Select. Each time you press the button, the display will alternate between Select (\square) and Cancel (\square).

Press F3 All to select all Groups. Press F4 Cancel to cancel the selection of all Groups.

Name: the name of the Original Tone TVA: TVA parameters

Execute the command

.

After selecting the group for which to execute Orig.Tone PRM, press <u>COMMAND</u>. You will be asked "Are you sure? Press ENTER please.". If you are sure you want to execute the command, press ENTER. To cancel without executing, press <u>EXIT</u>.

After executing, you will return to the diaplay you were in before pressing COMMAND.

To execute Store All

To execute Store All, use the following procedure.

• Get the Command Menu display

Press COMMAND, and the Command Menu will appear. The Command Menu will depend on the currently selected display ($rac{r}$ P.156).

(Example) When you press COMMAND from the Performance Edit displays.

	Performance Command Menu	****
	F1:Copy	
	F2: Initialize	
	F3: Exchanse	T PRYMANA
	F4:CH Setting	
l	COPY INIT Exchase CH Set	Store

• Select the command Press F5 Store to select the display.

Store All	********	·
Performance + D 1143 [Part-1] Patch + D B11 Ghost Vox:	L-1 → 0 b62 A.Guita L-2 + 0 b43 GhostCh U-3 + 0 a26 A.Piano LU-4 → 0 b63 BELL Sw	or 2
PartSel Search	lease All Cancel Sele	

• Specify the data You can choose to write 1 Performance, five Patches of Parts 1-5, or 20 Tones. The display will show the Performance, and the Patch and Tones of the currently selected Part. When you select a Part, the Patch and Tones will also change.

Move the cursor to the location of the data you wish to write, and press F5 Select . Each time you press the button, you will alternate between select (\square) and cancel (\square).

Press F1 PartSel to select the Part display.

Press F3 All to select all data.

Press F4 Cancel to cancel all data selections.

* F3 and F4 can be used only for the Patch and Tones of the currently displayed Part.

Select the write destination

If you select Internal as the writing destination, the Performance, Patches, and Tones will all be written into Internal memory. In the same way, if you select RAM Card, the data will be written into RAM Card. It is not possible to specify a combination of Internal and RAM Card destinations.

To choose between Internal and RAM Card, press INT/CARD. Or, you can move the cursor to the location of the Performance and use INC / DEC or WARDER. I (Internal) or C (RAM Card) will be displayed at the location of the Performance number.

*You can press <u>INT/CARD</u> to choose the destination even if the cursor is not located at the Performance.

To select the writing destination of the Performance, Patches, and Tones, use $(\boxed{A/B}) \rightarrow \boxed{BANK}$ $\rightarrow \boxed{NUMBER}$, or $\boxed{INC} / \boxed{DEC}$ and $\boxed{EVAEDER}$.

*Use A/B when selecting Patches and Tones.

* The currently selected number will be displayed as the writing destination.

F2 Search will automatically search what has been Name Deleted at destination that the cursor currently indicates.

- ★If you have used the Name Delete command to delete the names of unneeded data, it will be easy to find appropriate writing Destinations. (CP.158, 166)
- * The " * "mark shown at the left of the number in the destination indicates that the data in the temporary area has been edited but not been written yet.

If you change the writing destination of a Patch, the Patch Select parameter in the Performance will be automatically modified and rewritten to the number of the new writing destination. In the same way, if you change the writing destination of a Tone, the Tone Select parameter in the Patch will be rewritten to the number of the writing destination. This ensures that the result will sound the same as before you executed the Write operation.

Execute the command

When you have specified the writing destination, press <u>COMMAND</u>. The display will ask "Are you sure? Press ENTER please." If you are sure you want to execute, press <u>ENTER</u>. To quit without executing, press <u>EXIT</u>.

If the writing destination is Internal, the Protect Switch on the rear panel must be Off for this operation to be executed. If you attempt to execute the operation with the Protect Switch On, the display will show "Internal Memory Protect On! (EXIT)". Press any button, and you will return to the Store All display. Turn the Protect Switch Off, and try the operation again.

In the same way, if the writing destination is RAM Card, the Protect Switch on the RAM Card must be Off for this operation to be executed. If you attempt to execute the operation with the RAM Card Protect Switch On, the display will show "RAM Card Memory Protect On! (EXIT)". Press any button, and you will return to the Store All display. Turn the Protect Switch Off, and try the operation again.

After the Store All command has been executed, you will return to the previous display. After executing, be sure to return the Protect Switch to the On position.

If the writing Destinations of two or more Patches or Tones have been specified as the same number, the display will show "Check Destination Numbers!". If you are sure you want to write the data, press **ENTER**. To cancel without writing, press **EXIT**, and re-specify the writing Destinations. (If you write two or more different data of Temporary area into a single writing Destination, all but the last-written Patch or Tone will be lost.).

To execute Name Delete

To execute Name Delete, use the following procedure.

• Select the List display

Select the Performance, Patch, or Tone List display (= P.44, 45, 90, 91).

• Select the data Use ([A/B]), BANK, NUMBER to select the Performance, Patch, or Tone whose name you wish to delete. (Be sure to press NUMBER last.)

*Use A/B when selecting a Patch or Tone.

Execute the command

Press COMMAND to select the display.

(Example) If you press COMMAND from the Patch List display.



The display will ask "Sure? Press ENTER please". If you are sure you want to execute, press ENTER. To cancel without executing, press EXIT.

When you execute the Name Delete command, the data name will change as follows, and the last three digits will indicate the selected number.

Performance	_	•		•		•	- 11
Patch 🔿		•	•••••	•		•	—A11
Tone⇒	—	•		•	_	•	—a11

*This command does not affect the Temporary area, but directly deletes the name data in the Memory area. Data other than the name is not affected.

If the specified data is in Internal memory, the rear panel Protect Switch must be Off in order to execute this command. If you attempt to execute the command with the Protect Switch On, the display will show "Internal Memory Protect On! (EXIT)." Press any button to return to the Name Delete display. Turn the Protect Switch Off, and try the operation again.

In the same way, if the specified data is in RAM Card memory, the RAM Card Protect Switch must be Off in order to execute this command. If you attempt to execute the command with the Protect Switch On, the display will show "RAM Card Memory Protect On! (EXIT)". Press any button to return to the Name Delete display. Turn the Protect Switch Off, and try the operation again.

After this command is executed, you will return to the List display. After executing, be sure to return the Protect Switch to the On position.



1 ERROR MESSAGES

• Internal Battery Low! (EXIT)

Cause: The D - 70's internal backup battery has run down. Action: Contact a Roland service center. (When you press EXIT, you will move to the User Set display, and can continue playing.)

• RAM Card Battery Low! (EXIT)

Cause: The backup battery of the RAM Card has run down,

Action: Press EXIT to return to the previous display. Save the data to a different RAM Card, and replace the battery as explained in the manual for the RAM Card,

• No RAM Card! (EXIT)

- Cause: When you selected RAM Card, a RAM Card was not inserted into the RAM Card slot or was not correctly inserted.
- Action: Correctly insert the RAM Card into the RAM Card slot. (Press EXIT to return to the previous display.)

• Improper RAM Card! (EXIT)

- Cause: The card inserted into the RAM Card slot is not in D 70 format, or is a PCM Card.
- Action: Press EXIT to return to the previous display. In order to use a new RAM Card, or a RAM Card which has been used by devices other than the D - 70, you must execute the Format operation in the 25.D.Xer I ↔ C display. The RAM Card will be formatted, and the contents of the D - 70's internal memory will be automatically written into the card. Please use M - 256E RAM Cards.
- Action: If you have inserted the card by mistake, remove it immediately. (Press EXIT to return to the previous display.)

Internal Memory Protect On! (EXIT)

- Cause: Since the internal Protect switch is On, operations such as Write, Command, or Data Transfer cannot be executed.
- Action: Press EXIT to return to the previous display (Write, Command, or Data Transfer), turn the rear panel Protect switch Off, and try the operation again.

RAM Card Memory Protect On! (EXIT)

- Cause: Since the RAM Card Protect switch is On, operations such as Write, Command, or Data Transfer cannot be executed.
- Action: Press EXIT to return to the previous display (Write, Command, or Data Transfer), turn the RAM Card Protect switch Off, and try the operation again,

• Are you sure? Press ENTER please.

- Cause: This display will appear when you execute Write, Command, Data Transfer, etc.
- Action: To execute the operation, press ENTER. To quit without executing, press EXIT.

• Complete

- Cause: Processing has been completed for Write, Command, Data Transfer, etc.
- Action: Wait a short time, and the previous display will reappear.

Check Destination Numbers! (EXIT)

- Cause: This display will appear when the same writing destination has been specified for two or more Patches or Tones in the Tone Write operation or the Srore All operation.
- Action: To write the data, press ENTER. To cancel without writing, press EXIT to return to the the Tone Write display or the Srore All display, and specify a different writing destination for each Patch or Tone.

Transmitting Exclusive

- Cause: Exclusive messages are being transmitted. If the exclusive message is short, this display will not appear.
- Action: Walt for the "Complete" display, and then for the previous display to reappear.

Receiving Exclusive

- Cause: Exclusive messages are being received. If the exclusive message is short, this display will not appear.
- Action: Please wait.

Exclusive Data Error! (EXIT)

- Cause: Due to an incorrect checksum, data length, or exclusive format, exclusive data was not correctly received.
- Action: Press EXIT to return to the previous display. Check MIDI cables and the data being transmitted, and try the operation again.

Exclusive Communication Error! (EXIT)

- Cause: This message will appear during a data transfer if the data was not correctly transferred (for example during a Handshake Dump when the receiving device was producing a note and refused communication).
- Action: Press EXIT to return to the previous display. Check connections and the status of the other device, and try the operation again.

Handshake Mode Timeout Occurred! (EXIT)

- Cause: This will be displayed if the other device stops responding during a Handshake Dump.
- Action: Press EXIT to return to the previous display. Check connections and Unit Numbers, and try the operation again.

• MIDI Buffer Full! (EXIT)

- Cause: The D-70 received more MIDI data than it was able to handle at once.
- Action: Press EXIT to return to the previous display. Check whether or not a large amount of data which requires processing on reception (program changes, etc.) is being transmitted continuously.

• Too much note event (EXIT)

- Cause: The D 70 received excessive note events.
- Action: Press the EXIT to return to previouse display. Check if too excessive keys have been simultaneously pressed and if excessive note events are being received through the MIDI IN socket.

2 TROUBLESHOOTING

📕 No sound

- Is the power turned on for the D 70, amp, mixer, etc.?
- Have connections been made correctly?
- O Have you confused the Mix Outs and Direct Outs? Check the Output Assign settings. (CP P.53, 112, 131)
- Are the connecting cables ok?
- Are the volumes turned down for the amp, mixer, or external MIDI sound source?
- Is the D 70's volume turned down?

[Internal sound source]

- O Check the position of the Master Volume slider.
- O Check the Output Level specified in each Part. (PP.86, 98)
- O Check the Patch Level specified in each Patch. (CP P.53, 107)
- OCheck the Level specified in each Section of the Tone Palette. (CP.109)
- OCheck the Level specified in the TVA of the Tone. (CP.124)
- OCheck the Level specified for each key in the TVA of the Rhythm Tone. (57 P.134)
- Off the Level function is assigned to Tone Palette Sliders, check the slider position. (☞P.54)
- Olf the TVA function is assigned to C1/Exp Pedal, check the slider or pedal position.

[MIDI OUT]

- OCheck the MIDI Volume specified in each Section of the MIDI Palette. (57 P.104)
- Olf the MIDI Volume function is assigned to Tone Palette Sliders, check the slider position. (CP P.69)
- Olf the C.Chg 7/Volume function is assigned to C1/Exp Pedal, check the slider or pedal position
- Have the Output Levels of the Parts been lowered by Volume messages received from MIDLIN?
- ●Is the System Setup parameter Local SW turned Off? (☞ P.139)
- ●Is the KB PART turned Off? (□ P.67, 96)
- Is muting active?

○ Muting of each Section of the Tone Palette (□ P.43, 113)
 ○ Muting of each Section of the MIDI Palette (□ P.44, 104)

Are the Zone ranges set correctly?

- OHow is the Zone of the Part related to the Key Mode? (CP P.54, 57, 66, 98, 108)
- Olf the Key Mode is Zone, check the Zone specified for each Section of the Tone Palette. (CP.9.43, 113)
- Olf the Key Mode is Zone, check the Zone specified for each Section of the MIDI Palette. (CP.44, 104)
- Are the MIDI channels correct?

O Check the channel of each Part. (CP P.66, 98)

- OCheck the channel of each Section of the MIDI Palette. {DP.68, 104}
- O Check the MIDI channels before and after selecting a Performance.
- ●Is the PCM Card specified by Original Tone Media inserted correctly? (▷ P.114, 129)
- It is not possible to produce sound outside of the pitch range of the Original Tone. Refer to the included Sound Chart.
- ●Have the Patch parameter Key Shift or the Tone parameter Pitch Coarse, or the Rhythm Tone parameters Source Key or Pitch Coarse been set so that the pitch falls outside of the pitch range of the Original Tone? (☞P.111, 116, 130, 132)
- ●Is the Cutoff setting lowered? If the filter is Low Pass or Band Pass, and the Patch parameter Cutoff, the Tone parameter Cutoff, and the ENV Depth are set to " - " (negative), and the Cutoff is lowered, there may be no sound.(\$\overline\$P.112, 119, 121)
- ●Check the DLM settings. Some DLM settings may result in no sound.(□ P.115)
- Can you hear sound through the headphones? If you can, the problem may be in the connected devices or connection cables.
- The D-70 will not sound while exclusive messages are being received and the data is being changed.
- The D 70 will not sound while Performances or Patches are being changed.
- When the Panic function is used, there will be no sound for approximately four seconds.
- Is the D 70 in ROM Play mode? In ROM Play mode, the D - 70 cannot be played by the keyboard or by messages received at MIDI IN.

Can't control the volume

- Only the Mix Out output jacks are affected by the Master Volume slider. To control the output of the Direct Out lacks, adjust the connected amp or mixer.
- is the Volume Rx parameter for each Part turned Off? (□ P.67, 99)

Pitch is wrong / does not change

- Is the Master Tuning setting correct? (□ P.137)
- If the pitch range of the Original Tone has been exceeded, there will be no sound regardless of the Controller or Key Shift settings. Refer to the included Sound Chart for the pitch ranges of the Original Tones.
- O Check the Values and Destinations assigned to the Pitch function in the Controller Map for Bender or C1/Exp Pedal, etc. (□ P.64, 71, 96, 99, 101)
- OCheck the Key Shift and Fine Tune sattings for each section of the Tone Palette. (CP P.54, 111)
- OCheck the Pitch Coarse and Pitch Fine settings for a Tone or Bhythm Tone. (☞P.116, 132)
- OCheck the Pitch Key Follow setting of the Tone. (CP.116)
- Olf the pitch is wrong for only a specific Patch or Tone, the reason is in the settings of that Patch or Tone.
- Is the Tuning of an external MIDI sound source correct?
- ●Check the Transpose settings for each Section of the MIDI Palette. (⊂ P.69, 104)
- Is the Pitch Bender turned Off on an external MIDI sound source?
- ●Are the MIDI OUT Controller Map settings correct? (⇔P.71, 101)
- Is an external MIDI sound source being Key Shifted?
- Has a "non-zero" Pitch Bend message been received without returning to zero? Press PANIC or reselect the Performance.
- ●Check the Analog Feel settings for each Part. (∽ P.67, 99)

Controllers don't work

[internal sound source]

 The controllers which can be used will depend on whether the KB PART is set to a Synthe Part, the Rhythm Part, or Off.

O If the KB PART is a Synthe Part, all controllers can be used.

Olf the KB PART is the Rhythm Part, the Brightness slider and the Tone Palette sliders (controlling the Output Level of the Rhythm Part) can be used.

O If the KB PART is Off, no controllers can be used.

- ●in the case of the Pedal SW, check that the System Setup parameter Pedal SW is set to Controller Map. If this parameter is set to other than Controller Map, the Controller Map settings will not be used. (☞ P.138)
- ●Check the Controller Map settings for KB PRM and each Part. (∽P.64, 96, 99)
- Depending on the sound data, controllers may have no effect. Check the parameters of the sound data.

[External sound source]

- Is the external MIDI sound source able to respond to that type of Controller message?
- Has the external MIDI sound source reception been turned Off for that function?
- ●In the case of the Pedal SW, check that the System Setup parameter Pedal SW is set to Controller Map. If this parameter is set to other than Controller Map, the Controller Map settings will not be used. (☞P.138)
- ●Check the Controller Map of MIDI OUT. (□ P.71, 101)
- ●When using the Tone Palette sliders as controllers, the sliders can be used only when you are in the Play mode MIDI OUT and MIDI CTRL Map displays.(☞P.39)
- * Controllers other than the Tone Palette sliders can be set independently for the internal sound source (the Control Map of each Part, etc.) and for external MIDI sound sources (the MIDI OUT Control Map), meaning that a single controller can simultaneously control different things.

Keyboard playing dynamics are not as expected

- ●Check the Velocity Curve and Velocity Sensitivity settings of the Patch. (☞ P.107)
- ●Check the Velocity Curve, Velocity Sensitivity, Envelope etc. (TVA) settings of the Tone or Rhythm Tone. (▷P.124, 135)
- ●Check the Velocity Curve and Velocity Sensitivity of MIDI OUT. (⊂ P.102, 103)
- Can the external MIDI sound source respond to velocity?

Cannot select sounds/ cannot output program changes

[When selecting D - 70 sounds]

- ●Press PERFORMANCE to select a Performance, or press PATCH to select a Patch. To select a Tone, hold TONE/ZONE SELECT and press TONE .(☞ P.44, 45, 90, 91)
- ●Is the channel on which to receive Program Change messages set correctly?
 Program Change messages (65 128 will be ignored without RAM Card) received on the Control channel will select Performances. Program Change messages received on the channel of each Part will select Patches.
 (\$\sigma\$P.49)
- ●Is the Program Change Rx parameter for each Part turned Off? (☞ P.67, 99)
- ●If you want to use the Pedal SW to select Performances, make sure that the System Setup parameter Pedal SW is set to Performance Up/Down. (☞ P.138).
- In Play mode when the KB PART is Rhythm, panel buttons will not select Patches or Tones.
- It is not possible to select sounds in the ROM Play or Orig.Tone (PCM) Play displays.

[When selecting sounds of an external sound source]

- Is Program Change reception turned Off for the external MIDI sound source?
- ●Do the channels of each Section of the MIDI Palette match the channels of the external MIDI sound source? (▽P.68, 104)
- ●Is MIDI turned off (Muted) for each section of the MIDI Palette? If so, no MIDI messages will be transmitted. (CPP.44, 104)
- •Are Program Change messages being correctly transmitted in realtime? For details refer to P.46.
- Do the Program Change numbers being transmitted match the sound memory numbers of the external MIDI sound source?

Notes are interrupted or do not sound

- The D 70 can produce up to 30 notes at once, including notes in their release stage. It is not possible to play more notes than this.
- ●Check the Key Mode settings of the Patch. In the case of Layer, four Tones will sound at once, and this will affect the maximum number of simultaneous notes. (☞ P.54, 57, 108)
- ●Check the Velocity Mode of the Upper and Lower sections of the Patch. In the case of Normal or Mix, two Tones will sound at once, and this will affect the maximum number of simultaneous notes. (
 ¬P.56, 108)
- ●Check the Priority settings. Turn Priority On for the most important Parts. (□ P.67, 98)
- ●If the Lower or Upper section of the Patch Is set to Solo, only single notes will be played even If chords are received from a sequencer. (\$\$\sigma\$P.53, 56, 109)

No effect is applied

- ●Check the Effect settings of each Part. Make sure Effect is turned On. (☞ P.67, 99)
- ●Check the Output Assign settings of each Section. Set the Output Assign parameter to Reverb or Chorus. (♥ P.53, 112)
- ●Check the Reverb or Chorus levels. If the Level is 0, there will be no effect. (☞P.59, 61, 105, 106)
- is the System Setup parameter Pedal SW set to Effector? If so, the effector will be applied to each Part whose Effect parameter is On only while the pedal is On.(☞ P.138)

Stuck notes on the D - 70 or external MIDI sound source

- Press the PANIC button.
- Reselect the Performance.
- Check the MIDI cable connections.

Portamento does not work

- In order to use Portamento, the following conditions must be true.
- O the Key Assign of Lower or Upper is set to Solo O the Portamento of Lower or Upper is set to On O the Portamento Time of Lower or Upper is set above 0

Two types of Portamento are available. For details refer to P.57, 110.

Tone editing does not function as expected

- ●Is the Part or Section you wish to edit selected correctly? During editing, the keyboard will play the KB PART, not the Part selected for editing. Editing will affect the Section selected in the display. (∽P.95)
- ●In the Tone Edit displays, the sound is determined by the settings for the Patch parameters (Key Mode, Cutoff, Resonance, etc.), and the Brightness silder and controllers. Check the Patch parameters. (CP P.107)

●Check the settings of the Tone for each Section of the Patch. If these are muted, there will be no sound. During Tone editing, mute unneeded Tones. (☞P.89, 113)

Cannot use a card

The D - 70 can use the following cards.

ORAM Cards formatted by the D - 70 (M - 256E) (CPP.140) OD - series SN - SPLA FCM Cards

- OPCM Cards (SN U110) of the U series sound library (some cards cannot be used) (☞ P.93)
- * RAM Cards formatted by D series instruments other than the D 70 cannot be used.
- * D series sound library cards (PN D10 series and PN D50 series) cannot be used.

Cannot set MIDI channels correctly

●It is possible to make MIDI channel settings in the Play and Edit displays, but there is also a command display (CH Setting) that allows you to edit while viewing all channels. (□ P.157, 162)

MIDI OUT setting do not change

●If MIDI OUT settings do not change when you select a Performance, check whether the System Setup parameter MIDI OUT Link Mode is turned Off. When this parameter is On, MIDI OUT settings will change when a Performance is selected.(∽P.138)

Cannot transmit data via exclusive messages

- ●Do the Unit Numbers of the two devices match? (□ P.137)
- ●Has the type of data to be transmitted been selected correctly? If data has not been selected correctly, nothing will be transmitted. (□ P.139, 142)

3 PARAMETER LIST

System Setup

	• •		
	References Parameter	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	
\backslash	Master Tune	M. Tune	- 64 + 63
\backslash	Control Channel	Control CH	1 — 16, Off
\backslash	Exclusive Receive SW	Exclusive Rx	On, Off
\backslash	Unit Number	Unit Number	1 - 32
	Hold Pedal	Hoid Pedal	Hold, Sostenuto
	Pedal SW	Pedal SW	Perform 1, Perform 1, Effector, Cont Map
	MIDI OUT Link Mode	MIDI Link	On, Off
```````````````````````````````````````	Local SW	Local SW	On, Off
Channel - ee 1 16	Transmit Channel Name (10 characters)	Tx CH Name	(space) A — Z a — z 0 — 9 - / + * #.,!

### User Set

	<b>Paren</b> Paren	(iĐC)	no is Display data and	
F1-F5	Performance N	lumber	Performance Name	I: 11 − I: 88/C: 11 − C: 88
1			<u>}</u>	

# Performance

e segna de

●KB PRM

$\backslash$	Perarteter (	Disolary	VEILO SE
	Performance Name	Name	(space) A — Z a — z 0 — 9
	(10 characters)		-/+ * #.,!
	Keyboard Part	KB PART	15, R, Off
		Sontcoller Map	
Genterella	Repartmenter	BISDIAY	Vellee
na na sana sa	ta ante o tra consecto o destructor e tra consecto da tra		Pitch Bend, TVF Cutoff, TVA
	Function	Function	Level, LFO Pitch, LFO TVF,
			LFO TVA. Portamento Time
	Value	Value	0127
C1/Exp Pedal			- 12 semi - + 12 semi
[Contorol Change	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
Number 6		Function	Pitch Bend, TVF Cutoff, TVA
Data Entry]	Function		Level, LFO Pitch, LFO TVF,
Data Citery]			LFO TVA, Portamento Time
	Value Value	Velue	0-127
			- 12 semi + 12 semi
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
Pedal SW		Function	LFO Pitch, LFO TVF, LFO TVA,
[Contorol Change	Function		Octave Up, Octave Down
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
Number 80		Function	LFO Pitch, LFO TVF, LFO TVA.
General Purpose	Function		Octave Up, Octave Down
Contoroller – 5]	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off

	• Par	t Angadh inn jaga ing Australia.		
	Bad		Displey and	www.www.www.value
		Receive Channel	CH/Rx CH	1 16, Off
		Patch Select	Patch Number and Name	A11 - A88, B11 - B88
		Output Level	Level/Output Level	0 127
				C - 1 - G9
		Zone	Zone	C - 1 - G9
	1 — 5	Priority	Prior/Priority	On, Off
		Effect	Effect	On, Off
		Analog Feel	A. Feel/Analog Feel	0 127
		Program Change Receive SW	PG #/P. Change Rx	On, Otf
		Volume Receive SW	Vol./Volume Rx	On, Off
		Receive Channel	CH/Rx CH	1 — 16, Off
		Output Level	Level/Output Level	0 - 127
				C - 1 - G9
	R	Zone	Zone	C - 1 - G9
		Priority	Prior/Priority	On, Off
		Effect	Effect	On, Off '
		Volume Receive SW	Vol./Volume Rx	On, Off
	on rollor.	Falender	Display and a Display and a	Valor:
	4. V .	Function	Function	Pitch Bend
	194 - P. J.	Value	Value	— 48 semi — 0 semi
	Dandan		V BING	0 semi — + 12 semi
	Bender	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
	[Bender]	Function	Function	TVF Cutoff, TVA Level, LFO Pitch, LFO TVF, LFO TVA
		Value	Value	0 - 127
		Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
ы Г				Pitch Bend, TVF Cutoff,
- -		Function	Function	TVA Level, LFO Pitch, LFO TVF, LFO TVA
Part		Value	Value	0 - 127
	A Tourb			- 12 semi - + 12 semi
	A. Touch	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
	[CAf]			Pitch Bend, TVF Cutoff,
	]	Function	Function	TVA Level, LFO Pitch, LFO TVF.
	1	Value	Value	0 - 127
			Destination	- 12 semi - + 12 semi
		Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off

		en e	Son Kollister (VAp.	Value
		Function		Pitch Bend, TVF Cutoff, TVA Level, LFO Pitch, LFO TVF, LFO TVA
		Value	Value	0 127 12semi + 12semi
u)	Modulation	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
Part 1	[Mod]	Function	Function	Pitch Bend, TVF Cutoff, TVA Level, LFO Pitch, LFO TVF, LFO TVA
		Value	Value	0 — 127
				- 12semi — + 12semi
		Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
	Hold Pedal [Hold]	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off

• E	ffector	n an	n an an Allan An Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna Anna
·····	Rename ter an internation	Bill Anna Bisplay	Son Contraction States
	Reverb/Delay Type	Туре	Room 1 — 3, Hall 1, 2, Gate Delay, Cross Delay
Reverb	Reverb/Delay Time	Time	0 - 31
	Reverb / Dely Level	Level	0 31
	Feedback	Feedback	0 31
	Chorus/Flanger Type	Туре	Chorus 1, 2, FB – Chorus, Flan Short Delay
	Output Mode	Out Mode	Pre Reverb, Post Reverb
<b>O</b> 1	Chorus/Flanger Level	Level	0 - 31
Chorus	Delay Time	Delay Time/Delay	0 — 31
	Chorus/Flanger Rate	Rate	0 31
	Chorus/Flanger Depth	Depth	0 — 31
	Feedback	Feedback	- 31 + 31

	Parameter A	Display	Value Value
	Velocity Curve	Velo Curve	1-4
$\mathbf{i}$	Velocity Sensitivity	Velo Sens	0 - 127
	Key Mode	Key Mode	Layer, Split, Zone
	Split Point	Split Point	C - 1 - G9
	Velocity Mode	Vel/Velo Mode	Normal, SW, Mix
.ower∕Upper	Threshold Sensitivity	Thr/Threshold	0 - 127
		No dvilo Palata	Mart Sall State and A
Section		a the second of the	a server a server veriver
2. <b></b>	Transmit Channel	СН	1 - 16
	MIDI Volume	Volume/Vol	0 - 127
		· · ·	1 (a11) - 64 (a88),
	Program Change Number	PG #	65 (b11) - 128 (b88)
L-1 U-4	Transpose	Xpose	- 24 semi - + 24 semi
			C - 1 - G9
	Zone	Zone	C - 1 - 69
an e di santa diku		MIDI salas defenses en	On, Off
70		- Cojetorellaj e Malphere	
Controller	wanter and an antiper state	Bisplay State	Vélue de la compaction de la compaction de la compaction
	Function	Function	Bender
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
Bender	Function	Function	C. Chg 0 - 95, After Touc
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
			C. Chg 0 — 95, Bender Up,
	Function	Function	Bender Down, After Touch
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
A. Touch			C. Chg 0 - 95, Bender Up,
	Function	Function	Bender Down, After Touch
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
		Eventient	C. Chg 0 — 95, Bender Up,
	Function	Function	Bender Down, After Touch
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
Modulation			C. Chg 0 — 95, Bender Up,
	Function	Function	Bender Down, After Touch
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
		Europhian	C. Chg 0 — 95, Bender Up,
	Function	Function	Bender Down, After Touch
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
C1/Exp Pedal	P*	Eurotica	C. Chg 0 - 95, Bender Up,
	Function	Function	Bender Down, After Touch
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
	Function	Function	C. Chg 0 — 95
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off
Pedal SW	Function	Function	C. Chg 0 — 95
	Destination	Destination	Lower, Upper, Both, Off

# Patch

	Kentre Parameter M		
	Patch Name	Name	(space) A - Z a-z 0 - 9
	(10 characters)	INALLE	· - / + * #., !
	Patch Level	Patch Level	0 - 127
Common	Velocity Curve	Velocity Curve	1-4
	Velocity Sensitivity	Velocity Sens	0 - 127
	Key Mode	Key Mode	Layer, Split, Zone
	Split Point	Split Point	C - 1 - G9
	Velocity Mode	Velo Mode	Normal, SW, Mix
	Threshold Sensitivity	Threshold	0 - 127
	Key Assign	K. Assgn/Key Assign	Poly, Solo
	Solo Legato	Solo Legato	On, Off
Lower/Upper	Portamento	Porta	On, Off
	Portamento Mode	P. Mode	Auto, Normal
	Portamento Time	P. Time	0 — 127
	Portamento Receive SW	PortRx	On, Off
	Pan Receive SW	Pan Rx	On, Off
SEGIOD.	References for		Valee
	Tone Select	Tone Number and Name	a11 — a88, b11 — b8B
	Level	Level	0 — 127
	Key Shift	K. Shift	- 24 semi - + 24 semi
	Fine Tune	F. Tune	- 64 + 63
	Cutoff	Cutoff	-64 - + 63
	Resonance	Reso	- 64 - + 63
L-1 - U-4	Attack Time	Attack	- 64 + 63
	Release Time	Release	-64 - + 63
	Output Assign	Output/Out	Reverb, Chorus, Dry, Direct
	Pan	Pan	7>><<7
	Tone	Tone	On, Off
	Zone		C - 1 - G9
	LUIG		C - 1 - G9
	Parameters -	Displayes	Value
----------	------------------------------------------	----------------	------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
	Tone Name (10 characters)	Tone Name	(space) A - Z a - z 0 - 9 - / + * #., !
	Original Tone Media	Orig, Media	1 1 - 3, D 1 - 32, U 1 - 3
	Original Tone Number	Orig. Number	1 128
Tone PRM	DLM	DLM	On, Off
	Mode	Mode	A, B
	Start	Start	0 — 127
	Length	Length	1 - 128
	Pitch Coarse	P. Coarse	- 48 semi - + 48 semi
	Pitch Fine	P. Fine	- 64 - + 63
	Pitch Key Follow	P. KF	(-100, -50, -20, -10, -5, +5, +10, +20, +50, +98, +5 +100, +101, +102, +200) %
	ENV Time Key Follow	ENV KF	(-100, -50, 0, +10, +20, +3 +40, +50, +60, +70, +8 +90, +100, +110, +130, +15 %
Pitch	Attack Time	A, Tim	0 - 127
	Attack Depth	A, Depth	(-48, -42, -36, -30, -24, -18, -12-1, -0.5, -0.25, 0, +0.25, +0.5, +1-+12) semi
	Release Time	R, Tim	0 - 127
	Release Depth	R, Depth	(-48, -42, -36, -30, -24, -18, -121, -0.5, -0.25, 0, +0.25, +0.5, +1-+12) semi
	Filter Mode	Filter	LPF, HPF, BPF, Bypass
	Cutoff	Cutoff	0 127
	Resonance	Reso	0 - 127
	Velocity Curve	V. Curve	1 4
	Cutoff Key Follow	KF	(-100, -75, -50, -25, 0, + +20, +30, +40, +50, +( +70, +80, +90, +100, +110)
	Envelope Depth	ENV Depth	- 64 - + 63
TVF	ENV Depth Velocity Sensitivity	ENV Depth Velo	0 — 127
	ENV Time Key Follow	TIME KF	(-100, -50, 0, +10, +20, + +40, +50, +60, +70, +8 +90, +100, +110, +130, +15
	ENV Tome Velocity Sensitivity	TIME Velo	0 127
	ENV Time Release Velocity Sensitivity	TIME R. Velo	0 - 127

	Barameter and		
	Attack Time	A. Tim	0 127
	Attack Level	A, Lvi	0 - 127
	Decay 1 Time	D/B, Tim	0 - 127
TVF	Decay Brake Point	D/B, Lvl	0 - 127
	Decay 2 Time	D/S, Tim	0 - 127
	Sustain Level	D/S, Lvl	0 - 127
	Release Time	R. Tim	0 - 127
	Level	Level	0 - 127
	Velocity Curve	V. Curve	1-4
	Velocity Sensitivity	V. Sens	0 - 127
	ENV Time Key Follow	TIME KF	$ \begin{array}{c} (-100, -50, 0, +10, +20, +30) \\ +40, +50, +60, +70, +80) \\ +90, +100, +110, +130, +150, \\ \% \end{array} $
τνα	ENV Time Velocity Sensitivity	TIME Velo	0 127
IVA	ENV Time Release Velocity Sensitivity	TIME R. Velo	0 127
	Attack Time	A, Tim	0 - 127
	Attack Level	A, Lvi	0 - 127
	Decay 1 Time	D/B, Tim	0 - 127
	Decay Brake Point	D/B, Lvl	0 - 127
	Decay 2 Time	D/S, Tim	0 - 127
	Sustain Level	D/S, LvI	0 - 127
	Release Time	R, Tim	0 - 127
	Waveform	Waveform	Triangle, Sine, Square, Saw, Random
	Rate	Rate	0 127
	Delay Time	Delay Time	0 — 15
LFO	Rise Time	Rise Time	0 15
	Offset	Offset	(-100, -50, 0, +50, +100) %
	Pitch Modulation Depth	Pitch Mod Depth	- 64 - + 63
	TVF Modulation depth	TVF Mod Depth	- 64 + 63
	TVA Modulation Depth	TVA Mod Depth	- 64 + 63

Rhythm	Setup
--------	-------

F	hythm	Setup		
		Parameters	Sector Diseasy	Value ****
Rhyt	nm Common	Rhythm Shift	Rhythm Shift	- 28 semi - + 24 semi
		Original Tone Media	Orig. Media	1 1 - 3, D 1 - 32, U 1 - 32
		Original Tone Number	Orig. Number	1 — 128
	-	Source Key	Source Key	Off, C # - 1 - G9
	Rhythm	Mute	Mute	E1 — G7, Off
	PRM	Output Assign	Out	Reverb, Chorus, Dry, Direct
		Pan	Pan	7>><<7
		ENV Mode	ENV	Sus, No Sus
		Pitch Coase	P. Coarse	- 12 semi - + 12 semi
		Pitch Fine	P. Fine	- 64 + 63
		Attack Time	A, Tim	0 - 127
	Pitch	Attack Depth	A, Depth	(-48, -42, -36, -30, -24, -18, -12 - 1, -0.5, -0.25, 0, +0.25, +0.5, +1 - +12) semi
		Filter Mode	Filter	LPF, HPF, BPF, Bypass
		Cutoff	Cutoff	0 127
		Resonance	Reso	0 - 127
67		Velocity Curve	V. Curve	1-4
I		Envelope Depth	ENV Depth	- 64 + 63
Key : E1		ENV Depth Velocity Sensitivity	ENV Depth Velo	0 — 127
*	TVF	Attack Time	A, Tim	0 - 127
		Attack Level	A, Lvl	0 — 127
		Decay 1 Time	D∕B, Tim	0 127
		Decay Brake Point	D/B, Lvi	0 — 127
		Decay 2 Time	D/S, Tim	0 - 127
		Sustain Level	D/S, Lvi	0 - 127
		Release Time	R. Tim	0 127
		Level	Level	0 — 127
		Velocity Curve	V. Curve	14
		Velocity Sensitivity	V. Sens	0 - 127
		Attack Time	A, Tim	0 - 127
		Attack Level	A, LVI	0 - 127
	TVA	Decay 1 Time	D/B, Tim	0 127
		Decay Brake Point	D/B, Lvi	0 - 127
		Decay 2 Time	D/S, Tim	0 - 127
		Sustain Level	D/S, Lvi	0 - 127
		Release Time	R, Tim	0 - 127

# INITIALIZE DATA

### Performance

Group	Screen	Parameter	ng nakalari
		Name	Space
		KB PART	1
		CAL/EAST PLA	
		Function Value	Destination
KB PRM	1. KB PRM	TVF Cutoff 0	Both
		TVA Level 0	Both
		Participation (SA)	
		Function Value	Destination
		Octave Up	Upper
		Octave Down	Lower
	1	Rx CH	1 (Part 2-5: Off)
		Pach Select	A11 ( 1)
		Output Level	127
		ир Zone	C – 1–69
		Priority	Off
	2. Part setting	Effect	On
		Analog Feel	0
		P. Change Rx	On
		Volume Rx	On
		Rx CH	10
-		Output Level	127
		Zone	C - 1-G9
		Priority	Off
KB PART		Effect	On
OF		Volume Rx	On
Multi Timbre		Bender	
		Function Value	Destination
		Pitch Bend -2 +	2 Both
		TVF Cutoff 0	Both
		A Tiouc	h. Line and the second
		Function Value	Destination
		TVF Cutoff 0	Both
	3. Int CTRL Map	TVA Level 0	Both
		A Modulati	
	· · · ·	Function Value	Destination
		LFO Pitch 70	Both
		LFO TVF 0	Both
		Holds Red	
		Function Value	Destination
ļ			Both

Group	Screen	and the second second	Parameter			
		Bender				
		Function	Destination			
		Bender	Both			
		C. Chg 16/Gen -	1 Off			
		and the second	A BOOL A			
		Function	Destination			
		After Touch	Both			
		C. Chg 16/Gen-				
			Wedelinitor			
		Function	Destination			
		C. Chg 1/Mod	Both			
	4. MIDI CTRL Map	C. Chg 16/Gen-				
			CIL END POLEI			
		Function	Destination			
		C. Chg 7/Volume	Both			
		C. Chg 16/Gen -	1 Off			
			Pedal SW			
MIDI		Function	Destination			
		C. Chg 16/Gen -	1 Off			
		C. Chg 17/Gen -	2 Off			
		Function	Destination			
			Both			
		Velo Curve	1			
		Velo Sens	127			
		Key Mode	Layer			
	5. MIDI OUT	Split Point	A4			
		⊃ Velo Mode	Normal			
		Threshold	80			
		СН	1 (L-2-U-4:2, 3, 4)			
		√ Volume	127			
		PG #	1 (a11)			
	6. MIDI Palette	T Xpose	0			
		J Zone	C - 1			
		MIDI	On (L - 2-U - 4 : Off)			
		Туре	Hall 2			
			6			
		Time Level	10			
		Feedback	0			
		Type	Chorus 1			
Effector	7. Effector	Out Mode	Pre Reverb			
LINGOUN		Lavai	31			
	l	Delay Time	10			
		S Rate	23			
		Depth	5			
		Feedback	<u>0</u>			

## Patch

Group	Screen	Parameter			
	····		ame	Space	
	· ·	F	atch Level	127	
Patch	8. Patch Common		elocity Curve	1	
Common			elocity Sens	127	
		K	ey Mode	Layer	
		S	plit Point	A4	
[			Velo Mode	Normal	
			Threshold	80	
			Key Assign	Poly	
		ower/Upper	Solo Legato	Off	
Patch	9. Patch L/U PRM	ビ	Porta	Off	
L/U PRM		BWC	P. Mode	Auto	
		Ľ	P. Time	12	
			PortRx	Off	
			Pan Rx	Off	
	·		Tone Select	a11 ( 1)	
	10. Palette I – 1		Level	127	
			K. Shift	0	
			F. Tune	0	
		N	Cutoff	0	
Palette Lower		L'	Reso	0	
Falette Lower		-	Attack	0	
		ائ	Release	0	
	•		Output/Out	Reverb	
			Pan	><	
			Tone	On (L-2: Off)	
			Zone	C – 1—G9	
			Tone Select	a11 ( 1)	
			Level	127	
			K. Shift	0	
			F. Tune	0	
		4	Cutoff	0	
Palette Upper	12. Palette U-3	÷[	Reso	0	
Falette Opper	13. Palette U-4	ကဲ	Attack	0	
		⇒[	Release	0	
	1	ſ	Output/Out	Reverb	
		ſ	Pan	><	
			Tone	Off	
		ľ	Zone	C - 1G9	

## Tone

Group	Screen	Paran	
		Tone Name	TVF Piano
		Orig. Media	11
		Orig. Number	2
ne PRM	14. Tone PRM	DLM	Off
		Mode	В
		Start	1
		Length	1
		P. Coarse	0
		P. Fine	0
		P. KF	
Pitch	15. Tone Pitch	ENV KF	0%
1 / (0.1		A, Tim	0
		A. Depth	0
		R, Tim	0
	1	R, Depth	
		Filter	LPF
	1	Cutoff	60
		Reso	0
	1	V. Curve	+ 20 %
		KF	+ 20 %
		ENV Depth	50
		ENV Depth Velo	+ 50 %
	10 7		6
TVF	16. Tone TVF	TIME Velo	5
	1	TIME R. Velo	0
		A, Tim A, Lvi	127
			25
		D/B, Tim	120
		D/B, Lvl D/S, Tim	85
		D/S, Lvl	20
		R, Tim	34
		Level	127
	1	V. Curve	2
		V. Sens	55
		TIME KF	+ 50 %
	1	TIME Velo	12
		TIME R. Velo	5
TVA	17. Tone TVA	A, Tim	0
IVA	TT. TONG TVA	A, Lvi	127
		D/B, Tim	25
		D/B, Lvi	120
		D/S, Tim	110
		D/S, Lvl	0
		R. Tim	22
		Waveform	Sine
		Rate	105
		Delay Time	4
		Rise Time	2
LFO	18. Tone LFO	Offset	0
		Pitch Mod Depth	0
		TVF Mod Depth	0
		TVA Mod Depth	0

**5 ORIGINAL TONE** 

Medi	a I1(Aco	ustic)
No.	Name	Upper Limit
1	A. PIANO 1	G9
2	A. PIANO 2	C9
3	A. PIANO 3	G#8
4	A. PIANO 4	G#8
5	E. PIANO 1	A8
6	E. PIANO 2	G#8
7	BRIGHT EP	G#7
8	E. ORGAN 1	A6
9	E. ORGAN 2	B6
10	E ORGAN 3	E7
11	E ORGAN 4	G#6
12	R. ORGAN	D#9
13	A. GUITAR	A6
14	E. GUITAR 1	F6
15	E. GUITAR 2	F6
16	HEAVY. EG	F7
17	SLAP 1	G7
18	SLAP 2	G7
19	SLAP 3	G7
20	SLAP 4	G7
21	SLAP 5	G7
22	FINGERED	G7
23	PICKED	A4
24	FRETLESS	G7
25	AC. BASS	A#5
26	CHOIR	G#6
27	STRINGS 1	C8
28	STRINGS 2	C8
29	SOFT TP	B7
30	TP/TRB 1	C#8
31	TP/TRB 2	C#8
32	TP/TRB 3	C#8
33	BRASS	A7
34	SAX 1	E7
35	SAX 2	E7
36	SAX 3	E7
30	FLUTE	B7
38	SHAKU	F7
39	CALLIOPE	E9
40	PAN PIPES	G#7
40	BAGPIPES	F#8
41	BALAPHONE	D7
42	BTRIMBAO	C7
	KALIMBA	D7
44	CYMBALON	D7
45		G7
46		D7
47	MARIMBA	

Media	I	2	(S ^v	ynthesiz
TAICOULO	-		· · · ·	7

ter)

Media 1 2 (Synthesiz		(nesizer)
No.	Name	Upper Limit
1	FANTASYNTH	D#9
2	JP. STRINGS	G8
3	SYN VOX 1	F9
4	SYN, VOX 2	F9
5	SYNTH HARP	E9
6	DIGI. BELL	88
7	FANTA BELL	F#9
8	DIST 5TH 🛧	G8
9	SOFT SYN	°F#8
10	BASS LP ★	B7
11	BELL LP	F#7
12	HARP ATK	G7
13	PIZZ	G8
14	EP WAVE	F#8
15	CLAVE WAVE	D8
16	LITE WAVE	E8
17	B-3 WAVE	D8
18	SAX WAVE	E9
19	BLO WAVE	D#8
20	SYN. WAVE 1	B8
21	SYN. WAVE 2	F#9
22	SYN. PULSE1	F#8
23	SYN. PULSE2	F#8
24	SYN. PULSE3	F#8
25	SYN. SQUARE	F#9
26	SYN TRI	F#8
27	SYN, SAW 1	F#8
28	SYN. SAW 2	B8
<b>29</b>	SYN. SAW 3	F#8
30	DIGITAL 1	D8
31	DIGITAL 2	G8
32	DIGITAL 3	BB
33	DIGITAL 4	88
34	DIGITAL 5	B8
35	DIGITAL 6	B8
36	DIGITAL 7	D8
37	DIGITAL 8	D8
38	DIGITAL 9	D8
39	WHITENOISE	G#7
40	BREATH	C8
41	SPECTRUM 1	E9
42	SPECTRUM 2	E9
43	NOISE 1	G#7
44	NOISE 2	D8

Media	Nedia I 3 (Percussion)				
No.	Name	Upper Limit			
1	SNAREDRUM1	G5			
2	SNAREDRUM2	G5			
3	SNAREDRUM3	G5			
4	SNAREDRUM4	G5			
5	SNAREDRUM5	G5			
6	KICK 1	G5			
7	KICK 2	G5			
8	KICK 3	G5			
9	KICK 4	G5			
10	TOM 1	G5			
11	TOM 2	G5			
12	HI – HAT	G5			
13	CHINA CYM	G5			
14	CRASH CYM	G5			
15	RIDE BELL	G5			
16	SIDE STICK	G5			
17	STICKS	G5			
18	CABASA	G5			
19	CLAPS	G5			
20	COWBELL	G5			
21	808 SNARE	G5			
22	808 HI-HAT	G5			
23	808 TOM	G5			
24	ELEC TOM	G5			
25	808 CLAVES	G5			
26	CLICK	G7			
27	AGOGO	D7			
28	ORCH HIT	G#6			

- * Upper Limit represents the value obtained when the P.KF (Pitch Key Follow) is set to "+100%".
- * When the Original Tone with 🖈 mark is selected, the Pitch Bender may not be turned on.

Original Tone			DLM (On)		
Name	Media	Number	Mode	Start	Length
R. ORGAN	.11	12	A	80	1
R. ORGAN	11	12	A	83	1
R. ORGAN	11	12	B	29	1
SYN. TRI	12	26	В	4	20
SYN. TRI	12	26	B	117	1
SYN. TRI	12	26	В	125	1
SYN. SAW 3	12	29	B	8	1
NOISE 2	12	44	В	40	1

Sample data is shown below. You may find it useful for your sound creation.

# 7 FACTORY PRESET

### User Set

Gro	up	Performance Number/Name	
	F1	I:46 Ghosties	
	F2	I:74 12 StrGuit	
1-1	F3	I:43 SpitBrass1	
1	F4	I:62 ChorusBell	
	F5	1:11 D Piano + 1	
	F1	1:22 Slow n Low	
	F2	I:14 BellRhodes	
1-2	F3	I : 81 Asialon	
	F4	I:24 Pipes 1	
	F5	I:54 DLMoogBs 1	
	F1	1:25 HornString	
	F2	I:66 Wow Jet	
1-3	F3	I:47 Mondo Poly	
	F4	I:78 Drum Kit	
	F5	1:37 Cool Vibes	
	F1	l:57 Jazz Split	
	F2	l:31 SuperClav	
1-4	F3	I:61 Prologue	
	F4	I:82 BaliDancer	
	F5	I:34 DLM Keys 1	
	F1	I:55 Schizoid I	
	F2	I:36 * Quasar *	
1-5	F3	1:48 There Bs 1	
	F4	I:38 Tibet Bell	
	F5	I:44 Sax Octave	

Gra	oup	Performa	ance Number/Name
	F1	l : 68	SpaceDream
	F2	1:21	Stirrings
1-6	F3	1:77	GuitarMIDI
	F4	1:45	SynthBones
	F5	1:87	Lab Jet
	_F1	l:51	LeadSynth1
	F2	1:83	Hyper Pad
1-7	F3	l : 58	DLMoogBs 2
	F4	l:13	Rhodes 1
	F5	l : 53	Lead Vox
	F1	1:26	StringsVox
	F2	1:15	Tack Piano
1-8	F3	1:72	Organ
	F4	l : 75	Big Guitar
	F5	1 : 86	Sweepster
	F1	l : 63	NiteSprite
	F2	1:17	MIDI Piano
1-9	F3	l : 18	BandRhodes
	F4	1:27	Ffflute
	F5	l : 23	JP – Strings
	F1	l : 42	EnsmblHorn
	F2	l : 88	G – Finale
1 - 10	F3	l : 28	Calliopead
[	F4	l : 52	LeadSynth2
	F5	1:71	ClickLesly

### Performance

No.	Performance Name
11 ( 1)	D Piano + 1
12 ( 2)	Grandioso
13 ( 3)	Rhodes 1
14 ( 4)	BellRhodes
15 ( 5)	Tack Piano
16 ( 6)	AcPia + Str
17 ( 7)	MIDI Piano
18 ( 8)	BandRhodes
21 ( 9)	Stirrings
22 ( 10)	Slow n Low
23 (11)	JP – Strings
24 ( 12)	Pipes 1
25 (13)	HornString
26 (14)	StringsVox
27 (15)	Ffflute
28 (16)	Calliopead
31 ( 17)	SuperClav
32 (18)	StickDecay
33 (19)	DLM Synth
34 (20)	DLM Keys 1
35 (21)	Guitivitty
36 (22)	* Quasar *
37 (23)	Cool Vibes
38 (24)	Tibet Bell
41 ( 25)	Fuzz Brass
42 (26)	EnsmblHorn
43 ( 27)	SpitBrass1
44 ( 28)	Sax Octave
45 (29)	SynthBones
46 ( 30)	Ghosties
47 (31)	Mondo Poly
48 ( 32)	There Bs 1

No.	Performance Name
51 (33)	LeadSynth1
52 ( 34)	LeadSynth2
53 (35)	Lead Vox
54 (36)	DLMoogBs 1
55 ( 37)	Schizoid !
56 (38)	Slap Bass
57 (39)	Jazz Split
58 ( 40)	DLMoogBs 2
61 ( 41)	Prologue
62 ( 42)	ChorusBell
63 ( 43)	NiteSprite
64 ( 44)	Freezer
65 (45)	SweepSpace
66 (46)	Wow Jet
67 ( 47)	Mother Pad
68 (48)	SpaceDream
71 ( 49)	ClickLesly
72 ( 50)	Organ
73 ( 51)	Perc. Organ
74 ( 52)	12 StrGuit
75 ( 53)	Big Guitar
76 ( 54)	Funk Mute
77 (55)	GuitarMIDI
78 ( 56)	Drum Kit
81 (57)	Asialon
82 (58)	BaliDancer
83 (59)	Hyper Pad
84 ( 60)	Shaku Zulu
85 ( 61)	Shuu – Doon
86 (62)	Sweepster
87 (63)	Lab Jet
88 ( 64)	G – Finale

### Patch

No.	Patch Name
A11 ( 1)	GrandPf Sw
A12 ( 2)	Grandioso
A13 ( 3)	Rhodes 1
A14 ( 4)	BellRhodes
A15 ( 5)	Tack Piano
A16 ( 6)	Grand + Strg
A17 ( 7)	MIDI Piano
A18 ( 8)	MIDI Stack
A21 ( 9)	Strings
A22 (10)	Slow n Low
A23 (11)	JP – Strings
A24 ( 12)	Pipes 1
A25 (13)	Horns + Str
A26 (14)	StringsVox
A27 (15)	Ffflute
A28 (16)	Calliopead
A31 ( 17)	Dual Clav
A32 ( 18)	Wave Synth
A33 (19)	DLM Synth
A34 (20)	DLM Pf – Gtr
A35 (21)	Guitivitty
A36 (22)	* Quasar *
A37 (23)	Cool Bells
A38 (24)	Reso Bell
A41 (25)	Mix Brass
A42 (26)	HornEnsmbl
A43 (27)	SynBrass
A44 (28)	SaxOctarve
A45 (29)	Horn Plus
A46 ( 30)	E. Trumpets
A47 ( 31)	MIDI Poly2
A48 ( 32)	DLM Ensmbl

No.	Patch Name
A51 ( 33)	Lead Synth
A52 ( 34)	Solo Synth
A53 (35)	Lead Vox
A54 (36)	Reso Lead
A55 ( 37)	DLM Piano1
A56 (38)	New Slap
A57 ( 39)	Vibes + Bass
A58 ( 40)	DLM Bass 1
A61 ( 41)	Prologue
A62 ( 42)	PPP Vox
A63 ( 43)	NiteSprite
A64 ( 44)	D50 Layer
A65 (45)	Sweep Str
A66 (46)	Wow Stack
A67 (47)	Pad BBrass
A68 (48)	EE Pad
A71 ( 49)	ClickLesly
A72 (50)	FullOrgan
A73(51)	ClickOrgan
A74 (52)	12 StrGuit
A75 (53)	Big Guitar
A76 (54)	FunkGit Sw
A77 (55)	GuitPnoStr
A78 (56)	DigitalSax
A81 (57)	Asia
A82 (58)	BaliDancer
A83 (59)	HyperFlute
A84 (60)	Shak Filt
A85 ( 61)	Shuu – Doon
A86 (62)	Talking
A87 (63)	Lab Jet
A88 (64)	G – Finale

.

No.	Patch Name	
B11 ( 65)	Ghost Vox1	E
B12 (66)	Wonderous1	E
B13 (67)	DLM Bass 2	E
B14 (68)	SynBones	E
B15 (69)	Ghost Vox2	E
B16 (70)	Jan Bass 1	E
B17 (71)	Reso 2Bell	E
B18 (72)	DLM Bass 3	E
B21 (73)	- • - • - • - B21	1
B22 ( 74)	-•-•-B22	
B23 (75)	- • - • - • - B23	L1
B24 (76)	-•-•-B24	
B25 (77)	- • - • - • - B25	
B26 (78)	- • - • - • - B26	
B27 ( 79)	- • - • - • - B27	
B28 ( 80)		
B31 ( 81)	- • - • - • - B31	
B32 ( 82)	- • - • - • - B32	
B33 (83)	-•-•B33	
B34 ( 84)	- • - • - B34	
B35 (85)	- • - • - • - B35	
B36 (86)		
B37 (87)	- • - • - B37	
B38 (88)	_ • - • - B38	
B41 ( 89)	-•-•B41	
B42 (90)	_ • - • - • - B42	
B43 (91)	- • - • - B43	
B44 ( 92)	-•-•-B44	
B45 (93)	-•-•-B45	
B46 (94)	- • - • - B46	
B47 (95)	-•-•-B47	
B48 (96)	- • - • - B48	i L

No.	Patch Name
B51 (97)	- • - • - • - B51
B52 (98)	- • - • - • - B52
B53 (99)	- • - • - B53
B54 (100)	- • - • - • - B54
B55 (101)	- • - • - • - B55
B56 (102)	- • - • - B56
B57 (103)	- • - • - • - B57
B58 (104)	- • - • - • - B58
B61 (105)	- • - • - • - B61
B62 (106)	- • - • - B62
B63 (107)	- • - • - • - B63
B64 (108)	- • - • - B64
B65 (109)	- • - • - • - B65
B66 (110)	- • - • - • - B66
B67 (111)	- • - • - • - B67
B68 (112)	- • - • - • - B68
B71 (113)	- • - • - • - B71
B72 (114)	- • - • - B72
B73 (115)	B73
B74 (116)	B74
B75 (117)	
B76 (118)	- • - • - • - B76
B77 (119)	-·-·-B77
B78 (120)	- • - • - B78
B81 (121)	- • - • - B81
B82 (122)	- • - • - • - B82
B83 (123)	- • - • - • - B83
B84 (124)	- • - • - • - B84
B85 (125)	B85
B86 (126)	- • - • B86
B87 (127)	- • - •
B88 (128)	- • - • - B88

* No sound data is written in the some Patches of B group preprogrammed from the manufacturer, because the Name Delete is being done (see page 158 and 166). Use it for a destination patch where the edited patch is to be written.

### Tone

No.	Tone Name
a11	A. Piano p1
a12	A. Piano f1
a13	A. Piano p2
a14	A. Piano f2
a15	E. Piano pp
a16	E. Piano ff
a17	Cymbalon 1
a18	E. Piano 1
a21	Digi Bell1
a22	E. Piano 2
a23	DigiAttack
a24	A. Piano 3
a25	Strings 1
a26	A. Piano 4
a27	SynRhodes1
a28	Vox Sweep
a31	Agogo 1
a32	RMIcomp 1
a33	Strings 2
a34	Str Pad 1
a35	Rosin. Pad1
a36	Jp. Strings1
a37	Strings 3
a38	DLM STR P1
a41	DLM STR P2
a42	TrumpBone1
a43	Strings 4
a44	Choir 1
a45	Syn Vox 1
a46	Pan Pipes1
a47	Flute 1
a48	Calliope 1

No.	Tone Name
a51	Wave 1Clav
a52	Wave 2Clav
a53	Digital 1
a54	Digital 2
a55	ToothPk5In
a56	DLM P-Gtr
a57	MarimbaSp
a58	Digi Bell2
a61	WetDigital
a62	FltDigital
a63	Digital 3
a64	Vibes 1
a65	FantaBell1
a66	Lite Wave2
a67	Str Pad 2
a68	DLM SYNBRS
a71	DLM HORN 2
a72	REAL HORN
a73	TrumpBone2
a74	BrassEns 1
a75	Saw 2
a76	Saw 1
a77	Brass 1
a78	Sax 1
a81	Sax 2
a82	Sax 3
a83	TrumpBone3
a84	DLM HORN 1
a85	SoftTrump1
a86	Syn. Mut – Tp
a87	Lite Bell1
a88	Polysyn 1

No.	Tone Name	
b11	Syn. Saw 2	
b12	Syn. Saw 1	
b13	Solo2Synth	
b14	GhostChoir	
b15	Syn Vox 2	
b16	SlapRezBas	
b17	DLM 1	
b18	DLM 2	
b21	SlapBass2 +	
b22	Vibes 2	
b23	AcoustBas1	
b24	DLM BASS 1	
b25	DLM BASS 2	
b26	Prologue	
b27	Syn. VoxPad	
b28	Str Pad 3	
b31	Reso. Synth	
b32	FantaBell2	
ь33	Syn Vox 3	
b34	DLM RESPAD	
b35	Fast Str	
b36	Noise Fall	
b37	Vibe Rise	
b38	Str Pad 3	а 2 ¹⁰ - 1
b41	Happy Org1	1
b42	Slow Str 1	
b43	GhostChor2	
b44	JP Pad 1	
b45	Lesli Org2	
b46	Click Org1	
b47	E. Organ 10	]
b48	E. Organ 11	J

.

No.	Tone Name	
b51	R. Organ 1	
b52	B-3 Wave	
b53	A. Guitar 1	
b54	A. Guitar 2	
b55	Syn. Slap 1	
b56	Heavy, Eg 2	
b57	Dist 5th 1	
b58	Funk Git 1	
b61	Funk Git 2	
b62	A. Guitar 3	
b63	BELL Sweep	
b64	Sax 4	
b65	Reso. Syn 2	
b66	Cymbalon 2	
b67	A, Guitar 4	
b68	PolySyn 3	
b71	Balaphone	
b72	Pan Pipes2	
b73	Syn Vox 4	
b74	Shaku 1	
b75	Shuu -	
b76	- Doon	
b77	Sweep Down	
b78		
b81	Sweep up	
b82	FretIsBas1	
b83	Cymbi Fall	
b84	Orch Hit	
b85	Snare Drum	
b86	Crash Cym	
b87	A. Piano 5	
b88	SynRhodes2	

193

Rhythm Setup

C3         808 TOM         1 3         23         G3           84         KICK 3         1 3         8         C4           86         SNAREDRUM3         1 3         9         C4           86         SNAREDRUM3         1 3         3         D4           88         SNAREDRUM4         1 3         4         C4           88         SNAREDRUM5         1 3         5         C4           89         ELEC TOM         1 3         22         D # 4				Original Tone							
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$					me		edia		nber	Source	Key
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			• •,•,•,•				3		7		
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU		<u> </u>	- 30	HI-HAT			3		2	D#4	
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU		31	32	TOM 2			3		1	G3	
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU		33	n en inger	TOM 1		1 1	3		0		
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU		35		KICK 2			3	1	1		
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU	ន	36		KICK 1			ž		6	A#3	
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU		38	- 3/	SIDE ST	CK RUM5	- <b></b>	3		6		
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU		40	39	CLAPS		<u>i</u>	ž	1	ğ –	A#3	
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU			· · · · · ·	TOM 1		+	3	+	1		
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU		I	42	HI - HAT		1	3	1	2	E4	
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU			44	HI-HAT			3		2	G3 E4	····
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU			46				3	1 1	<u>0</u>	D4	
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU		47		TOM 2			3		1	<u>E4</u> C4	
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU	ដ	48	40	CRASH C	YM.	<u>]                                    </u>	3	1	0	G#4	
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU		50	,	TOM 2	1.141		3	1	1		
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU		52	51		L YM	1	3	1 1	5	83	
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU		53		STICKS	( ) ( )		3		7	C4	
57         CRASH CYM         13         14         F4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           59         53         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D#4           60         KICK 3         13         15         C#4           60         61         STICKS         13         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         13         17         A4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         B2           65         66         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 TOM         13         23         E3           67         808 HI - HAT         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         ZSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRU				CRASH C	UMAE> 3 Ym		3	1			
59         53         SNAREDRUM3         1 3         3         0 # 4           60         RIDE BELL         1 3         15         C # 4           60         61         STICKS         1 3         15         C # 4           62         808 SNARE         1 3         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         1 3         21         F # 4           64         53         CLAPS         1 3         19         B2           64         SNAREDRUM2         1 3         2         F # 3           65         66         808 HI - HAT         1 3         22         E4           67         69         CABASA         1 3         18         A # 3           71         70         808 HI - HAT         1 3         22         E4           69         CABASA         1 3         18         A # 3           71         808 CLAVES         3         9         C4           74         808 CLAVES         3         9         C4           74         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         73         SNAREDRUM1         3         21         C4			56				•	<u> </u>			
62         63         STICKS         1 3         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         1 3         21         F#4           64         63         CLAPS         3         19         B2           64         53         CLAPS         3         2         F#3           65         66         808 TOM         1 3         23         A2           67         808 TOM         1 3         23         E3           69         CABASA         1 3         18         A#3           69         CABASA         1 3         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           72         KICK 4         3         9         C4           74         SNAREDRUM1         3         1         D#4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         25         E3           77         68 SNARE         3         25         E4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         26			58	CRASH C			3	1	4	F4	
62         63         STICKS         1 3         17         A4           62         808 SNARE         1 3         21         F#4           64         63         CLAPS         3         19         B2           64         53         CLAPS         3         2         F#3           65         66         808 TOM         1 3         23         A2           67         808 TOM         1 3         23         E3           69         CABASA         1 3         18         A#3           69         CABASA         1 3         18         A#3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           72         KICK 4         3         9         C4           74         SNAREDRUM1         3         1         D#4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         25         E3           77         68 SNARE         3         25         E4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         26	~	I	2.12.134.3	RIDE BEI	L	ļi	3	1	2	C#4	
62         808 SNARE         1 3         21         F # 4           64         63         CLAPS         13         19         82           64         SNAREDRUM2         13         19         82           65         808 TOM         13         23         A2           67         66         808 HI – HAT         13         22         E4           67         808 TOM         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A # 3           71         808 CLAVES         13         22         E4           69         CABASA         13         18         A # 3           71         808 CLAVES         13         25         E4           71         808 CLAVES         3         9         C4           74         SNAREDRUM1         3         1         D # 4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         21         C4           78         SNAREDRUM4         3         21         C4 <td>4</td> <td>60</td> <td>61</td> <td>STICKS</td> <td>··</td> <td>╁──┼</td> <td>3</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	4	60	61	STICKS	··	╁──┼	3				
04         SNAREDRUM2         1 3         2         F # 3           65         66         808 TOM         1 3         23         A2           67         66         808 HI - HAT         1 3         22         E4           67         808 HI - HAT         1 3         22         E4           69         63         808 HI - HAT         3         22         E4           69         CABASA         1 3         18         A # 3           71         808 HI - HAT         3         22         E4           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           74         73         SNAREDRUM1         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         24         D4           77         808 SNARE         3         23         C#           79         808 SNARE         3         25         B3           81         808 CLAVES         3         25         B3           83         808 TOM		62	<b>N</b> 9	808 SNA	RE		3	2	· ·	F#4	
65         808 TOM         1 3         23         A2           67         808 TOM         1 3         22         E4           67         808 HI - HAT         1 3         22         E4           67         68         808 HI - HAT         1 3         22         E4           69         CABASA         1 3         18         A# 3           69         CABASA         1 3         18         A# 3           71         808 CLAVES         3         25         E4           72         KICK 4         3         9         C4           74         SNAREDRUM1         3         1         D# 4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         21         C4           77         CSNAREDRUM4         3         21         C4           78         SNAREDRUM4         3         23         C4           77         78         SNAREDRUM4         3         24         C4           81         808 SNARE         3         25         E3           83         82         75         SNAREDRUM4         3 <td></td> <td>64</td> <td>03</td> <td></td> <td>UM2</td> <td>+</td> <td>3</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>		64	03		UM2	+	3				
69       CABASA       1.3       18       A#3         71       70       808 HI - HAT       3       22       E4         71       808 HI - HAT       3       22       E4         71       808 HI - HAT       3       25       E4         72       KICK 4       3       9       C4         74       SNAREDRUM1       3       1       D#4         76       SNAREDRUM4       3       4       D4         77       SSNAREDRUM4       3       4       D4         77       SSNAREDRUM4       3       21       C4         80       SNAREDRUM4       3       23       C4         81       808 CLAVES       3       25       83         82       TSNAREDRUM4       3       25       83         83       808 TOM       3       23       C4         84       808 TOM       3       3       3         808 TOM       3		65	66	808 TOM		<u> </u>	3	2	<u>}</u>	A2	
69       CABASA       1.3       18       A#3         71       70       808 HI - HAT       3       22       E4         71       808 HI - HAT       3       22       E4         71       808 HI - HAT       3       25       E4         72       KICK 4       3       9       C4         74       SNAREDRUM1       3       1       D#4         76       SNAREDRUM4       3       4       D4         77       SSNAREDRUM4       3       4       D4         77       SSNAREDRUM4       3       21       C4         80       SNAREDRUM4       3       23       C4         81       808 CLAVES       3       25       83         82       TSNAREDRUM4       3       25       83         83       808 TOM       3       23       C4         84       808 TOM       3       3       3         808 TOM       3		67	19:05	808 TOM			3	2	5		
71         808         HI - HAT         3         22         E4           71         808         CLAVES         3         25         E4           72         KICK 4         3         9         C4           74         SNAREDRUM1         3         1         D#4           76         SNAREDRUM4         13         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         13         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         13         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           77         SSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           77         SSNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           78         SSNAREDRUM4         3         21         C4           80         SNAREDRUM4         3         23         C4           81         808         CLAVES         3         25         B3           82         TSNAREDRUM6         3         23         C4         C4           83         808         TOM         3         23         G3           84         SINAREDRUM3         3		69	68	808 HI	HAT						
G     72     KICK 4     13     9     C4       74     73     SNAREDRUM1     13     1     D#4       74     SNAREDRUM4     13     4     D4       76     75     SNAREDRUM4     33     4     D4       77     GSNAREDRUM4     33     4     D4       79     808 SNARE     13     21     C4       81     808 TOM     3     23     C#3       83     808 TOM     13     23     C#3       83     808 TOM     13     23     G3       84     KICK 3     3     8     C4       86     SNAREDRUM3     3     3     D4       88     SNAREDRUM4     3     4     C4       88     SNAREDRUM5     13     5     C4       89     ELEC TOM     3     24     B3			70	- 1H 808 H	HAT	<u>†</u>	3	22	2		
73         SNAREDRUM1         1         3         1         D#4           74         SNAREDRUM4         13         4         D4           76         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           77         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         D4           79         808 SNARE         13         21         C4           80         808 TOM         3         23         C#3           81         808 CLAVES         3         25         B3           83         82         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         016           83         808 TOM         3         23         C3         3           84         KICK 3         3         8         C4           86         SNAREDRUM3         3         3         04           88         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         C4           89         ELEC TOM         3         24         B3 </td <td>0</td> <td></td> <td>·</td> <td>808 CLA</td> <td>/ES</td> <td>  </td> <td>3</td> <td>25</td> <td>5</td> <td></td> <td></td>	0		·	808 CLA	/ES		3	25	5		
76         75         SNAREDRUMAR         76         76         77         78         SNAREDRUMA         79         SNAREDRUMA         78         SNAREDRUMA         79         SNAREDRUMA         79         SNAREDRUMA         73         21         C4           81         808         SOB         SCARE         3         21         C4         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3	ά		73	SNAREDR			3	1		D#4	
73         ASMAREDRUM1         Additional         Additional <td></td> <td></td> <td>75</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>3</td> <td>4</td> <td>CONTRACTOR OF</td> <td></td> <td></td>			75				3	4	CONTRACTOR OF		
C         ESNAREC/DRUMAGE         Mark Box		76 -		ASNABEDB	amn.		\$ <b>7</b>			(O)fi	
79         808 SNARE         1 3         21         C4           80         808 TOM         1 3         23         C # 3           81         808 CLAVES         3         25         B3           83         82         TSNAREORUMINAME         3         25         B3           83         82         TSNAREORUMINAME         3         23         G3           84         85         KICK 3         1 3         8         C4           86         SNAREDRUM3         1 3         9         C4           88         SNAREDRUM4         1 3         4         C4           88         SNAREDRUM5         1 3         5         C4           89         ELEC TOM         3         24         B3		77	78	SNAREDR	JMANE.		ठ 316			NUCH Off	
81         808 CLAVES         3         25         83           83         32         250NAREDRUMMERAN         3         23         63           83         808 TOM         13         23         63           84         KICK 3         13         8         C4           86         SNAREDRUM3         13         3         D4           88         SNAREDRUM4         3         4         C4           88         SNAREDRUM5         13         5         C4           89         ELEC TOM         13         24         B3		79	80	808 SNAF	36			21		C4	
C3         808 TOM         1 3         23         G3           84         KICK 3         1 3         8         C4           86         KICK 4         3         9         C4           86         SNAREDRUM3         3         3         D4           88         SNAREDRUM4         1 3         4         C4           88         SNAREDRUM5         1 3         5         C4           89         ELEC TOM         3         24         B3		81	1977 - ANGERS	808 CLA	/ES		3	05		83	
B4         KICK 3         1 3         8         C4           86         SNAREDRUM3         3         9         C4           86         SNAREDRUM3         3         3         D4           88         SNAREDRUM4         1 3         4         C4           88         SNAREDRUM5         1 3         5         C4           89         ELEC TOM         1 3         24         B3		83	82	SNAREDR			3 <b>101</b>	2		™©ff∰eee	<u>. 340</u>
65         SNAREDRUM5         1 3         5         C4           80         ELEC TOM         3         24         B3	င္တ	84 _	0.7	KICK 3			<u>š</u>	8		C4	
65         SNAREDRUM5         1 3         5         C4           80         ELEC TOM         3         24         B3			85	KICK 4 SNAREDRI	JM3		3	9		C4	
OD         SNAREDRUM5         I 3         5         C4           89         ELEC TOM         I 3         24         B3	ł		87	SNAREDRI	JM4		ŝ	4	1	<u>C4</u>	
90 808 HI - HAT 3 22 D # 4 91 ELEC TOM 3 24 EA	ł			ELEC TOM	1		5			C4	
	ł		90	808 HI - 1	TAT		2	22		D#4	
92 <u>CHINA CYM I 3 13 C # 4</u>			92	ELEC TON	M		3	24		E4 C # 4	
93 <u>ELEC TOM 3 24 A4</u> OE 94 RIDE BELL 3 15 A4		93		ELEC TON			3	24		A4	
95 <u>94 RIDE BELL   3 15 A4</u> 95 <u>808 TOM   3 23 G2</u>		95	94	808 TOM			<u>}</u>	23		<u>A4</u> G2	
96         SNAREDRUM1         I 3         I 83           97         CABASA         I 3         18         F # 3	3	96	97	SNAREDRU	JM1		3	1		83	
97         CABASA         I 3         18         F # 3           98         BREATH         I 2         40         D4           100         99         CHINA CYM         I 3         13         D # 4	ſ	98		BREATH			2	40		D4	
96         SNAREDRUM1         1 3         1         B3           98         97         CABASA         1 3         18         F # 3           98         98         BREATH         1 2         40         D4           100         BREATH         1 3         1 3         D # 4           100         BREATH         1 2         40         C6           101         NOISE 1         1 2         43         C4	t	100	99	CHINA CY RREATH	M		3				
	f	101 _		NOISE 1			5	43		C4	
103 <u>NOISE 1 12 43 G3</u>	ŀ		102	HI - HAT NOISE 1			2	12		A0 G3	

* When the Source Key is set to Off, no sound is produced.

.

**B ABOUT MIDI** 

MIDI stands for Musical Instrument Digital Interface, and is a world - wide standard for exchanging musical data between instruments to play notes, select sounds, etc. Devices which are MIDI compatible can exchange musical data, regardless of the manufacturer and model of the device. Musical data such as notes being played or pedals being pressed are handled by MIDI as "MIDI messages".

# 1. How MIDI messages are transmitted and received

First, we will explain how MIDI messages are transmitted and received.

MIDI connectors

MIDI data is transmitted and received using the following three types of connectors. Depending on your needs, connect MIDI cables to these connectors.



MIDI IN:Receive MIDI messages from another MIDI device.MIDI OUT:Transmit MIDI messages from this device.MIDI THRU:Re - transmit (without modifying) the messages received at MIDI IN.

* MIDI THRU connectors can be used to connect several MIDI devices, but in practice, you should consider four or five as the limit. If more devices than this are connected, MIDI messages may become garbled and unreadable.

MIDI channels

MIDI uses "channels" to independently transmit messages to two or more MIDI devices using a single MIDI cable.

You may think of MIDI channels as being like the channels of a TV. By selecting channels on a TV receiver, you can receive a variety of different stations. When the transmitting channel matches the receiving channel, the data of that channel is received.



MIDI uses sixteen channels, numbered 1 - 16. MIDI messages will be received by an instrument whose reception channel matches the transmission channel of the transmitting device. If MIDI channels are set as shown in the following diagram, sound module B will sound when the keyboard is played.



## 2. MIDI messages used by the D-70

In order to transmit many different types of musical information, MIDI uses various types of message. MIDI messages can be divided into messages that are handled independently by each channel (Channel messages), and messages that are handled regardless of the channel (System messages).

Messages handled by each channel (Channel messages)

These messages are used to transmit musical performance gestures. Normally, most musical control can be accomplished using only these messages. The settings of each MIDI sound source will determine the effect caused by each type of MIDI message.

Note messages

These messages transmit keyboard data. Note messages include the following data.

Note number	the key position
Note on	a note has been played
Note off	a note has been released
Velocity	the speed (velocity) at which the note was played

*The note number indicates the key position over a range of 0 — 127, where a note number of 60 indicates middle C (C4).

### Pitch Bender messages

These messages transmit changes in pitch.

Aftertouch messages Aftertouch is divided into two types; Channel Aftertouch and Polyphonic Aftertouch. Channel Aftertouch applies to an entire MIDI channel. Regardless of the key you press down strongly, all notes will be affected in the same way.

Polyphonic Aftertouch controls each note independently. Even within the same MIDI channel, pressing down strongly on a specific note will affect only the sound of that note. The D - 70 transmits and receives only Channel Aftertouch.

The Aftertouch settings of a device will determine how Aftertouch messages are transmitted and received.

### Program Change messages

Program Change messages select sounds using a Program Number of 1 - 128. The D - 70 can receive Program Change messages to select Performances and Patches. Program Change messages received on the System Setup Control channel will select Performances. Program Change messages received on the channel of a Part will select Patches for that Part. For details see P.49.

• Control Change data These messages allow you to control Vibrato, Hold, Volume, Pan, etc, for more musically expressive playing. Each function is distinguished by a Control Number. The functions that can be controlled will depend on each MIDI device.

### Messages handled regardless of the channel (System messages)

System messages include Exclusive messages, messages for synchronization, and messages to keep a MIDI system running correctly. Of these, the D - 70 uses mainly Exclusive messages.

Exclusive messages are used to transmit data that is unique to each device, such as sound data. In general, these messages allow data to be transferred between devices of the same model made by the same manufacturer. Exclusive messages allow you to transmit sound data (instead of Program Change messages) to a sequencer to be recorded, or transmit sound data to another D - 70.
When the prophysical evolution data here the proven two devices the light blumber (57 B 137) of the two MIDI

When transferring exclusive data between two devices, the Unit Numbers ( $\sigma$  P.137) of the two MIDI devices must be set to match.

### The MIDI Implementation Chart

Although MIDI allows many devices to communicate with each other, this does not mean that each device will be able to transmit and receive all types of data.

For example, if you wish to transmit Aftertouch messages from a keyboard to control some aspect of the sound, there will be no result unless the MIDI sound module receiving the Aftertouch messages is able to actually respond to Aftertouch messages. In such cases, only the data which is common to both devices can be meaningfully transmitted.

As a quick reference of its MIDI capabilities, the operating manual of each device includes a "MIDI Implementation Chart" ( $\simeq$  P.211). By comparing the MIDI Implementation Charts of two devices, you can determine the types of MIDI message they will be able to exchange. Since the chart is always a standard size, you can fold together the charts of the transmitting and receiving devices for convenient comparison.



*For details of MIDI message handling, refer to "Roland Exclusive Messages" (
P.198) and "MIDI Implementation" (
P.202).

### **Roland Exclusive Messages**

#### 1. Data Format for Exclusive Messages

Roland's MIDI implementation uses the following data format for all exclusive messages (type IV) :

Byte	Description
FOH	Exclusive status
41H	Manufacturer ID (Roland)
DEV	Device ID
MDL	Model ID
CMD	Command ID
(BODY)	Main data
F7H	End of exclusive

#### # MIDI status : FOH, F7H

An exclusive message must be flanked by a pair of status codes, starting with a Manufacturer - ID immediately after FOH (MIDI version1.0).

- # Manufacturer ID : 41H
  - The Manufacturer ID identifies the manufacturer of a MIDI instrument that triggers an exclusive message. Value 41H represents Roland's Manufacturer - ID.

# Device - ID : DEV

The Device - ID contains a unique value that identifies the individual device in the multiple implementation of MIDI instruments. It is usually set to 00H - 0FH, a value smaller by one than that of a basic channel, but value 00H - 1FH may be used for a device with multiple basic channels.

# Model - ID : MDL

The Model - ID contains a value that uniquely identifies one model from another. Different models, however, may share an identical Model - ID if they handle similar data.

The Model - ID format may contain 00H in one or more places to provide an extended data field. The following are examples of valid Model - IDs, each representing a unique model:

> 01H 02H 03H 00H, 01H 00H, 02H 00H, 00H, 01H

# Command - ID : CMD

The Command - ID indicates the function of an exclusive message. The Command - ID format may contain 00H In one or more places to provide an extended data field. The following are examples of valid Command - IDs, each representing a unique function:

01H 02H 03H 00H, 01H 00H, 02H 00H, 00H, 01H

# Main data : BODY

This field contains a message to be exchanged across an interface. The exact data size and contents will vary with the Model ~ ID and Command - ID.

#### 2. Address - mapped Data Transfer

Address mapping is a technique for transferring messages conforming to the data format given in Section 1. It assigns a series of memory - resident records - - waveform and tone data, switch status, and parameters, for example -- to specific locations in a machine - dependent address space, thereby allowing access to data residing at the address a message specifics.

Address - mapped data transfer is therefore independent of models and data categories. This technique allows use of two different transfer procedures : one - way transfer and handshake transfer.

# One - way transfer procedure (See Section 3 for details.) This procedure is suited for the transfer of a small amount of data. It sends out an exclusive message completely independent of a receiving device status.

#### **Connection Diegram**

Davica (A)		Device (B)
MIDI IN	╟━┷┥	N201 IN
MIDI OUT		MEDI OUT

Connection at point 2 is essential for "Request data" procedures. (See Section 3.)

# Handshake - transfer procedure (See Section 4 for details.) This procedure initiates a predetermined transfer sequence (handshaking) across the interface before data transfer speed place. Handshaking ensures that reliability and transfer speed are high enough to handle a targe amount of data.

**Connection Diegram** 

Device (A)		Device (8)
MUDIEN	┝─╵┲╵	MUDI W
NUCI OUT		MIDI OUT

Connection at points 1 and 2 is essential.

Notes on the above two procedures

*There are separate Command - IDs for different transfer procedures.

*Devices A and B cannot exchange data unless they use the same transfer procedure, share identical Device - ID and Model ID, and are ready for communication.

#### 3. One - way Transfer Procedure

This procedure sends out data all the way until it stops and is used when the messages are so short that answerbacks need not be checked.

For long messages, however, the receiving device must acquire each message in time with the transfer sequence, which inserts intervals of at least 20 milliseconds in between.

Types	of	Messages	Massage	Command ID
			Request data 1	RQ1 (11H)
			Data set i	OT1 (12H)

#Request data #1: RQ1 (11H)

This message is sent out when thore is a need to acquire data from a device at the other end of the interface. It contains data for the address and size that specify designation and length, respectively, of data required.

On receiving an RQI message, the remote device checks its mamory for the data address and size that satisfy the request.

If it finds them and is ready for communication, the device will transmit a "Data set I (DT1)" message, which contains the requested data. Otherwise, the device will send out nothing.

Byte	Description
FOH	Exclusive status
41H	Manufacturer ID (Roland)
DEV	Device ID
MDL	Model ID
11H	Command ID
saH   	Address MSB
65H	Size MSB
sum	Check sum
F7H	End of exclusive

- *The size of the requested data does not indicate the number of bytes that will make up a DT1 message, but represents the address fields where the requested data resides.
- *Some models are subject to limitations in data format used for a single transaction. Requested data, for example, may have a limit in length or must be divided into predetermined address ficids before it is exchanged across the interface.
- *The same number of bytes comprises address and size data, which, however, vary with the Model - ID.
- *The error checking process uses a checksum that provides a bit pattern where the least significant 7 bits are zero when values for an address, size, and that checksum are summed.

# Data set 1: DT1 (12H)

This message corresponds to the actual data transfer process. Because every byte in the data is assigned a unique address, a DT1 message can convey the starting address of one or more data as well as a series of data formatted in an address dependent order.

The MIDI standards inhibit non - real time messages from The MDI standards minut non - real time messages non-interrupting an exclusive one. This fact is inconvenient for the devices that support a "soft-through" mechanism. To maintain compatibility with such devices, Roland has limited the DT1 to 256 bytes so that an excessively long message is sent out in separate segments.

Byte	Description
FOH	Exclusive
41H	Manufacturer ID (Roland)
DEV	Device ID
MDL	Modet ID
12H	Command ID
aaH I	Address MSB
ddH	Data
ទុបកា	Chack sum
F7H	End of exclusive

*A DT1 message is capable of providing only the valid data among those specified by an RQ1 message.

- #Some models are subject to limitations in data format used for a single transaction. Requested data, for example, may have a limit in length or must be divided into predetermined address fields before it is exchanged across the interface.
- *The number of bytes comprising address data varies from one Model - ID to another.

*The error checking process uses a checksum that provides a bit pattern where the least significant 7 bits are zero when values for an address, size, and that checksum are summed.

### # Example of Message Transactions Device A sending data to Device B Transfer of a DT1 message is all that takes place.



Device B requesting data from Device A

Device B sends an RQ1 message to Device A. Checking the message, Device A sends a DT1 message back to Device B.



#### 4. Hendshake - Transfer Procedure

Handshaking is an interactive process where two devices exchange error checking signals before a message transaction takes place, thereby increasing data reliability. Unlike one - way transfer that inserts a pause between message transactions, handshake transfer allows much speedier transactions because data transfer starts once the receiving device rotums a ready signal.

When it comes to handling large amounts of data - - sampler waveforms and synthesizer tones over the entire range, for example – ecross a MIDI interface, handshaking transfer is more efficient than one – way transfer.

CI bne

Types	of	Messages	Massaga	

	INIG & S & Q & G		
ſ	Went to send data	WSD (40H)	
	Request data	ROD (41H)	
	Data set	DAT (42H)	
Ì	Acknowledge	ACK (43H)	1
	End of data	EOD (45H)	
ļ	Communication error	ERR (4EH)	
	Rejection	RJC (4FH)	

### # Want to send data : WSD (40H)

This message is sent out when data must be sent to a device at the other end of the interface. It contains data for the address and size that specify designation and length. respectively, of the data to be sent.

On receiving a WSD message, the remote device checks its memory for the specified data address and size which will satisfy the request. If it finds them and is ready for communication, the device will return an "Acknowledge (ACK)" message.

Otherwise, it will return a "Rejection (RIC)" message.

Byte	Description
FOH	Exclusive status
41H	Manufacturer ID (Roland)
DEV	Device ID
MDL	Model ID
40H	Command ID
saHi	Address MSB
esH	Size MSB
<b>នប</b> ក	Check sum
F7H	End of exclusive

*The size of the data to be sent does not indicate the number of bytes that make up a "Data set (DAT)" mossage, but

- represents the address fields where the data should reside. *Some models are subject to limitations in data format used for a single transaction. Requested data, for example, may have a limit in length or must be divided into predetormined address fields before it is exchanged across the interface. *The same number of bytes comprises address and size data, which, however, vary with the Model - ID.
- *The error checking process uses a checksum that provides
- a bit pattern where the least significant 7 bits are zero when values for an address, size, and that checksum are summed

#### # Request data : ROD (41H)

This message is sent out when there is a need to acquire data from a device at the other end of the interface. It contains data for the address and size that specify designation and length, respectively, of data required.

On receiving an RQD message, the remote device checks its memory for the data address and size which satisfy the request. If it finds them and is ready for communication, the device will transmit a "Data set (DAT)" message, which contains the requested data. Otherwise, it will return a "Rejection (RJC)" message.

Вуте	Description
FOH	Exclusive status
41H	Manufacturer ID (Roland)
DEV	Device ID
MDL	Model ID
41H	Commend iD
eaH	Address MSB
	LSB
ssH	Size MSB
1	LSB
ទបកា	Check sum
F7H	End of exclusive

- *The size of the requested data does not indicate the number of bytes that make up a "Data set (DAT)" message, but represents the address fields where the requested data resides.
- *Some models are subject to limitations in data format used for a single transaction. Requested data, for example, may have a limit in length or must be divided into predetermined address fields before it is exchanged across the interface.
- *The same number of bytes comprises address and size data, which, however, vary with the Model - ID.
- *The error checking process uses a checksum that provides a bit pattern where the least significant 7 bits are zero when values for an address, size, and that checksum are summed.

#### #Data set: DAT (42H)

This message corresponds to the actual data transfer process. Because every byte in the data is assigned a unique address, the message can convey the starting address of one or more data as well as a series of data formatted in an address dependent order.

Although the MIDI standards inhibit non - real time messages from interrupting an exclusive one, some devices support a "soft - through" mechanism for such interrupts. To maintain compatibility with such devices, Roland has limited the DAT to 236 bytes so that an excessively long message is sent out in separate segments.

Byte	Description
FOH	Exclusive status
41H	Manufacturer ID (Roland)
DEV	Device ID
MDL,	Model ID
42H	Command ID
BaH	Address MSB
	LSB
ddH	Data
SUM	Check sum
F7H	End of exclusive

*A DAT message is capable of providing only the valid data among those specified by an RQD or WSD message.

- *Some models are subject to limitations in data format used for a single transaction. Requested data, for example, may have a limit in length or must be divided into predetermined address fields before it is exchanged across the interface.
- *The number of bytes comprising address data varies from one model ID to another,
- *The error checking process uses a checksum that provides a bit pattern where the least significant 7 bits are zero when values for an address size, and that checksum are summed.

#### # Acknowledge : ACK (43H)

This message is sent out when no error was detected on reception of a WSD. DAT, "End of data (EOD)", or some other massage and a requested setup or action is complete. Unless it receives an ACK message, the device at the other end will not proceed to the next operation.

Byte	Description
FOH	Exclusive status
41H	Manufacturar ID (Roland)
DEV	Device ID
MDL	Model ID
43H	Command ID
F7H	End of exclusive

#### # End of data: EOD (45H)

This message is sent out to inform a remote device of the end of a message. Communication, however, will not come to an end unless the remote device returns an ACK message even though an EOD message was transmitted.

Byto	Description
FOH	Exclusive statue
41H	Manufacturer ID (Roland)
DEV	Device ID
MDL	Model ID
45H	Command ID
F7H	End of exclusive

### # Communications error : ERR (4EH)

This message warns the remote device of a communications fault encountered during message transmission due, for examplo, to a checksum error. An ERR message may be replaced with a "Rejection (RIC)" one, which terminates the current message transaction in midstream.

When it receives an ERR message, the sending device may either attempt to send out the last message a second time or terminate communication by sending out an RIC message.

Byta	Description		
FOH	Exclusive status		
41H	Manufacturer ID (Reland)		
DEV	Device (D		
MDL	Model ID		
4EH	Command ID		
F7H	End of exclusive		

#### # Rejection : RJC (4FH)

This message is sent out when later is a need to terminate communication by overriding the current message. An RJC message will be triggered when :

· a WSD or RQD message has specified an illegal data address

- or size. the device is not ready for communication. an illegal number of addresses or data has been detected. data transfer has been terminated by an operator.
- · a communications error has occurred.

An ERR message may be sent out by a device on either side of the interface. Communication must be terminated immediately when either side triggers an ERR message.

Byte	Description
FOX	Exclusive status
41H	Manufacturer ID (Roland)
DEV	Device ID
MDL	Model ID
4FH	Command ID
F7H	End of exclusive

#### # Example of Message Transactions

Data transfer from device (A) to device (B).



Device (A) requests and receives data from device (B).



SError occurs while device (A) is receiving data from device (8).

1) Data transfer from device (A) to device (B).



3) Device (A) immediately quits data transfer.



### SUPER LA SYNTHESIZER

#### Model D-70

### **MIDI** Implementation

### Date : Jan. 18 1990

Version : 1.00

0 = ch.1 15 = ch.16

0=ch.1 15=ch.16

### 1 TRANSMITTED DATA

The D-70 transmits data on Performance/MIDI OUT/Tx channels each of which is assigned 4 sections and on System/Control channels. Each of these channels must be independent of the remainder

The Performance/MIDI OUT/Tx channels are used to transmit keyboard data to control an external sound source, simulating a master keyboard. System/Control channels are used to simulate operations of play mode through external device such as sequencer. The D-70 will transimit on these channels only during play mode.

#### Note Event

Note event is transmitted on MIDI channels set Performance/MIDI OUT/Tx channels.

* The channel on which data is to be transmitted depends on the key mode and velocity mode of Performance/MIDI OUT. Transpose and velocity curve change are possible before transsion.

Note event is also transmitted on MIDI channel assigned System/Control channel.

* Simple key information is transmitted on this channel: information can be processed as necessary after reception.

#### Note off

<u>Status</u>	<u>Second</u>	<u>Third</u>	
8nH	kkH	vvH	
n = MIDi kk = Note vv = Veloci		: 0H - FH (0 - 15) : 00H - 7FH (0 - 127) : 01H - 7FH (1 - 127)	0=ch.1 15≃ch.16

#### Note on

<u>Status</u>	<u>Second</u>	<u>Third</u>	
9nH	kkH	vvH	
n = MIDic kk = Note : vv = Velocit		: $0H - FH$ (0 - 15) $0 = ch.1$ $15 = ch.16$ : $00H - 7FH$ (0 - 127) : $01H - 7FH$ (1 - 127)	

#### Contorol change

Transmitted on MIDI channels set to Performance/MIDI OUT/Tr Ch.

* Most of all controllers can be set to any one of function numbers (0-95) of control change. Volume (No.7) is memorized.

Function settable controller	Fixed function controller
Bender	Hold Pedal (84 Hold1)
Aftertouch	
Modulation	
C1/EXP Pedal	
Pedal switch	

Control change is transmitted on channels set to System/Control channel.

* Function of controllers and control changes are permanently defined.

Controller		Control change				
		(Modulation)				
Nodulation		*				
Brightness		(Breath)				
EXP Pedal / Cl						
Tone Palette Slider-1	16	(General Purpose	D			
Tone Palette Slider-2	17	(	2)			
Tone Palette Slider-3	18	(	3)			
Tone Palette Slider-4	19	(	4)			
Hold Pedal						
Portagento button						
Pedal switch			5)			
Tone palette button			5)			
			n			
Play button						
Tone/Lone Select button	. 83	(	8)			
Status Secon	₫	<u>Third</u>				
ВлН ССН		vvH				
n = MIDI channel num	ber	: OH -	FH	(0 - 15)	0 = ch.1	15 = ch.16
cc = conirói number		: 00H - 5	FH	(0 - 95)		
vy = control value		: OOH - 7	FH	(0 - 127)		

CC = CONICO	numper
vy = control	valué

Settable controllers Render

> Modulation C1/EXP Pedal

<u>Status</u>	<u>Second</u>	<u>Third</u>
EnH	IIH	mmH

It = Value lower 7 bits mm = Value upper 7 bits

### : OH - FH (0 - 16) 0 = ch.1 15 = : OOH - 7FH (-64 - +63) /8192 : OOH - 7FH (-64 - +63) *64/8192 0 = ch.1 15 = ch.16

#### Exclusive

The D - 70 can transmit and receive various parameters throuh exclusive message. For details, refer to Sections, Roland Exclusive Messages and 3. Exclusive Communications.

#### <u>Status</u> FOH System exclusive 67H EOX (End of Exclusive)

#### Active Sensing

The D-70 transmits this message to allow the device (s) it connecting to check MiDI nnection and the like for continuity. Sends this message when no event has occured 250 ms after the previous event.

### <u>Status</u> FEH

.

The following data are transmitted on MIDI channels set to Performance/MIDI OUT /Tx Ch. * The number set to a particular section when performance is selected.

- * The program number being edited in a particular section.
- The following data are transmitted on MIDI channels set to System/MIDI Tx Ch.

: 0H - FH (0 - 15): 00H - 7FH (0 - 127)

* Performance number when performance is selected.

Status Second Coll ppH

Program Change

n = MIDI channel number pp = Program number

#### Channel Aftertouch

Transmitted on MIDI channels set to Performance/MIDI OUT/Tx Ch.

* Most of the channels can be set for transmitting channel aftertouch.

Settable controllers Bender Afteriouch Modulation C1/EXP Pedal Pedal switch

Transmitted on MIDI channel set to System/Control channel.

* Transmits aftertouch information of the keyboard as it is.

Status Second DnH vvH

n = MIDI channel number vv = Value

#### Pitch Bend Change

Transmitted on MIDI channel set to Performance/MIDI OUT/Tx Ch.

* Most of the channels can be set for transmitting channel aftertouch.

: OH - FH (0 - 15)

: OOH - 7FH (0 - 127)

Aftertouch Pedal switch

Transmitted on MIDI channel set to System/Control channel.

* Transmits	the	value	oí	bender	lever	85	łt.	ís.
Status		Secon	₫		Third			

n = MIDI channel number

### 2 RECOGNIZED RECEIVE DATA

The D - 70 is in receive status except during ROM play mode. Receives MIDI information through 6 MIDI Performance/PART SET/RX channels set to part 1 to rhythm part, and through the MIDI channel set to System/Control channel. A Performance/PART SET/RX Ch can be assigned more than one part channel but only one MIDI channel can be set to System/Control channel. Data received through Performance/PART SET/RX Ch are used to enable the particular function to control internal sound source for reproducing multi-timbre. Data received on System/Control channel are to reproduce play patterns stored in the sequencer and the like during play mode.

#### Note Event

Receives this message on a MIDI channel set to Performance/PART SET/RX Ch.

* When received, each part is sounded.

Receives on a MiDI channel assigned System/Control Ch.

* The parts set to Performance/KB PART will sound as if they are directly driven from a keyboard.

#### Note off

<u>Status</u>	<u>Second</u>	Third	
BnH	kkH	vvH	
9nH	kkH	OOH	
n = MiDi cha: kk = Note nun vv = Velocity		: 0H - FH (0 - 15) 0 = ch.1 15 = ch.16 : 00H - 7FH (0 - 127) : 00H - 7FH (0 - 127)	

9n kk 00 is translated as 8n kk 40.

#### Note on

<u>Status</u>	<u>Second</u>	<u>Third</u>	;
9nH	kkH	vvH	
n = MiDI channe kk = Note numb vv = Velocity		: 0H - FH (0 - 15) : 00H - 7FH (0 - 127) : 01H - 7FH (1 - 127)	0 = ch.1 15 = ch.16

#### Control change

Receives this message on MIDI channel set to Performance/PART SET/RX Ch.

* Can recognize the following control change numbers.

Control Change	Function
(Nodulation)	Assignable (Pitch, TVF, TVA, LFO, etc.)
5 (Portagento Line)	Portacento tice (Mono code only)
7 (Voluce)	
18 (Panpot)	Panpot
64 (Holdl)	Hold or Sostenuto
65 (Portamento)	Portazento switch (Mono zode only)

Receives this message also on MIDI channel set to System/Control Ch.

* The value in a control change message acts as if the corresponding control on the panel is set to this value.

	Corresponding control on the panel
1 (Modulation)	liciulation
2 (Breath)	Brightness
6 (Data Entry)	CI/EXP Pedal
16 (General Purpose 1)	Tone Palette Slider-1
17 ( 2)	Tone Palette Slider-2
18 ( 3)	Tone Palette Slider-3
19 ( 4)	Tone Palette Slider-4
54 (Hold1)	Hold Fedai
55 (Portacento)	Portacento button
80 (General Purpose 5)	Pedal switch
81 ( 6)	Tone palette button
	Play button
83 ( 8)	Tone/Lose select builton
Status Second	Third
Ball ccli	vvH
	-0H = FH (0 - 15) = ch.1 15 = ch.16
n = MIDI channel number	
cc = control number	: 00H - 53H (0 - 83)
vv = control Value	: 00H - 7FH (0 - 127)

#### Program Change

Receives this message on MIDI channel set to Performance/PART SET/RX Ch.

Chages patch of each part.
 * 0 - 127 are interpreted as A11 - B88, respectively. Intenal/card are set to the currently selected performance.

Receives this message on MiDi channel set to System/Control channel.

* Chages performance. * 0-63 are interpreted as internal 11-88, and 84-127 as card 11-88 respectively.

Status	S <u>econd</u>
CoH	ppH
<b>COM</b>	1.5

n = MIDI channel number	; OH - FH (0 - 15)	0 = ch.1 15 = ch.16
pp = Program number	: 00H - 7FH (0 - 127)	

#### Channel Aftertouch

Receives this message on MIDI channel set to Performance/PART SET/RX Ch.

* Can be used to set functions.

Receives this message on MIDI channel set to System/Control Ch.

* Simulates aftertouch on a keyboard.

Status	Second
DaH	vvH

n = MIDI channel number	:	0H -	FH	(0 -	15)	0 = ch.1	15 = ch 16
vv = Value	:	00H -	· 7FH	(0 -	127)		

#### Pitch Bend Change

Receives on MIDI channel set to Performance/PART SET/RX Ch.

* Can be used to set functions.

Receives this message on MIDI channel set to System/Control Ch.

* Simulates bender lever.

<u>Status</u>	Second_	Third
EnH	IIH	mmH
fi = Value	channel number lower 7 bits us upper 7 bits	: OH - FH (0 - 15) 0 = ch.1 15 = ch.16 : OOH - 7FH (-64 - +63) /8192 : OOH - 7FH (-64 - +63) *84/8192

#### Exclusive

The D-70 can transimit and receive various parameters throuh exclusive message. For details, refer to Sections, Roland Exclusive Messages and 3. Exclusive Communications.

Status FOH	System exclusive
F7H	EOX (End of Exclusive)

#### Active sensing

Having received this message, the D-70 expects to receive information of any status or data every 500 ms (max.). If the D-70 faits to sense message, it assumes the MIDI bus is disconnected for some reason. Then their mutes all notes that have been turned on by MIDI and returns to normal operation. After that it will not check interval of messages.

<u>Status</u> FEH

S

### **3 EXCLUSIVE COMMUNICATIONS**

The D ~ 70 can transmit and receive various parameters through exclusive message in either way descirbed in Section, Roland Exclusive Messages. The following data can be transferred in both ways.

#### Device ID

The actual value of a Device ID is smaller by one than that set to System/Unit #.

#### Model ID

The model ID of D - 70 is 39H.

#### Representation of Address/size

Address is used to define a specific location of data. One address consists of 3 MIDI bytes (21 bits) : each byte is separated from an adjacent one by a " : ". e.g. 00:00:00.

Address ranges from 00:00:00 to 7F:7F:7F, equivalent of 000000 to 1FFFFF in normal bexadecimal notation. Address size also has 3 MIDI bytes and is expressed in the same way as address.

#### Transmitted Data

The D-70 will transmit exclusive message as follows :

1) Data transfer mode

* Transmits data selected by panel operation.

2) On receiving Request data (RQ1, RQD)

* Sends parameters reside in the locations corresponding to addresses included in the received RQ1 or RQD (see Data Format for Exclusive Message in Section, Roland Exclusive Messages).

#### Recognized Receive Data

The D - 70 is roady to recieve exclusive message except the following occasions.

* During ROM play mode * While System/Exclusive Rx is off

#### Type of Messages

#### • One - way transfer

#### 1) Data request

* When the received request data contains valid addresses and address size 1 or more, the D-70 sends Data set 1 (DT1) message which contains the requested parameter. * The D-70 does not send this message but external device such as sequencer can

(R01)

use.

Byte	Description	Byte FOH
FOH	System exclusive status	41H
41H	Manufacturer (Roland) ID	DEV
DEV	Device ID $00H - 1FH$ (unit # 1)	39H
39H	Model ID	42H
11H	Command ID (RQI)	aaH
saH	Address MSB	aaH
aaH	Address	aaH
ааН	Address LSB	ddH
ssH	Size MSB	:
ssH	Size	sum
ssH	Size LSB	F7H
sum	Checksum	
F7H	EOX (End of exclusive)	
	(0.7.1)	1 4
2) Data	set (DT1)	

* When the received address is valid, the D-70 loads incoming data into the memory location starting with that address.

* The D - 70 sends this message when : A) it has received a Request data (RQ1) and to transfer the size of parameters defined by the RQI. B) one - way bulk dump is operated in data transfer mode.

Description	
System exclusi	ve stalus
Manufacturer	(Roland) ID
Device ID	00H - IFH (unit #1)
Model ID	······
Command ID	(DT1)
Address MSB	
Address	
Address LSB	
Data (the num	ber of data allowed to send)
Checksom	
EOX (End of	exclusive)

#### Handshaking Communications

#### 1) Messages used

Byte FOH

41H

DEV

39H

12H asH naH

aaH ddH

. sum F7H

Byte

<u>Byte</u>

FOH 41H

DEV 89H 41H

aH zaH saH

4SH ssH

ssH STILL

F7H

<u>Byte</u> F0H

41H DEV

39H 4SH

F7H

1-3) Data set

Actual data block

1-1) Want to send data (WSD)

This is sent first by the transmitting device.

Byte	Description	
FOH	System exclusiv	ve status
4]H	Manufacturer	(Roland) 1D
DEV	Device ID	00H - IFH (unit # 1)
89H	Model ID	
40H	Command ID	(WSD)
aaH	Address MSB	
aaH	Address	
zaH	Address LSB	
ssH	Size MSB	
SSH	Size	
ssH	Size LSB	
sum	Checksum	
F7H	EOX (End of	exclusive)
1 - 2)	Request data	(RQD)

This sent first by receiving device.

Manufacturer	(Roland) ID	
Device ID Model ID	00H - 1FH	(unit #1)
Command ID Address MSB Address	(RQD)	
Address LSB Size MSB Size		
Size LSB Checksum EOX (End of	avelueive)	

(DAT)

(ACK)

Description System exclusive status Manufacturer (Roland) ID Device ID 00H - 1FH (unit # 1) Model 1D Command ID (DAT) Address MSB Address Address LSB Data (number of data allowed to send) Checksum EOX (End of exclusive)

1-4) Acknowledge

A response to the sender to indicate acknowledgement of receipt of a request.

Description		
System exclusion	ve status	
Manufacturer	(Roland) ID	
Device ID	00H - 1FH	(unit #1)
Model ID		
Command ID	(ACK)	
EOX (End of	exclusive)	

1-5) End of data ---> 5 : [End data] Sent to the other party to signal end of communication. No data follows. Description System exclusive status Byte FOH <--- [[Acknowledge] 6 1 Manufacturer (Roland) ID Device ID 00H - 1PH (unit # 1) 41H DEV Device ID Completes transfer upon receiving Model ID 39H Acknowledge. 45H Command ID (EOD) EOX (End of exclusive) 2-2) To start communication by the receiving device (in the cases C) above.) F7H (ERR) 1-6) Communication error Transmitting device (D - 70) Sent to the other party to warn occurence of an error. <--- [Request data] 1 1 Description Byte System exclusive status FOH 41H Manufacturer (Roland) ID 2 : [Rejection] ---> Device ID 00H - 1FH (unit # 1) DE\ Refuses transmission if Model 1D S9H engaged in sounding. Command ID (ERR) 4EH EOX (End of exclusive) F7H (1-7) Rejection (RJC) ---> 3 : [Data set] Sends data if free from reproduction, and the address is valid. Sent to refuse the operation required by the other party. Description Byte System exclusive status FOH Manufacturer (Roland) ID 41H 4a : 00H - 1FH (unit # 1) DEV Device 1D Model ID 39H Command ID (RJC) EOX (End of exclusive) 4FH Proceeds to the next data set F7H upon receiving the Acknowledge. 4h : 2) Transfer protocol Sends the previous data again upon * There are three starting methods in handshaking communications. receiving the Communication error A) When bulk dump is selected in data transfer mode on the  $D \sim 70$ , it sends a Want (repeals as necessary). A) which other is compared with the sender.
 B) By receiving a Want to send data message from an external D - 70 or computer. In this case the local D - 70 is the receiver.
 C) By receiving a Request data message from an external device such as computer with the D - 70 being the sender. ---> 5 : [End data] No following data prepared. 6 : * The D - 70 will not transmit a Data request to become a receiver by itself. Completes transfer upon receiving Acknowledge. * Below outlines the transfer protocol. 2-1) To start communication by the transmitting device (as in the cases A) and B) above.) Receiving device Transmitting device - ---> 1 : [Want to send data] Starts transfer. <--- (Rejection) 2a: Refuses reception if engaged in sound reproduction. Ends transfer upon receiving the Rejection. <--- (Aknowledge) 2b : If not sounding, sends ACK and walts for data block to be sent. 3 : Data set ---> Sends data. When address is valid, stores the receive data. <--- [Aknowledge] 4a : Sends upon storing the data. Transmits the next data set upon receiving the Acknowledge. <--- [Communication error] 4b : Sends if not correctly received the data and with falled storing. Repeat the same data whan receiving the communication error.

(EOD)

Starts transfer. Stops transfer upon receiving the Rejection. External device receives the data and processes to its own program.

Verifies data end before finishing communication.

Receiving device (external device)

<--- [Aknowledge] Sends when data has been correctly received. <--- [Communication error] Failed to receive data correctly.

<--- [Acknowledge] Verifies data end before finishing communication.

(Recease steps 3 and 4, if necessary.)

#### Parameter Address

All the data transferred through exclusive message must be accompanied by the address All the data transfered through exclusive message must be accompanied by the address to identify itself as being for what parameter it represents. An address is represented by the basic address and the offset (amount ofshifts). Some parameters have more than one offset. The addresses to be defined by a data set and request data messages mustifait in the range specified below. Names (Tx channel, Performance, Patch and Tone) must be expressed in ASCII code. Codes 0-31 are translated into 32 (space) at receiving device.

#### General table

* The table lists the layout of all of the parameters : any parameter should be found anywhere in the table. Actual address is obtained by adding offset (listed later) to the address in this table.

#### General table

Addres	Size	Contents and remarks	loffset
60:00:00	00:00:08	internal secory : System setup	Table-1
	00:01:20	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Table-2
	AA.AA.85		Table-3
00:01:28		Teoporary : User set Ferformance	Table-4
00:01:20 00:03:1E			Table-5
00:03:75			Itable-S
00:04:40			Table-5
00:05:23			Table-5
00:05:74			Table-5
00:06:51			Table-6
00:07:0F			ITable-6
00:07:4D			Table-6
00:08:08			Table-6
00:68:49			[Table-5]
00:09:07			[Table-6]
00:09:45	00:00:3E	: Part 2 : Section 3 : Tone	Table-5
00:04:03			Table-6
1 00:0A:41 1	00:00:3E	1 : Part 3 : Section 1 : Tone	Table-6
00:0A:7F	00:00:3E	i : Part 3 : Section 2 : Tone	Table-5
00:08:30	60:00:3E	: Part 3 : Section 3 : Tone	Table-6
00:0B:7B	00:00:3E	: Part 3 : Section 4 : Tone	Table-6
00:00:39	00:00:3E		[Table-6]
00:00:77			Table-6
00:0D:35			Table-6
00:0D:73			Table-6
00:0E:31	+		Table-5
[ 00:0E:6F			Table-6
1 00:0F:2D			Table-6
1 00:0F:68	00:00:3E	: Part 5 : Section 4 : Tone	Table-6
00:10:29	00:14:55	Internal : Rhythm setup	Table-7
00:25:0F	00:00:32	(60:05) : User set 1-1 - 1-10	Table-3
		(61:71) : Performance (-11 - 1-88	Table-4
01:1E:01			Table-5
01:75:01		(60:3E) : Tone  :all -  :b88	Table-6
i 02:33:01		Card : Rhythm setup	ITable-7
02:47:67			Table-3
02:48:19			Table-4
1 03:40:59			Table-5
1 04:17:59		(60:3E) : Tone C:all - C:b88	Table-6
*+		·	********
		Auxiliary : LCB normal charactor	Table-8
04:58:19 1			Table-9
04:58:69 ]			Table-1
04:58:6A			Table-1
1 04:58:6B 1			Table-11
04:58:70			Table-1
04:59:04	00:00:00	: Nrite result	Table-1
*******		******	

#### Table 1 System setup

- System setup is to be directly written into the internal memory.
   Exclusive message related parameter when written will be made effective with the next message, if included.

Table - 1. System Setup

Addres	8180	Contents and remarks	
00:00:001	0 - 127	Waster tune	(-64 - +63)
1 00:00:011	0 - 16	Control Channel	(1 - 16, Off)
00:00:021	0 ~ 31	Unit number	(1 - 32)
00:00:03	0 = 1 [.]	Exclusive RX SM	(Off, On) ]
00:00:041	0 - 1	Hold Pedal Function	(Hold, Sostenuto) i
00:00:05[	0 - 2	Pedal Switch Function	(Map, Per. up, Per. down)
00:00:06[	0 - 1	MID: OUT Link mode	(n0 ,110)
00:00:07	0 - 1	Local Switch	(Off, On)

#### • Table 2 Transmission channel name

* To be written directly into the internal memory. * A channel name must consist of ten characters.

#### Table - 2. TX Channel Name

Addres i	Data	Contents and resarks	
80:0D:00	32 - 127		(ASCI   10charactor)
00:00:0A	32 - 127	Channel 2 name	(ASCI 1 10charactor)
00:00:14	32 - 127	Channel 3 name	(ASCI) 10charactor
00:00:1E	32 - 127	Channel 4 name	(ASCI1 10character)
00:00:28	32 - 127	Channel 5 aspe	(ASCI 1 10charactor)
00:00:321	32 - 127	Channel 5 name	(ASCI) 10charactor
00:00:3CI	32 - 127	Channel 7 nape	(ASCI) 10charactor
00:00:46	32 - 127	Channel 8 name	(ASCI   10charactor
00:00:501	32 - 127	Channel 9 name	(ASCI   10charactor
00:00:5A	32 - 127	Channel 10 name	(ASCII 10charactor
00:00:54)	32 - 127	Channel 11 name	(ASCI] Incharactor
00:00:8EI	32 - 127	Channel 12 name	(ASCI   10charactor
00:00:781	32 - 127	Channel 13 name	(ASCII 10charactor
00:01:021	32 - 127	Channel 14 name	(ASCII IOcharactor
00:01:0C	32 - 127	Channel 15 name	(ASCII IOcharactor
00:01:161	32 - 127	Channel 16 name	(ASCII 10charactor
00:01:20	(600000)	Total size	

#### ● Table 3 User set

Number of user sets prepared: Temporary (1 set), Internal (10 sets) and Card (10 sets)

#### Table - 3. User Set

		Contents and remarks	
		F. 1 Performance	(1-1) - C-88)
00:00:011	0 - 127	F. 2 Performance	(1-11 - C-88)
		F.3 Performance	(1-11 - C-88)
00:00:031	0 - 127	F. 4 Performance	(I-1) - C-88)
00:00:041	0 - 127	F.5 Performance	(1-11 - C-88)

#### ● Table 4 Performance

* Number of performance sets prepared: Temporary (1 set), internal (64) and Card (64) (64) * For part setting and MIDI OUT section parameters, refer to Table - 41 and 42, respectively.

#### Table - 4. Performance

Table - 4. I		C#
i Addres	Data I	Contents and remarks
00:00:00	32 - 127	Performance name (ASCII iOcharactor)
	0-5 1	Keyboard Part (1 - S. R. Off)
00:00:0B		C1/EXP Pedal - 1 Function (TVF, TVA, LFO pitch, 1 LFO TVF, LFO TVA, 1
	1	Pitch, Forta. time) i
00:00:001		
00:00:0D[   00:00:0E]		C1/EXP Pedal - 2 function (TVF - Porta, time) Destination (Off.Low, Up, Both)
1 00:00:0F		
00:00:11		Pedal switch - I Function Okodu, Oct up,
00:00:12	6-3	Oct down, Effector)1 Destination (Off, Low, Up, Both)1
00:00:13	6 - 3	Pedal switch - 2 Function (Modu - Effector) Destination (Off, Low, Up, Both)
00:00:14		
00:00:15		Part-1 setting < <see table-41="">&gt;  Part-2 setting &lt;<see table-41="">&gt; </see></see>
00:00:4F		Part-3 setting ((See Table-41>)
00:00:6C		Part-4 setting < <see table-41="">&gt; Part-5 setting &lt;<see table-41="">&gt;</see></see>
+		*******
00:01:25	0 - 127	Output Level (6 - 127)
1 00:01:28		
00:01:2A	0 - 1	Assign Priority (Off. On)
00:01:28		
•		
1,00:03:2D	0-7	Gate, Delay, Cross Delay)i
00:01:21		
00:01:30	0 - 31	Feedback (0 - 31)
00:01:31	0-4	I Chorus Type     (Chorus 1 - 2, FB-Chorus, I       I     Flanger, Short Delay)       I     Output Hode       (Pre reverb, Post reverb)
00:01:32		
00:01:34	0 - 31	Delay Tine (0 - 31)
00:01:35		
00:01:37		Fredback (-31 - +31)!
1 00:01:38		XIDI OUT Velo, Curve (1 - 4)]
00:01:39   00:01:3A		Key Node (Layer, Split, Zone)i
00:01:3B	0 - 127	Split Point (C-1 - G9) Bender-1 Function (Pitch Bend)
00:01:3C   00:81:3D	0-3	Destination (Off, Low, Up, Both)
[ 00:01:3E   00:01:3F		Bender-2 Function (C.chg 0-95, A.T.) Destination (Off, Low, Up, Both)
00:01:40	,	A.T 1 Function (C.chr 0-95, A.T., ) Bend up, Bend down)
00:01:41	0-3	Destination (Off. Low, Up. Both)
00:01:42	0 - 98	A.T 2 Function (C. chg0 - Bend down) Destination (Off, Low, Up, Both)
1 00:01:44	6 - 98	Rodulation - 1 Function (C. chg0 - Bend down)
00:01:45	0 - 98	Destination (Off.Low, Up, Both)     Nodulation - 2 Function (C.chg0 - Bend down)
00:01:47	0 - 3	
00:01:49	0 - 3	pestination (off. Low, Up. Both) i
00:01:4A   00:01:4B		pestination (Off. Lov. Up. Both)
00:01:40	0 - 95	
00:01:4D   00:01:4E	0 - 95	Pedal Sw - 2 Function (C.chg 0 - 85)
00:01:4F	1 1 1	Destination (Off.Low, Up. Both)    Bold Pedal Destination (Off.Low, Up. Both)
00:01:51	0 - 2	MIDI OUT Lower Velocity mode (Normal, SW, Mix)
00:01:52	0 - 2	1 MIDI OUT Upper Velocity mode (Kornal, SK, Mix)
1 00:01:54	0 - 121	Treshold sens (8 - 127)
00:01:55		MID: OUT Section-1 < <see table-42="">&gt; </see>
00:01:53	31	MIDI OUT Section-2
1.00+01+61		MIDI OUT Section-4 ((see Table-42>>)
00:01:7	(0000F1H)	Total size
*	****	

Table - 41.	Performance	pert	setting
-------------	-------------	------	---------

	Addres	De	ıte	. !	Contents and I	eparks				
	00:00:00	0	-	16	MI Channel					011)
	00:00:01	0	-	127	Patch Select			- 0		- B88)
					Output Level					127)
					Zone Lower Lin					~ G9)
					Zone Upper Lisi					- Ç9
					Assign Priority	/				r, ûn
	00:00:06									r, On
					Analog Feel					127
l	180:00:00	٥	٠		XIDI Program R					r, On
	00:00:091				MIDI Voluse RX	ST			(01:	t, On
	00:00:0A				Bender - 1	Destination	(011,	Low,	Up.	Both
	00:00:0B					Up depth		1.1	(0 -	- +12
	00:00:0C			48		Down depth			(-4	8 - 6
					Bender - 2	Function (T	VF, TV	A, LFI	) pli	tch.
i	1	-			Alter and	L	FO TYP	, LFO	ገሃለ	${\mathcal C} \to {\mathcal C}$
	00:00:0E	0	-	3	1 A.A.	Destination	(011,	Low,	Up,	Both
	00:00:0F					10190	-			- 127
i	00:00:101	1	-	5	A Touch - 1	Function (1	YF, 17	A, LF	) pi	tch.
Í	1			1	1		FO TYA			
1	00:00:11	٥		3	I	Destination	(Off.	Low,		
i	00:00:121	0	-	127	ł	Value				- 121
Ì	00:00:131	٥	-	5	A Touch - 2	Function				Pitch
	00:00:14					Destination	(057,	Low,		
ŧ	00:00:15	0	-	127	I	Value				- 12
۱	00:00:16	0	-	5	Nodulation - }					Pitcl
l	00:00:17	8		3	1	Destination	(051,	Low,		
ŧ	00:00:18					Value				- 121
ţ	00:00:19	Ô	-	5	Modulation - 2	Function				Pitci
ł	00:00:1A	0	-	3		Destination	(Of f.,	Low,		
i	00:00:1B	0	-	127		Yalue				- 121
į	00:00:101	٥	-	3	Nold 1	Destination	(011,	Low,	ijp,	Both
ŧ		***	**		+					

Table - 42. Performance MIDI OUT section

Addr	es i Data	a   Contents and remarks	
00:00 00:00 00:00	:01  0 - :02  0 - :03  0 - :04  0 -	15   MIDI TX Channel 1271 MIDI Yolume 1271 Program Change Kumber 44   Transpose 1271 Zone Lower Limit 1271 Uncer Limit 1271 Uncer Limit	(1 - 16) $(0 - 127)$ $(1 - 128)$ $(-24 - +24)$ $(C-1 - 69)$ $(C-1 - 09)$
00:00	:05  0 -	1   HIDI OUT switch	(00, 110)

#### • Table 5 Patch

* Number of patches prepared: Temporary (length worth of 6 parts), Internal (128) and Card (128).

#### Table - 5. Patch

ł	Addres	Data	Contents and renarks	
••	60:00:001	32 - 127	Patch name	(ASCII Incharactor)
İ	00:00:0A 00:00:0B	0-31	Velocity Curve	(0 - 127) (1 - 4)
i	00:00:001 00:00:00  00:00:0E	0 - 2	Velocity Sens Rey Hode Split Point	(0 - 127) (Layer, Split, Zone) (0127) (C-1 - G9)
	00:00:0F  00:00:19		Lower parameters Spper parameters	< <see table-51="">&gt; &lt;<see table-51="">&gt;</see></see>
	00:00:231		Section 1 parameters Section 2 parameters	<csee table-52="">&gt; &lt;<see table-52="">&gt;</see></csee>
	00:00:30 00:00:30 00:00:4A		Section 3 parameters Section 4 parameters	<csee table-52="">&gt; &lt;<see table-52="">&gt; &lt;<see table-52="">&gt;</see></see></csee>
-	00:00:57	(000057H)	Total size	

### Table - 51. Patch Lower/Upper parameters

1	Addres	Data	Contents and remarks	
1	100:00:00	0 - 2 1	Velocity Mode	(Normal, SW, Mix)
1	00:00:01	0 - 127	Threshold Sens	(0 - 127)
i	00:00:02	0-11	key Assign	(Poly, Solo)
i	00:00:03	0-1 1	Solo Legato	(0ff, Cn)
i	00:00:041	0-11	Portagento switch	(Off, On)
\$	00:00:051	0-11	Portacento node	(Kormal, Auto)
į	00:00:061	0 - 1271	Fortspento Time	(0 - 127)
į.	00:00:07	0-1 1	MIDI Pan SX SK	(Off. 0a)
i	00:00:081	0 - D	<< Reserved >>	
i.	60:00:091	0-1	MIDI Portazento RX SW	(011, On)

#### Table - 52. Patch Section parameters

Addres	Data J	Contents and reparks	
00:00:00	0 - 127	Tone Select	(al) - b88)
00:00:01	0 - 127	Level	(0 - 127)
00:00:02[	0 - 48 1	Key Shift	(-24 - +24)
00:00:03	0 - 1271	Fine Tune	(-64 - +63)
00:00:04	0 - 127	Cutoff	(-64 - +63)
00:00:051	0 - 127	Resonance	(-64 - +83)
00:00:051	0 - 1271	Attack Tipe	(-64 - +63)
00:00:071	0 - 1271	Release Tice	(-64 - +63)
00:00:08	0-3	Output Assign (D	ry, Reverb, Chorus, Direct)
00:00:09	0 - 14	łan	(7) - (7)
D0:00:0A	0-1 [	Tone switch	(011, On)
00:00:0B	0 - 1271	Zone Lower Lipit	(C-1 - G9)
00:00:0Ci	0 - 127	lipper Limit	(C-1 - G9)

#### Table 6 Tone

* Number of tones prepared : Temporary (5 part x 4 section), internal (128) and Card (128).

#### Table - 8. Tone

00:00:00[		Contents and resarks	
00:00:0A	37 - 1971		
00:00:0A	********	Tone name	(ASC[] 10charactor)
00-80-081	0 - 66	Orignal Tone Kedia (	(U1 - U32, D1 - D32, (1 - 13)
			(1 - 128)
00:00:00 00:00:00		DLAIselich mode	(011, 0n) (011, 0n)
00:00:00!	0 - 127	start addres	(0ff, On) (0 ~ 127)
00:00:0F	0 - 1Z7	loop length	(1 - 128)
	0 - 96	Pitch Coarse	(-48 - +48)
00:00:11	0 - 127	Fine	(-54 - +63)
00:00:12		Pitch Key Follow	(-100% - +200%)
		Pitch ESV Time KF	(-100% - +150%) (8 - 127)
00:00:14  00:00:15	0 - 34	A Time A depth 2 Time	(-12 - +12)
00:00:16		R Time	(0 - 127)
00:00:17	0 - 34	R depth	(-12 - +12)
	0 - 3	TVP Hode	(IPE SPE WPE Bynass)
00:00:19			(0 - 127)
00:00:1A		Resonance	(0 - 127) (1 - 4)
00:00:1B[		Velocity Curve	(1 - 4) (-100X - +110X)
00:00:1Ci 00:00:1Di		Cators have been	(-1004 - +1104) (-64 - +63)
00:00:1E		ENV Depth Velo.	(0 - 127)
00:00:1F		ERY TIME IF	(-100% - +150%)
00:00:201	0 - 1271	EKV Tige Yel.	(0 - 127)
00:00:211		ERV Time rel Vel.	(0 - 127)
00:00:221		ERV Attack Time	(0 - 127)
00:00:231		ERV Attack Level	(0 - 127)
	0 - 127		(0 - 127) (0 - 127)
00:00:251		ENV Decay 2 Title	(0 - 127)
00-00-271	8 - 1971	FW Sustain Level	(0 - 127)
00:00:28	0 - 127	ERV Release Time	(0 - 127)
00+00+9D1	0 1991	TYA Level	(0 - 127)
00:00:2A1	0 - 3 1	Velocity Curve Velocity Sens ERV Time KF ERV Time On Vel.	(1 - 4)
00:00:28	0 - 127	Velocity Sens	(0 - 127) (-100X - +150X)
00:00:20)	0 - 15 1	EAT 110C AF	(-100x - 1130x) (0 - 127)
00:00:2D?	0 - 1271	ENV Tipe Rel Vel.	(0 - 127)
00:00:2FI		EXV Attack Tipe	(0 - 127)
00:00:30]		ENV Attack Level	(0 - 127)
00:00:311	0 - 1271	ENV Decay 1 Time	(0 - 127)
	0 - 1271	ENV Decay BP	(0 - 127)
00:00:331	0 - 1271	ENV Decay 2 Time	(0 - 127)
00:00:341	0 - 1271 0 - 1271	ENV Sustain Level ENV Reicase Time	(D - 127) (D - 127)
00+00+361	0 - / 1	150 Koustern (Tringe	
00:00:371	0 - 1771	Rate Links	(0 - 127)
60:00:381	0 - 15 1	Delay Time	(0 - 15)
00:00:39	0 - 15 1	kate Delay Time Rise Time Offset Plich Mod Depth TVF Mod Depth TVA Mod Depth	(0 - 15)
00:00:3A	0-4 1	Offset	(-100X - +100X)
00:00:3BI	0 - 127	Pitch Hod Depth	(-64 - +63)
00:00:301	0 - 1271	TVF Mod Depth	(-64 - +63)
00100:3Dl	U - 127)	TVA Mod Depth	(-64 - +63)
36:00:00		Total size	
		15. sty	

#### Table 7 Rhythm setup

* Can be directly written into eitcher internal memory or card.

* First detemine the address of a key and then refer to parameter for that key.

#### Table ~ 7, Rhythm Setup

Addres !	Data	i Contents and remarks	
00:00:001	0 - 52	Rhytha Shift	(-28 - +24)
00:00:011	0 - O	<pre>&lt;&lt; Reserved &gt;&gt;</pre>	1
00:00:021		i Key El data	< <see table-71="">&gt;</see>
00:00:251		Key Fi data	<(see Table-71>>
00:00:48		Key F#1 data	< <see table-71="">&gt;</see>
00:00:68	*****	i Key Gi data	<(see Table-71>>
1 : 1	:	: (G#) P7)	
1 00:14:20		Key F\$7 data	((see Table-7))>
00:14:431		Key G7 data	<(see Table-71>>
++	******	*	
00:14:66	(8834660)	Total size	

#### Table - 71, Rhythm Setup Key parameters

*			
	Data I	Contents and remarks	
00:00:00			(01 - U32, D1 - D32, H1 - H3)
00:00:011			(0 - 127) [
00:00:021	0 - 127	Source Key	(Off, C#-1 - 09) (
00:00:031	0 - 76	Lute	(E-1 - G7, Off))
00:00:04]	0-0 İ	<< Reserved >>	1
00:00:051	0 - 14	Pan	(7> - <7)
1 00:00:061	0-31	Output Assign (D	ry, Reverb, Chorus, Direct)i
00:00:07		Envelope Mode	(Sustain, No sustain)i
		Pitch Coarse	(-12 - +12)
i 00:00:091	0 - 127	Fine	(-64 - +63)
1 00:00:0A	6 - 127	Pitch ENV & Time	(0 - 127)
1 00:00:0B		A Depth	(-12 - +12)
1 00:00:0C			(LPF, BFF, HPF, Bypass)
00:00:0D	0 - 127	Cutoff	(0 - 127)
30:00:0E	0 - 1271	Resonance	(8 - 127)
1 80:00:0F1	0 - 3 1	Valocity Curve	(1 - 4)
1 00:00:101	0 - 1271	ENV Depth	(-64 - +63)
00:00:11	0 - 127	ENV pepth velo.	(0 - 127)
09:00:121	0 - 127	ENV Attack Tize ENV Attack Level	(0 - 127) [
00:00:13			(0 - 127)
00:00:14		EXV Decay I Time	(0 - 127)
00:00:151	0 - 1271	ENV Decay B ^p	(0 - 127))
00:00:161	0 - 1275	ENV Decay 2 Time ENV Sustain Level	(0 - 127)
1 89:00:17	0 - 127	ENV Sustain Level	(0 - 127)
00:00:18	0 - 1271	EXY Release Tice	(0 - 127)
1 00:00:191	0 - 127	TVA Level	(0 - 127))
00:00:1A	0 - 3 1	Velocity Curve	(1 - 4))
00:00:1B	0 - 127		(0 - 127) (
00:00:1C	0 - 1271	ENV Attack Tice	(0 - 127) i
i 00:00:1Di	0 - 127)	EXV Attack Level	(0 - 127)
00:00:1E1	6 - 127)	ENV Decay 1 Tice	(0 - 127) i
	0 - 127		(0 - 127) [
00:00:1Fi			(0 - 127) (
00:00:1Fi   00:00:201	0 - 127	ENV Decay 2 Tice	
		EU Suctoin Loval	(0 - 127)1
00:00:201	0 - 1271	ENV Sustain Level	

1 00:00:23 (000023K) Total size .

Table 8 Full size character for displaying on LCD

* ASCII code data written into these address are displayed on the LCD as ASCII characters. * Accessing to these addresses for data reading will obtain the ASCII codes being

displayed on the LCD. * Display area is composed of 8 lines x 40 characters.

#### Table - 8, LCD normal character

*******		
08:00:001 32 - 1271 Top Line	, left nost coluca	(ASCII)
00:00:01  32 - 127  Top line		(ASC11)
;       00:02:3F  32 - 127] Bottom	ine, column 40	(ASCII)

- Table 9 Double size character for displaying on LCD
- * ASCII code data written into theese address locations are displayed on the LCD as ASCII characters having twice dimensions of ordinary counterparts in height and width
- * Display area is composed of 4 lines x 20 characters. * These addresses cannot be accessed for the purpose of reading.

#### Table - 9, LCD big character

Addres   Datz   Contents and remarks	
1 00:00:00  32 - 127  Top line, left most column 1 00:00:01  32 - 127  Top line, column 2	(ASCI I) (ASCI I)
1 00:00:4F1 32 - 1271 Bottom line, coluan 20	(ASC) ()
1 00:08:50 (000030H) Total size	.

#### Table 10 User set write request

* The data written into this address location causes the user set in the temporary to be transferred and stored into the destination specified by the data.

#### Table - 10. User set write request

Addres	Date	Contenis and remarks	**************************************
00:00:00]	0 - 19	Write memory address	(i-i - i-10, C-1 - C-10)1
00:00:01 (			

#### • Table 11 Performance write request

* The data written into this address location causes the performance in the temporary area to be transferred and stored into the destination memory location specified by the data.

- * A message is returned to indicate the result of writing operation. * The address cannot be accessed for the purpose of reading.

#### Table - 11, Performance write request

*************	-+
Addres   Deta   Contents and reparks	I
00:00:00  0 - 127  Krite memory address (1:11 - 1:88, C:11 - C:88	10
*	
1 00:00:01 (000001W) Total size	I
	-+

#### Table 12 Patch write request

- * The data written into this address location causes the patch in the temporary area to be transferred and stored into the destination memory location specified by the data. The destination is either internal or card. * A message is returned to indicate the result of writing operation.
- * The address cannot be accessed for the purpose of reading.

Table - 12. Patch write request

ł	00:00:001	0 -	1271	Part-1	tesporary	write	address	(A-11 - B-88)
Ĺ	OD:00:01	0 -	1271	Part-2	tesporary	write	address	(A-11 - B-88)
i	00:00:021	0 ~	127	Part-3	LEADOLALA	write	add ress	(A-11 - B-88)
i	00:00:03	0 -	1271	Part-4	temporary	write	address	(A-11 - 8-88)
ł	00:00:041	0 -	1271	Part-5	teacorary	write	address	(A-11 - B-88)1

#### ● Table 13 Tone write request

- * The data written into this address location causes the tone in the temporary area to be transferred and stored into the destination memory location specified by the data. The destination is either internal or card. * A message is returned to indicate the result of writing operation. * The address cannol be accessed for the purpose of reading.

#### Table - 13, Tone write request

•	address	i Data	] Contents and remarks
	00:00:001	0 - 127	Part-1 Section-1 write address (8-11 - b-88)
	00:00:01 i	0 - 127	Section-2 write address (a-11 - b-88)
	00:00:021	0 ~ 127	Section-3 write address (a-11 - b-86)
	00:00:03	0 - 127	Section-4 write address (a-11 - b-85)
	00:00:04	0 - 127	Part-2 Section-1 write address (a-11 - b-88)
	00:00:05	0 - 127	Section-2 write address (s-1) - b-88)
	00:00:051	0 - 127	
	00:00:071	0 ~ 127	
	00:00:08		Part-3 Section-1 write address (a-11 - b-68)
	00:00:09[	0127	
	00:00:0Al	0 - 127	Section-3 write address (a-11 - b-88)
	00:00:08	0 - 127	Section-4 write address (a-11 - b-88)
	00:00:0C	0 - 127	
	00:00:0D	0 - 127	Section-2 write address (s-1) - b-88)
	130:00:00	0 - 127	Section-3 write address (s-11 - b-88)
	140:00:00	0 - 127	Section-4 write address (a-11 - b-88)
	00:00:10	0 - 127	
	00:00:11	0 - 127	Section-2 write address (a-11 - b-88)
	00:00:12	0 - 1271	Section-3 write address (a-11 - b-88)
	00:00:131	0 - 1271	Section-4 write address (a-11 - b-88)

#### ● Table 14 Write result

* Contains the result of write request which has been written upon request for the result of data write into a particular location, specified in tables 10 to 13. * Write and read operation in these locations are inhibited.

#### Table - 14. Write result

	udres	l Da	tB	Contents and rezarks				
00	:00:00	1 0	- 127	Result code		(0		Couplete,
		1				1	Ŧ	Protected,
		1	i			2	*	ão card,
		1				3		illegal card,
		1	1			4	¥	Write error,
		1			5 -	125		Reserved,
		1				127		Another error)

### 4 PANNIC

When this function is activated, the D - 70 tries to recover sound failure (in most of cases sound cannot be turned off) occuring at the remotedevice connected via MIDL.

Pressing the soft button Panic (PLAY and EDIT) causes the D-70 to transmit the following over all 16 MIDI cancels. n represents channel.

Note off for all note numbers	8n kk 7F
Bender = 0	En 00 40
Channel presure = 0	Dn 00
Control change 1 = 0 (Modulation = 0)	Bn 01 00
64 = 0  (Hold1 = off)	Bn 40 00
7 = 127 (Volume = 127)	Bn 07 7F

The total message length is 6368 bytes (128 keys x 3 bytes + 14 per channel) To prevent overflow from occuring at the receiver's buffer, data are sent at a half the MIDI transfer rate which will take approx. 4 seconds to complete the transmission.

The the D-70 stops active sensing and pauses one second before returning back to normal operating slatus.

### SUPER LA SYNTHESIZER

Model D-70

### MIDI Implementation Chart

Version : 1.00

	Function ···	Transmitted	Recognized	Remarks
Basic Channel	Default Changed	1 - 16 1 - 16	1 - 16 1 - 16	Nonvolatile
Mode	Default Messages Altered	Mode 3 × *****	Mode 3, 4 ×	Set by panel operation Memorized
Note Number	True Voice	0 - 127 ****	0 - 127 0 - 127	
Velocity	Note On Note Off	$\bigcirc v = 1 - 127$ $\bigcirc v = 1 - 127$	$\bigcirc v = 1 - 127$ $\bigcirc v = 1 - 127$	
After Touch	Key's Ch's	x *1	× *1	
Pitch Bend	ler	*1	*1 (-48-+12)	Res:8 bits
Control Cahnge	0 - 95 1 5 7 10 64 65 1, 2, 6 16 - 19 64, 65	0	*1 *1 *1 *1 *1 *1 0 0	Modulation Portamento Time Volume Pan Hold Portamento SW Contorol Channel
Prog Change	80 – 83  True #	○ * 1 0 - 127 * * * * * * * *	○ * 1 0 - 127 0 - 127	
System Ex		0	*1	
System Common	Song Pos Song Sel Tune	× × ×	× × ×	
System Real Time	Clock Commands	× ×	×	
Aux Message	Local ON/OFF All Notes OFF Active Sense Reset	× × O ×	× × O ×	
Notes		*1 Can be set to O	or X manually and memor	rized.

Mode 1 : OMNI ON, POLY Mode 3 : OMNI OFF, POLY Mode 2: OMNI ON, MONO Mode 4: OMNI OFF, MONO

### How to read a MIDI Implementation Chart O: MIDI data that can be transmitted or received ×: MIDI data that cannot be transmitted or received Basic Channel The MIDI channel for transmitting (receiving) MIDI data can be specified over this range. The MIDI channel setting is remembered even when the power is turned off. Mode Most recent synthesizers use mode 3 (omni off, poly). Data is received only on the specified channels, and played polyphonically. Reception: Transmission: All musical data is transmitted on the specified MIDI channel. * "Mode" refers to MIDI Mode messages. Note Number This is the range of note numbers that can be transmitted (received. Note number 60 is middle C (C4)) Velocity This is the range over which velocity can be transmitted (received) by Note On and Note Off messages. Aftertouch Key's: polyphonic aftertouch Ch's: channel aftertouch Pitch Bender The D - 70 is able to transmit and receive Pitch Bender messages. Control Change This indicates the control numbers that can be transmitted (received), and what they will control. For details, refer to the MIDI implementation. Program Change The program change numbers in the chart indicate the actual data. (This is one less than the Pitch and Tone program numbers.) Exclusive Exclusive message reception can be turned on/off by the exclusive switch (setup). Common, Realtime These MIDI messages are used to synchronize sequencers and rhythm machines. The D - 70 does not use these messages. Other These messages are mainly used to keep a MID system running correctly. Active sensing transmission can be turned on/off.

# SPECIFICATIONS

### D - 70: Super LA Synthesizer

[Keyboard] 76 note (with velocity and channel aftertouch)

[Sound source] Advanced LA Synthesis TVF (Time Variant Filters) (Low Pass, High Pass, Band Pass) Maximum simultaneous notes: 30 voices

[Internal memory] System Setup: 1 User Set: 10 Performance: 64 Patch: 128 Tone: 128 Rhythm Setup (76 notes: E1 — G7):1 Original Tone:119

[RAM Card (M - 256E)] System Setup: 1 User Set: 10 Performance: 64 Patch: 128 Tone: 128 Rhythm Setup (76 notes: E1 — G7): 1

[Front Panel] Bender/Modulation lever Master Volume slider C1 slider Brightness slider Play button Edit button PCM Card button Solo button Portamento button Release button Cutoff button Resonance button Attack button Level button Pan button **Tuning button** Tone Palette sliders (1 - 4) Tone/Zone Select buttons (1 - 4) Tone Display button **MIDI OUT button** EFFECT/CTRL button Part button User button Function buttons (F1 --- F5) Exit button Cursor buttons **DEC** button INC button Performance button Patch button Tone button A/B button INT/CARD button Command button Write button Enter button Bank buttons (1 - 8) Number buttons (1 - 8) Value dial

[Rear panel] Power switch RAM Card slot Protect switch Contrast knob MIDI connectors (IN, OUT, THRU) Control input jacks (Expression Pedal jack, Pedal Switch jack, Hold Pedal jack) PCM Card slots (A, B) Direct Output jacks (L/R) Mix Output jacks (L/R) Headphone jack

[External dimensions] 1196(W)  $\times$  310(D)  $\times$  85(H)mm 47 - 1/16"  $\times$  12 - 3/16"  $\times$  3 - 3/8"

[Weight] 12kg/26 lb 7oz

[Power consumption] 14W [Included items] Owner's manual Store All leaflet Connection cable: PJ-1 × 1

[Optional items (sold separately)] RAM Card (memory card): M - 256E PCM Card (sound library): SN - SPLA series, SN - U110 series Stereo headphones: RH - 100 Foot switch: (latch type) FS - 1, FS - 5L (unlatch type) FS - 5U, DP - 2, DP - 6 Expression pedal: EV - 5, EV - 10 Keyboard Stand: KS - 5, KS - 7, KS - 8

* Specifications and external appearance are subject to change without notice for product improvement.

# INDEX

## [A]

Analog Feel ····· 67, 99	)
Attack Time (Tone Palette)	2
Auto (Portamento Mode) 28, 57, 110	)

## [C]

Channel
MIDI Palette ····· 68, 104
Part · · · · · · · · · 66, 98
Channel Name · · · · · 146
Channel Setting (Command) · · · · · · · · · · · · · 156, 157, 162
Chorus
Delay Time 63, 106
Depth 61, 106
Feedback 62, 106
Level 61, 106
Output Mode 62, 106
Rate 61, 106
Туре 62, 105
Command 81, 83, 156
Contoroller Map
KB PRM ····· 64, 96
MIDI OUT 71, 101
Synthe Part 64, 99
Control Channel 35, 49, 137
Copy (Command) 156, 157, 160
Cutoff
Rhythm Tone · · · · · 133
Tone 119
Tone Palette 39, 54, 112
Cutoff Key Follow (Tone) 120

## [D]

DLM · · · · · · 74, 76, 115, 117
Data Transfer · · · · · · · 84, 139, 143, 144
Decimal ······46
Delay Time (LFO) 127
Delete
Destination (Controller Map) 34, 97, 101, 102
Direct Jump ·····85
Direction
Dump Handshake 141, 143, 145
Dump One Way 141, 143, 145

## [E]

EG
ENV Depth
Rhythm TVF 133
Tone TVF 121
ENV Depth Velo Sens
Rhythm TVF 134
Tone TVF 121
ENV Mode (Rhythm Tone) ····· 131
ENV R Time Velo Sens
Tone TVA 126
<b>Tone TVF</b> 123
ENV Time KF
Tone Pitch 116
Tone TVA 125
Tone TVF 122
ENV Time Velo Sens
<b>Tone TVA</b> 125
<b>Tone TVF</b> 122
Effect (On/Off)
End (Command) 146
Envelope
Time / Depth (Rhythm Pitch) · · · · · · · · 132
Time/Depth (Tone Pitch) 118
Time/Level (Rhythm TVA) 135
Time/Level (Tone TVA) 126
Time/Level (Tone TVF) 123
Time/Level (Rhythm TVF) · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Exchange (Command) 156, 157, 160
Exclusive Message
Exclusive Rx · · · · · 137

## [F]

Filter Mode
Rhythm Tone 133
Tone
Fine Tune
Format (Command) 140
Function (Controller Map)

## [G]

<b>GBN</b> ••••••	 

## 【H】

Hold ·····	138
Hold Pedal	138

## [1]

Initialize (Command)146, 156, 157, 160
Insert
Internal

## [K]

KB Part
Key Assign
Key Mode
MIDI OUT
Patch
Key Shift 40, 54, 111

## [L]

LFO74
Latch
Layer
MIDI OUT Key Mode 30, 69, 103
Patch Key Mode
Length (DLM)
Level
Rhythm TVA 134
Tone Palette
Tone TVA 124
Local Switch · · · · · 139

## [M]

MIDI OUT 24, 34
MIDI OUT Link Mode · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
MIDI Palette · · · · · · · 24, 29, 35
MIDI Volume · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
MIDI (MIDI Palette) ······ 44, 104
Master Tune
Memory Area ······78
Mix
MIDI OUT Velocity Mode · · · · · · · · · · · 30, 68, 103
Patch Velocity Mode · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · 27, 56, 108

### Mode

DLM	7
Data Transfer 141, 143, 143	5
Iultiple Trigger 109	9
fute (Rhythm Tone) 130	C

## [n]

Name Delete (Command) · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · 156, 158, 166 Normal
MIDI OUT Velocity Mode ······ 30, 68, 103
Patch Velocity Mode
Portamento Mode
Numeric Keypad ·····47

## [0]

Off(Command) ····· 162
Offset (LFO) 128
Original Tone Media
Rhythm Tone 129
Tone 114
Original Tone Number
Rhythm Tone ····· 129
Tone ····· 114
Original Tone PRM (Command) 156, 158, 163
Original Tone
Output Assign
Rhythm Tone 131
Tone Palette
Output Level (Part)

.

## [P]

PCM	
PCM Wave ·····	
Pan	
Rhythm Tone	
Tone Palette	54, 113
Pan Rx · · · · · · · ·	
Pannic · · · · · · · · ·	
Part Off (Command	)
Part (1—5, R) · · · · ·	
Patch ·····	
Patch Level · · · · · ·	
Patch List · · · · · ·	

Patch Name ····· 107
Patch Select
Pedal Switch ····· 138
Performance 17, 24, 139
Performance Name ·····96
Performance list · · · · · · 19, 44, 90
Pitch Coarse
Rhythm Tone ····· 132
Tone 116
Pitch Fine
Rhythm Tone ····· 132
Tone 116
Pitch Key Follow (Tone) 116
Pitch Mod Depth 128
Poly
Portamento
Portamento Mode · · · · · · 28, 57, 110
Portamento Rx · · · · · 110
Portamento Time
Priority
Program Change Number
Program Change Number List46
Program Change Number Rx 67, 99

# [R]

RAM Card 17, 18, 19, 36, 48, 52, 140
ROM Play81
Rate (LFO) 127
Release Time (Tone Palette) 39, 55, 112
Resonance
Rhythm Tone ····· 133
Tone 120
Tone Palette
Reverb
Feedback
Level · · · · · · · · 59, 105
Time · · · · · 59, 105
Туре · · · · · 59, 105
Rhythm Setup
Rhythm Shift
Rhythm Tone ·····82
Rise Time (LFO) 128

## [s]

Section $L = 1 - U = 4$
MIDI Palette ······29
Tone Palette ·····26
Single Trigger · · · · · 109
Solo
Solo Legato
Sostenuto 138
Source Key 130
Split
MIDI OUT Key Mode 30, 69, 103
Patch Key Mode
Split Point
MIDI OUT 30, 69, 103
Patch
Start (DLM)
Store All (Command)
Switch
MIDI OUT Velocity Mode ······ 30, 68, 103
Patch Velocity Mode 27, 56, 108
Synthe Part
System Setup 25, 36, 78

## [T]

140	TVA ······ 74, 82
•81	TVA Mod Depth 128
127	<b>TVF</b>
112	TVF Mod Depth 128
	Temporary Area
133	Tone ····· 24, 36, 139
120	Tone List
112	Tone Name
	Tone Palette ······ 24, 26
105	Tone Select ······ 111
105	Tone (Tone Palette) · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
105	Transpose
105	Treshold Sensitivity
, 82	MIDI OUT
136	Patch 27, 56, 108

## [U]

Unit Number · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Unlatch ······33
User Set 17, 25, 36, 139

## [v]

Value (Contoroller Map)
Velocity Curve
MIDI OUT 102
Patch 107
Rhythm TVA 135
Rhythm TVF 133
Tone TVA 124
Tone TVF 120
Velocity Mode
MIDI OUT
Patch
Velocity Sensitivity
MIDI OUT 103
Patch 107
Rhythm TVA ····· 135
Tone TVA 124
Volume Rx

## 【w】

WG	
Waveform(LFO) 127	
Write	

## [Z]

### Zone

MIDI OUT Key Mode · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	30, 69, 103
MIDI Palette	30, 44, 104
Part·····	31, 66, 98
Patch Key Mode · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• 27, 54, 57, 108
Tone Palette	27, 43, 113





**Roland Corporation**